Annual Report 2011
Proudly serving our members

About ESSSuper

How we rate

We’re one of Australia’s largest super funds with nearly
150,000 members and over $16.88 billion in funds
under management. We provide a range of pre and
post retirement solutions to Victorian emergency
services and State Government employees.

SuperRatings, an independent financial services research
company, announced their 2011 awards and ratings in
October 2010.

We’re proud to be the dedicated, not for profit super
fund serving people who serve the community.

An overview of how
we’re structured
ESSSuper (Emergency Services & State Super) the
registered business name of the Emergency Services
Superannuation Board (the Board) (ABN 28 161 296 741)
is responsible for the management and administration
of the Emergency Services Superannuation Scheme
(the Fund). The Fund is governed by the Emergency
Services Superannuation Act 1986 (Vic) and provides
benefits for current and former Victorian emergency
services employees, certain public sector employees
and spouses of these members.

From the 450 funds eligible across the super and pension
categories, ESSSuper’s Accumulation Plan was nominated
as one of the ten finalists in the SuperRating’s Super of the
Year category. This award recognises the accumulation
fund that demonstrates best value in terms of the
benefits and services offered to members. In addition
our Accumulation Plan and Income Streams both
received Platinum Ratings for 2011.
This nomination and awards, along with the Fund’s
SuperRating’s 2010 Rising Star Award, reinforces our
commitment to ensuring better retirement outcomes
for our members.
ESSSuper also participates in the CEM Benchmarking
Survey every two years for our defined benefit funds.
CEM specialises in benchmarking cost and performance
of investments and administration and providing insights
into best practices.
At the last survey in 2009 our defined benefit funds
achieved the highest service score and the second
lowest cost in their Australian Peer Group.
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Extended our member education seminar program
which enabled 9,800 members to attend seminars and
7,310 members to attend personal appointments with
our Member Education Consultants.
Improved our service delivery and offering to members
by introducing process efficiencies and promoting our
accumulation and income stream products to members
leaving the Fund.
Enhanced our secure Members Online area of the
website to enable online investment switching for our
accumulation products and increase the accessibility of
this section of the site to a broader member base.
Aligned our governance, risk management and
compliance framework with regulated fund requirements.
Incorporated the principles of the State Government’s
Human Rights Charter into ESSSuper’s processes,
procedures and governing Acts.
Positive investment returns for all our accumulation
product investment options.
Introduced the new Defensive investment option for our
accumulation products.
Awarded Platinum ratings from SuperRatings for our
Accumulation Plan and Income Streams products for
2011, along with a Top 10 Super of the Year fund rating.

Key statistics
■■

Total number of members 146,153 as at 30 June 2011.

■■

$16.88 billion in funds under management.
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A message from the President

During the past year, the ESSSuper Board and management
have undertaken a major review of our investment
philosophy and objectives for the fund.

Towers Watson, assisted the in-house investment
management team in delivering strong long term returns
for members’ accumulation assets.

The defined benefit fund’s assets benefited from a positive
investment performance in 2010-11. At June 2011 the ESSS
Defined Benefit Fund was 104.7% funded (103.0% in 2010)
and the State Super members defined benefit scheme
was 38.2% funded (36.8% in 2010). The Board investment
objectives are directed to a fully funded defined benefit fund
for the state super members by 2035. We look forward to a
further commitment from government to the 2035 target
after the final report of the Independent Review of State
Finances has been received and considered.

Changes to Australia’s super system

For the accumulation products our sound investment
strategy and strong product offering, enables ESSSuper to
continue to deliver positive retirement outcomes for our
members. These funds have grown in excess of 35% over
the last year to $1.7 billion.
We have continued to build on our quality education and
advice services which are available to all members.

Platinum-rated super fund
Our Accumulation Plan was nominated as a top ten finalist
in the SuperRating’s Super of the Year category. This award
recognises the accumulation fund that demonstrates best
value in terms of the benefits and services offered to members.
This nomination, along with our Platinum ratings for our
Accumulation Plan and Income Streams for 2011 and the
Fund’s SuperRating’s 2010 Rising Star Award demonstrate
our long term commitment to helping our members and
their partners achieve a comfortable and secure financial
future through every life stage.

Investment markets
While we are still living with volatility and weaknesses
in global share markets, it is important to recognise that
superannuation funds do not just invest in shares, but across
a diversified range of assets. ESSSuper investments cover the
full range of products on offer.
Despite these challenging times, in collaboration with
the Victorian Funds Management Corporation (VFMC),
we achieved better than benchmark returns in 2010-11
for our defined benefit assets. Our Investment Adviser,
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In December 2010, the Federal Government announced
significant reforms to Australia’s super system based
on recommendations from the Cooper Review. The
Government’s response, in the form of the “Stronger Super
Package” has the potential to reduce unnecessary fees and
charges on retirement savings enabling a low cost, efficient
superannuation system.
Although Stronger Super is designed primarily for APRA
regulated superannuation funds, it is important for ESSSuper,
as a public sector fund, to respond to these initiatives where
appropriate for our members.

Changes to the Board and Executive
We welcome Mr Bob Herbert AM, Ms Angela Stringer, Mr
Alex Gagachef and Mr Phil Wilson who bring to the Board
new skills and a wealth of experience to our organisation.
On behalf of the Board I would like to thank Mr Graeme
Larkin, Mr William Lyons and Ms Deborah Beale for their
expertise and commitment during their time on the Board.
Following the resignation during the year of CEO Michael
Dundon, the Board appointed Mark Puli, our Chief Financial
Officer, Acting CEO. He will continue in the role until the
executive search process, has been completed. We thank
Michael Dundon for his commitment as CEO over the last
two years.

The future for ESSSuper
As the global economy continues to challenge investment
markets and proposed changes to superannuation take form,
ESSSuper will monitor the environment closely to ensure we
quickly adapt and act in the best interests of our members.
We will continue to focus on providing superior products
and services to achieve the best possible retirement
outcomes for our members.

Signed by the President
Frank King
ESSSuper President

A message from the CEO

During the year we have seen continued volatility in
investment markets, however, through our quality defined
benefit and accumulation products combined with our
member services we have remained member focused and
worked hard to provide more services and better products
to help build our members retirement savings.

Building upon our employer relationships

We introduced the Defensive investment option, available
in the ESSSuper Accumulation Plan. This option has been
designed with a risk profile that sits between Cash and
Conservative investment options and is structured to
meet the needs of investors wanting a smaller exposure to
growth assets than provided by the Conservative option.

To ensure we remain focused on our members, establishing
and maintaining close relationships with employers
is a priority. We have assigned skilled professional
Superannuation Consultants to work with employers to
assist with their superannuation obligations. Enhancements
to our web based exchange system called ‘EmployerDirect’
make it easier for employers to process contributions. In
addition, Employer News, a regular online communication,
was implemented to keep employers up to date on process
enhancements, member FAQs, and ESSSuper specific and
industry updates.

Empowering members

Looking to the future

Website enhancements continued throughout the year
providing members with additional features including the
ability to change investment options, view statements,
produce benefit estimates and update personal details.
Further online enhancements, to make managing super
easier, are planned for the year ahead.

Helping members achieve a greater understanding of their
financial needs in retirement through education, access
to information about their benefits and delivering strong
returns with low fees continues to be our major objective.

Our Member Education Team continues to grow with the
appointment of additional Member Education Consultants
to provide members with general financial advice about
their super options both pre and post retirement. During
the year we also increased the number of pre-retirement
and member education seminars, visited more workplaces
and published informative articles in relevant industry
journals and publications. These strategies have been
designed to assist members in making more informed
decisions about their retirement and achieving the
best possible financial outcomes.

Over the next year, our focus will see members provided
with greater access to information about their super and the
ability to make changes online, an ongoing commitment
to investing in member education and the continuation of
targeted member education and communication programs.
The continuous improvements we are making will help our
members achieve a comfortable and secure financial future
and ensures that ESSSuper remains an innovative, strong
and sustainable fund for the future.

Signed by the CEO
Mark Puli
ESSSuper CEO - Acting
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An overview of our products and services

At ESSSuper, we’re committed to helping those who help
the community. As the dedicated super fund for emergency
services and State Government employees, ESSSuper has
a range of products and services designed to help our
members achieve the retirement they deserve.

Employer contributions

Our membership covers a diverse group of people who
share the common trait of performing services for the
community. The following pages provide an overview of
our different member groups, their funds and the services
we provide to them.

Members may also elect to contribute to the fund and
benefits vary in line with the member’s rate of contribution.
All operational employees have the option of contributing
up to 7% from after tax salary, or 8% as a “catch up” rate if
they have contributed at a rate less than 7% at any time
during their membership. Members may elect to salary
sacrifice their member contributions (i.e. contributions are
paid from before tax salary instead of from after tax salary).

Emergency services members
ESSS Defined Benefit Fund
The ESSS Defined Benefit Fund (ESSS DB Fund) pays benefits
to members on retirement, resignation (or dismissal),
retrenchment, death and disability.
All benefits, excluding some disability benefits, are paid as a
lump sum based on salary, period of membership, age and
contribution rate(s) during membership.
Members of the ESSS DB Fund include:
■■

■■

■■

all operational employees of the Victoria Police,
Metropolitan Fire & Emergency Services Board,
Ambulance Victoria and Country Fire Authority
certain employees of either the Department of
Sustainability & Environment and the Department of
Primary Industries, and
non-operational employees who commenced
employment with their emergency services employer
before 1 January 1994.

Employers make regular contributions on the basis of the
accruing cost of members’ benefits.
Member contributions

Additional contributions and rollovers
ESSS DB Fund members may at any time rollover amounts
from other superannuation funds or make additional
contributions into ESSSuper’s Accumulation Plan (refer page
8). These contributions are not matched by employers and
members may change or cease making these additional
contributions at any time.

Beneficiary Account
The Beneficiary Account is a rollover investment vehicle
that enables ESSS DB Fund members to leave some or
all of their benefit invested with ESSSuper after leaving
emergency services employment.
A member’s balance in the Beneficiary Account comprises
their superannuation benefit transferred from the ESSS
DB Fund, plus any additional superannuation benefits
transferred from other superannuation funds, plus or minus
accumulated investment earnings, less fees, tax
and withdrawals.
Members may elect to transfer an optional ‘Untaxed’ benefit
to the Beneficiary Account at the time of leaving the ESSS
DB Fund. Members’ spouses are also eligible to join the
Beneficiary Account.
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Profile of emergency services members
ESSS DB Fund
2011

2010

2,967

2,838

917

855

14

12

4

4

1,801

1,792

12,296

11,297

Other

1

-

Total

18,000

16,798

2011

2010

Disability Pensioners (see below)

594

516

Metropolitan Fire & Emergency Services Board

224

227

Ex-State Super Board

981

1,025

Police Pensions Fund

89

99

951

1,024

2,839

2,891

35

30

4

4

32

29

Victoria Police

523

453

Total

594

516

Ambulance Victoria
Country Fire Authority
Department of Sustainability & Environment/Department of Primary Industry
ESSSuper
Metropolitan Fire & Emergency Services Board
Victoria Police

Pensioners

Victorian Electricity Industry
Total

Disability Pensioners (from above)
Ambulance Victoria
Country Fire Authority
Metropolitan Fire & Emergency Services Board
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Accumulation Plan accounts
2011

2010

Ambulance Victoria

1,154

1,137

Country Fire Authority

1,520

1,417

3

5

ESSSuper

108

94

Metropolitan Fire & Emergency Services Board

238

231

Victoria Police

512

841

2

2

Transfield

38

39

Victorian Police Association

37

37

Other and non participating employers

1,729

575

Total

5,341

4,378

2011

2010

4,650

4,640

48

29

738

604

-*

625

5,436

5,898

2011

2010

1,905

1,812

649

612

Department of Sustainability & Environment/Department of Primary Industry

9

9

ESSSuper

3

3

Metropolitan Fire & Emergency Services Board

1,092

1,070

Victoria Police

9,415

8,217

Victorian Police Association

3

3

Other

1

-

Total

13,077

11,726

Department of Sustainability & Environment/Department of Primary Industry

Diamond Protection/SSW

Other accumulation products
Beneficiary Account members
Working Income Stream members
Retirement Income Stream members
Spouse members
Total

Accumulation Plan accounts held by ESSS DB Fund members
Ambulance Victoria
Country Fire Authority

* During the year, spouse members were reclassified into the accumulation products of which they are members.

The total number of accounts held by emergency services members as at 30 June 2011 was 44,693 and the total number of
members was 31,616 (compared to 29,700 members last year).
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State super members

Revised Scheme

State super defined benefit funds

The Revised Scheme is a defined benefit fund introduced in
1975 by amendments to the Superannuation Act 1958, and
has been closed to new members since 30 June 1988. The
Revised Scheme provides benefits on retirement, resignation
(or dismissal), retrenchment, death and disability for
employees who joined the Victorian Public Service, Teaching
Service and participating agencies before 30 June 1988.
Typically benefits are payable by pension.

The state super funds were originally established by the
Superannuation Act 1925, and are now governed by various
Victorian legislation including the State Superannuation
Act 1988, the Transport Superannuation Act 1988 and the
State Employees Retirement Benefits Act 1979. The state
super funds include:
■■

Revised Scheme

■■

New Scheme

New Scheme

■■

State Employees Retirement Benefits Scheme

■■

Transport Scheme

■■

Original Scheme

■■

Melbourne Transit Authority Superannuation Scheme

The New Scheme is a defined benefit fund established
by the State Superannuation Act 1988 which closed to
new members on 31 December 1993. The New Scheme
provides benefits on retirement, resignation (or dismissal),
retrenchment, ill health, death and disability for employees,
including temporary employees, who joined the Victorian
Public Service, Teaching Service and participating agencies
between 1 July 1988 and 31 December 1993. The New
Scheme also has members who transferred from other funds.
Typically benefits are provided as a lump sum.

■■

Melbourne Water Corporation Employees
Superannuation Scheme.

Employer contributions
Employer contributions to the state super funds are made
on a regular basis from employers for members who are
employed by State funded agencies. Commonwealth
funded employers contribute on a pay-as-you-go basis,
when member benefits are paid.
At the discretion of the Victorian Treasurer, the Consolidated
Fund may contribute additional amounts from time to time
in respect of the closed defined benefit funds.
Member contributions
The member contribution requirements and rates can
vary for each fund. For more information about the
member contributions for each fund refer to the ‘Fund
Types’ menu at our website.

Original Scheme
The Original Scheme is a defined benefit, unit-based pension
fund established by the Superannuation Act 1958, which
has been closed to new members since 30 June 1975. The
Original Scheme provides benefits on retirement, resignation
(or dismissal), retrenchment, ill health and death to
employees of the Victorian Public Service including Railways,
Teaching, Police and other approved agencies.

Transport Scheme
The Transport Scheme is a defined benefit fund established
by the Transport Superannuation Act 1988 which was closed
to new members on 31 December 1993. The Transport
Scheme provides benefits on retirement, resignation
(or dismissal), retrenchment, ill health, death and disability
for all employees, including temporary employees, who
were employed by a transport authority as defined in the
Transport Superannuation Act 1988. Typically lump sum
benefits are payable.
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State Employees Retirement Benefits Scheme

Funds for all members

The State Employees Retirement Benefits (SERB) Scheme
is a defined benefit fund established by the State Employees
Retirement Benefits Act 1979 which was opened to new
members in 1980 and closed to new members from 30
June 1988. It provides benefits on retirement, resignation
(or dismissal), retrenchment, death and disability for all
employees of State Government statutory bodies who
were ineligible to join the Revised Scheme.

ESSSuper offers a range of pre and post retirement
accumulation products to all members and their spouses.
Whether they are working full-time, making the transition
to retirement via part-time work, or are planning to
permanently retire, we have a range of products and services
to help our members make the most of every life stage.

The Accumulation Plan allows members and their spouses to
save for retirement in a low cost, tax-effective environment.

Profile of state super members
2011

2010

6,161

7,333

21,306

22,804

1

1

1,756

1,857

612

667

Melbourne Transport Authority

2

2

Melbourne Water Corporation

16

26

51,198

50,608

32,917

34,750

2,410

1,323

1,680

947

85

52

395

178

118,539

120,548

Revised Scheme
New Scheme
Original Scheme
Transport Scheme
SERB

Pensioners
Deferred/Preserved
Accumulation Plan accounts

*

Accumulation Plan accounts held
by state super defined benefit
fund members*
Working Income Stream

*

Retirement Income Stream*
Total

Accumulation Plan

* Available to state super members from 8 September 2008.

The total number of accounts held by state super members
as at 30 June 2011 was 118,539 and total number of members
was 114,969 (compared to 118,539 members last year).

With the Accumulation Plan, benefits are equal to the total
of all contributions, plus earnings on those contributions, less
expenses, withdrawals and tax. Benefits in the Accumulation
Plan are paid on retirement, resignation, retrenchment, death
and disability.
Some of the key features include:
■■

■■

■■

■■

■■
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Contributions: Accepts Superannuation Guarantee
(SG) contributions from most employers, which allows
members to boost their super now, and stay with
ESSSuper, even throughout retirement. Also accepts
personal contributions (either before tax (salary sacrifice)
or after tax), lump sum contributions, personal deductible
contributions, Government super co-contributions and
transfers of super balances from other funds.
Investment choice: Choice of seven ready made
investment options and the ability to change investment
options at the end of each month.
Insurance cover: A range of death and disablement
insurance options and income protection cover.
Fees: Competitive administration and investment fees,
with no entry, exit, contribution, withdrawal or investment
switching fees.
Member services: Member Contact Centre, online
access to member accounts, free educational seminars
and personal appointments with ESSSuper’s Member
Education Consultants, access to financial planning
services and ability for spouses to join.

Income Streams

Services to our members

ESSSuper offers two Income Streams to members and
their spouses:

At ESSSuper, we’re committed to helping our members
enhance their retirement readiness and achieve a
comfortable and secure financial future. One way we do
this is by offering a wide range of services designed to help
educate our members so they understand their super and
the options available to them. The following are some of the
helpful services that benefit our members.

■■

■■

the Retirement Income Stream enables members who
have met a condition of release to convert their lump
sum super benefit into a flexible regular income stream
in retirement, and
the Working Income Stream (Transition to Retirement
Income Stream) is an easy and convenient way for
members to receive a regular income payment while they
continue to work.

The Income Streams give members the flexibility to
decide how much they wish to receive each year, within
Government guidelines.
Some of the key features include:
■■

■■

■■

■■

Contacting us
The Member Contact Centre is available to respond
to enquiries between 8.30am and 5.00pm Monday to
Friday. Members can also book into a seminar or make an
appointment for a one-on-one interview with a Member
Education Consultant or IFFP Financial Planner. More
information on IFFP is provided later in this section.

Value: A low cost, regular, flexible and tax-effective
income stream.

Emergency services members can call 1300 650 161 and
state super members can call 1300 655 476.

Flexibility: Choice of fortnightly, monthly, quarterly,
six monthly or annual payments made direct to the
member’s nominated bank account.

Member Education Consultants provide
individual attention

Investment choice: Choice of seven ready made
investment options and the ability to change investment
options on a monthly basis.
Death benefit nominations: The option to make
a binding, non binding or a reversionary pension
nomination as to who will receive the lump sum benefit
in the event of the member’s death.

We have 15 Member Education Consultants who can assist
members with general product information on our range of
benefits and products. Each Member Education Consultant
has a wealth of experience in super and understands the
essential issues members need to consider in planning for
retirement. The Member Education Consultants are available
to meet with members at our office or their workplaces.
The Member Education Consultants are Regulatory Guide
146 (RG146) accredited and may only provide factual
information and general advice about ESSSuper’s own
range of benefits and products. RG146 accreditation is a
minimum competency based level of knowledge required
to be obtained by individuals providing advice to super fund
members. This accreditation is required under the Financial
Services Reform Act 2001, which came into effect on 11 March
2002. Although ESSSuper is exempt from this legislation,
we have taken the view that key staff will be trained to the
RG146 standard.
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Helping members understand their super

Keeping in touch with members

Throughout the year, we hold a range of tailored member
seminars at our office and also in a number of metropolitan
and regional centres. Seminars are free to attend and cover
a range of pre and post retirement topics such as boosting
your super savings, planning for retirement, financial
planning and ESSSuper’s Income Streams. The seminar
schedule is available at www.esssuper.com.au

Keeping in touch with our members is important, and we do
this through:
■■

newsletters

■■

an Annual Report

■■

a range of publications

■■

annual personal benefit statements

■■

Access to information when members need it
Our website is a very useful source of information to keep
members up to date with all the latest super news. Here
members will find useful tools including calculators, access
to forms, seminar schedules and the ability to register their
interest for our free member seminars.
Members can also register to access the secure Members
Online area of the website where they can view their
personal super details, update their contact details and
perform benefit estimate calculations online. Members and
their spouses who have an accumulation based account can
also make online investment option changes.

Financial advice services
ESSSuper has ‘partnered’ with Industry Fund Financial
Planning* to provide members with fee for service
(commission free) financial advice. The financial planners are
able to provide members with a range of services that take
into account their specific financial needs and objectives.
For the convenience of members, all financial planning
appointments are conducted at our office.
* 	Industry Fund Financial Planning is a division of Industry Fund Services Pty Ltd
ABN 54 007 016 195 AFSL 232514. ESSSuper is not a representative of Industry
Fund Financial Planning and receives no commission when making a referral
to this service. Neither the Board, nor the Victorian Government, guarantee or
endorse any recommendations made by Industry Fund Financial Planning, or
are responsible for the advice and actions of Industry Fund Financial Planning.
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■■

up-to-date information on superannuation and
investment performance, as well as access to publications
and forms at our website, www.esssuper.com.au, and
electronic updates.

Members also have the ability to register to receive
electronic newsletters and annual benefit statements.

Delivering a high standard of service
One of ESSSuper’s primary objectives is to deliver a high
standard of service to members. ESSSuper provides quality
service to members, and carefully manages members’
super liabilities and investments. ESSSuper also provides
administrative services to the Parliamentary Contributory
Superannuation Fund and its members and is the paying
agent for constitutionally protected schemes. Our aim is to
provide quality and timely service at a reasonable cost.

Investment report

Investment market overview
The 2010/11 financial year closed with investors benefiting
from a second year of positive returns. Most markets and asset
classes performed well despite June quarter concerns with
the economic outlook. Globally, policy makers are working
in a concerted manner to address the ongoing risk issues,
particularly in Greece. Australia however, continues to prosper.
The Australian economy was extremely resilient over
the year; with continued economic growth and low
unemployment levels (the latter of which fell during
the year). A major development during the year was the
strengthening of the Australian dollar which soared against
the US dollar (up by almost 28%) and also rose significantly
against the Euro and the British Pound.
Whilst the strong Australian dollar had a positive impact, it
has also resulted in some uncertainty for Australian exporters
and international investors. Exporters continue to struggle
with the strength of the Australian dollar because of reduced
competitiveness compared to that of their international
peers. The concerns around international growth are causing
international investors to become wary of the local market,
which remains fairly valued in terms of earnings expectations.
The Australian share market, as measured by the S&P/ASX
300 Accumulation Index, rose by 16.9% for the 9 months to
March 2011, then fell by 4.3% in the June quarter as concerns for
Europe and the Euro returned with Greece requiring additional
financial assistance. It finished the year up a healthy 11.9%.
The best performing sector for the year was materials
(e.g. resource companies), returning 20.5%, with the worst
performing sector being IT which fell by 13.8% over the year.
Australian bonds returned 5.5% for the year as measured
by the UBSA Composite (All maturities) Bond Index.

moderating and with low unemployment levels we remain
the envy of many developed economies.
Globally, economic data was mixed for the 2010/11 financial
year. In the US, the economy remained weak resulting in the
Federal Reserve holding cash rate targets at historic lows.
European economies continued the story of last year; core
countries such as Germany and France strengthening while
others, namely Greece, Ireland, Spain and Portugal facing
ongoing issues. Japan was impacted by the tragedy of
earthquake and tsunami in March; however, immediate action
by the Bank of Japan helped to stabilise their economy. In
China, higher than expected economic growth and inflation
figures saw authorities introduce efforts to cool the economy.
As with the Australian market experience, overseas share
markets struggled over the last quarter as the Greek debt
crisis and uncertainty around potential rescue plans saw
falls in major share markets across the world. Despite this,
overseas shares performed very strongly for the year, rising
by 22.3% in local currency terms, as measured by the
MSCI World ex Australia index. Reflecting the strength of
the Australian Dollar, this return was reduced to 2.7% on
an unhedged basis. International fixed interest markets
performed well when hedged back to Australian Dollars,
and returned 6.9% for the year to 30 June, 2011.
One year investment returns for major asset class indices are
shown below.
Index returns
25%

15%
10%

The official cash rate was held mostly stable throughout
the year, with the Reserve Bank of Australia (RBA) increasing
rates from 4.5% p.a. to 4.75% p.a. in November 2010. The
outlook domestically remains cautious, with expectations for
interest rate rises declining as the RBA balances a relatively
strong mining and services sector against weakness in the
household sector (reduced retail spending and borrowing
declining). Australia still remains fortunate with low gearing
at both government and corporate levels, inflation concerns

22.3

20%

12.2

5%
0%

5.9

5.5

2.7
Australian Overseas Overseas
Shares
Shares
Shares
(All
($A)
($A)
ordinaries) (unhedged) (hedged)

Listed
Australian
Property
Bonds
(domestic)

5.0
Cash

Source: Contango Asset Management.

Performance against benchmark indices for each asset class
are shown on pages 22 to 29.
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Emergency services members’ defined benefit investments
Benefits in the ESSS Defined Benefit Fund are based on salary, period of membership, age and contribution rate(s) during
membership. This means that a member’s benefit does not rely on investment earnings for growth.
The Board has adopted a series of objectives covering Statement of Financial Position, investment return, liquidity and
protection against movements in the Fund’s liabilities.
The main objectives are:
■■

■■

Statement of Financial Position: to ensure there is no greater than 20% probability of a 5% reduction in the funding ratio
over any 3 year period, and
investment return: to achieve a long term return of at least CPI +5% (before tax but after fees) .

The Victorian Funds Management Corporation (VFMC) has adopted asset allocation targets with limits for each asset class. VFMC
monitors these limits on a daily basis and reviews the asset allocation on an ongoing basis.
The table below shows the ESSS DB Fund’s target asset allocations at 30 June 2011 and compares this with the actual asset
allocations at 30 June 2011 and 30 June 2010.

Target allocation
at 30 June 2011
25.0%

25.2%

26.9%

Overseas shares*

25.0%

26.6%

27.1%

Private Equity

3.0%

2.6%

2.7%

Property

7.0%

7.9%

7.7%

Cash

3.0%

3.5%

2.8%

11.0%

11.9%

12.4%

11.0%

9.9%

9.9%

Infrastructure

7.0%

7.1%

7.9%

Absolute Return/Non Traditional

8.0%

5.4%

2.6%

Diversified Fixed Interest

#

Actual allocation
at 30 June 2010

Australian shares

Index Linked Bonds

*

Actual allocation
at 30 June 2011

#

Overseas shares are 50% hedged.
International Fixed Interest is fully currency hedged, which means that returns are protected against movements in the exchange rate.
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Performance
The investment return on defined benefit and pension assets net of fees and taxes for the year ended 30 June 2011 was 11.28%.
This performance can be compared to the performance of balanced super funds in independent research firm SuperRatings
June 2011 Survey where the median balanced manager returned 8.22%.
The compound average investment return for defined benefit and pension assets over the past five years net of fees and taxes
was 3.41% p.a. This performance would be in the top 20 funds as measured by SuperRatings median balanced managers over
the same period.
The investment returns do not impact on ESSS DB Fund members’ benefits.
Investment returns for the past five years
Investment return
Year ended 30 June

Gross

Net*

2011

12.39%

11.28%

2010

12.24%

10.73%

2009

-13.67%

-12.43%

2008

-7.07%

-6.22%

2007

18.57%

16.81%

3.71%

3.41%

5 year compound average p.a.
* Net of fees and taxes.
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State super members’ defined benefit investments
Benefits for state super members are based on salary, period of membership, age and contribution rate(s) during membership.
This means that a member’s benefit does not rely on investment earnings for growth.
The Board has adopted a series of objectives for these investments which cover investment return, risk of negative return,
liquidity and protection against movements in the Fund’s liabilities.
The main objectives are:
■■

to achieve a long term real investment return at least of CPI +5.5% (before tax but after fees)

■■

to ensure the chance of generating a negative earning rate is to be less than 10% while retaining a 3 year smoothing policy, and

■■

to minimise the term to full funding.

The pie charts below show the state super defined benefit funds’ target asset allocations at 30 June 2011 and compares this
with the actual asset allocations at 30 June 2011 and 30 June 2010:

Target allocation
at 30 June 2011

Actual allocation
at 30 June 2011

Actual allocation
at 30 June 2010

Australian shares

27.5%

27.0%

26.9%

Overseas shares

27.5%

29.5%

27.1%

Private Equity

3.0%

4.3%

2.7%

Property

8.0%

7.8%

7.7%

Cash

5.0%

4.5%

2.8%

7.5%

8.5%

12.4%

7.5%

6.7%

9.9%

Infrastructure

6.0%

5.3%

7.9%

Absolute Return/Non Traditional

8.0%

6.4%

2.6%

*

Index Linked Bonds
Diversified Fixed Interest

#

* Overseas shares are 50% hedged.
#	International Fixed Interest is fully currency hedged, which means that returns are protected against movements in the exchange rate.
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Performance
The investment return on state super defined benefit and pension assets net of fees and taxes for the year ended 30 June
2011 was 11.21%. This performance can be compared to the performance of balanced superannuation funds in independent
research company SuperRatings’ June 2011 Survey where the median balanced manager returned 8.22%.
The table below provides a comparison of the investment returns and member crediting rates for each of the past five years
to 30 June 2011.
Investment returns and crediting rates for the past five years
Investment return
Gross

Net*

Declared
crediting
rate

2011

12.38%

11.21%

2.04%

2010

12.5%

11.0%

0.0%

2009

-15.7%

-13.9%

0.0%

2008

-8.7%

-7.8%

7.9%

2007

17.3%

16.9%

16.4%

Year ended 30 June

* Net of fees and tax.

Crediting policy
Members who make personal contributions and leave the fund prior to minimum retirement age may be entitled to a benefit
comprising their contributions plus earnings applied to these contributions (as well as a deferred benefit which can be claimed
from age 55 or age 50 [for certain prescribed class members]).
The earnings are calculated and applied annually at 30 June each year using the Declared Crediting Rate calculated as the
compound average of the current and previous two years’ annual investment earnings (net of expenses and tax).
The Annual Crediting Rate is the actual investment earnings net of expenses and tax. The Declared Crediting Rate will be no less
than zero. For example, if the result of the compound average calculation is -1.0% then the Declared Crediting Rate for that year
would be 0.0%. Any such shortfall is not considered in future years’ calculation of rates.

Interim Crediting Rate
An Interim Crediting Rate is applied in the year a member leaves the fund for the period up to the date of exit. The Interim
Crediting Rate is calculated in the same way as the Declared Crediting Rate except that an estimated rate is used for the current
financial year. The estimated rate will be the actual investment earnings (net of expenses and tax) for the year to date, plus an
assumed rate (net of expenses and tax) for the remainder of the financial year. The Interim Crediting Rate will also be no less
than zero.
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Accumulation products investments
For members of ESSSuper’s accumulation products
(Accumulation Plan, Beneficiary Account and Income
Streams), balances are adjusted at 30 June each year
according to the investment performance of the investment
option(s) in which members are invested.
Members invested in our accumulation products have
a choice of investment options. Each investment option
has its own asset allocation which may include Australian
and overseas shares, property, fixed interest, infrastructure,
absolute return funds, hedge funds and cash. Each option’s
level of exposure to these assets depends on its risk profile
and long term performance objectives. The investment
options range from high to low risk to cater for different
member needs.
The 2010/11 financial year closed with investors benefiting
from a second year of positive returns with most markets
and asset classes performing well. Although markets were
positive over the year, the last quarter saw markets sell off
(predominantly in terms of more volatile assets) as concerns
resurfaced for the economic outlook. Even given the
negative performance over the quarter, the annual results
were still positive.
The strength in investment markets (across the board) for
the year has contributed to the positive performance of all
of ESSSuper’s accumulation products investment options.
The majority of our options were above median over
the year and the majority remain top quartile over longer
periods, with ESSSuper’s Growth option in the top
10 funds over 5 years.
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With the assistance of Towers Watson (the investment
advisor for our accumulation assets) we conduct regular
reviews (health checks) of our investment options. The
reviews confirmed that our portfolios are well diversified
compared to other super funds’ underlying investments,
relying less on the performance of equity markets (which
can be volatile) in order to deliver long term returns to our
members. Our property, infrastructure and hedge fund
exposures contributed strong positive returns to the various
investment options, particularly High Growth.
Details of each investment option’s objective, level of risk,
strategic asset allocation and performance is shown on
pages 17 to 21.

Crediting rates
Crediting rates are calculated and compounded monthly.
The rate applied to members’ accounts at 30 June each
year is the actual monthly earning rates compounded for
the chosen investment options after deduction for tax,
investment management and administration fees.
If a member changes investment options during the year
or closes their account during a financial year the application
of the earning rate is different. The Accumulation Plan,
Beneficiary Account and Income Streams Product Disclosure
Statements provide details on how earning rates are
calculated in these two situations. Refer to our website
for the most up-to-date copy of these guides. Up-to-date
earning rates are also available on the website.

Accumulation products investment options at 30 June 2011
Shares Only

High Growth

Accumulation Plan and
Beneficiary Account

To provide a return of 4.5% (after fees and taxes)
above the rate of inflation over the long term.

To provide a return of 4.5% (after fees and taxes)
above the rate of inflation over the long term.

Income Streams

To provide a return of 5.0% (after fees) above the
rate of inflation over the long term.

To provide a return of 5.0% (after fees) above the
rate of inflation over the long term.

Level of risk

High

High

Risk of a negative return

Five in every twenty years

Three in every twenty years

Objective

Strategic asset allocation
Actual as at 30 June 2011

‘At 30 June 2011’ shows actual asset
allocations at that date. ‘Target at
1 July 2011’ represents the interim
target which is transitioning to the
‘Long Term Target’.

At
30 June 2011

Target at
1 July 2011

Long Term
Target

At
30 June 2011

Target at
1 July 2011

Long Term
Target

Australian shares

41.0%

41.0%

38.0%

19.5%

20.0%

18.0%

Overseas shares1

54.0%

54.0%

57.0%

25.0%

26.0%

27.0%

-

-

-

15.0%

15.0%

15.0%

5.0%

5.0%

5.0%

35.5%

34.0%

35.0%

-

-

-

-

-

-

Alternative assets – defensive

-

-

-

5.0%

5.0%

5.0%

Cash (enhanced)

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

Property
Alternative assets – growth
Diversified fixed interest

2

3

Cash
Performance

Crediting rate %
Period

1.
2.
3.
*

Accumulation
Plan

Beneficiary
Account

Crediting rate %
Income
Streams

Accumulation
Plan

Beneficiary
Account

Income
Streams

2010/11

10.68

10.68

12.42

11.18

11.18

12.91

2009/10

9.65

9.65

11.60

8.93

8.93

10.21

2008/09

-19.83

-20.10

-22.91

-10.27

-10.49

-11.61*

2007/08

-13.65

-14.00

-16.80

2006/07

21.85

21.30

24.40

5 year compound average p.a.

0.47

0.23

0.02

10 year compound average p.a.

4.43

4.01

4.23

*

*

A policy of maintaining a benchmark currency hedge of 50% applies to overseas shares.
A policy of maintaining a benchmark currency hedge of 100% applies to overseas fixed interest.
High yield securities, corporate debt securities and similar financial instruments which may fluctuate in value.
The High Growth option was introduced on 1 October 2008. These returns represent the 9 month year to date return for the period 1 October 2008 to 30 June 2009.

From 1 July 2009 in respect of the Beneficiary Account and Income Streams, the crediting rates do not include administration fees as these are now deducted directly from
the account balance. This change has also been reflected in the 5 and 10 year compound average rates, i.e. the long term rates show 2 years without administration fees
and the previous years with administration fees included.
Please note that past performance is not an indication of future performance.
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Growth
(default investment option from 1/07/2009)

Balanced

Accumulation Plan and
Beneficiary Account

To provide a return of 4.0% (after fees and taxes)
above the rate of inflation over the long term.

To provide a return of 3.0% (after fees and taxes)
above the rate of inflation over the long term.

Income Streams

To provide a return of 4.5% (after fees) above the
rate of inflation over the long term.

To provide a return of 3.5% (after fees) above the
rate of inflation over the long term.

Level of risk

Medium to high

Medium

Risk of a negative return

Three in every twenty years

Two in every twenty years

Objective

Strategic asset allocation
Actual as at 30 June 2011

‘At 30 June 2011’ shows actual asset
allocations at that date. ‘Target at
1 July 2011’ represents the interim
target which is transitioning to the
‘Long Term Target’.

At
30 June 2011

Target at
1 July 2011

Long Term
Target

At
30 June 2011

Target at
1 July 2011

Long Term
Target

Australian shares

20.6%

20.5%

15.0%

11.5%

12.0%

9.5%

Overseas shares1

24.4%

24.5%

22.5%

15.5%

17.0%

14.0%

6.6%

7.5%

9.5%

9.5%

9.5%

9.5%

26.8%

27.5%

33.0%

23.5%

21.5%

27.0%

9.3%

10.0%

10.0%

20.0%

20.0%

20.0%

Alternative assets – defensive

5.9%

5.0%

5.0%

5.0%

5.0%

5.0%

Cash (enhanced)

2.3%

1.3%

2.5%

6.0%

5.0%

7.5%

4.1%

3.7%

2.5%

9.0%

10.0%

7.5%

Property
Alternative assets – growth
Diversified fixed interest

2

3

Cash
Performance

Crediting rate %
Period

1.
2.
3.
^

Accumulation
Plan

Beneficiary
Account

Crediting rate %
Income
Streams

Accumulation
Plan

Beneficiary
Account

Income
Streams

2010/11

9.57

9.57

11.13

8.49

8.49

9.91

2009/10

9.37

9.37

11.01

8.80

8.80

10.33

2008/09

-9.99

-10.29

-11.75

-6.66

-6.95

-7.85

2007/08

-3.60

-3.95

-4.90

-1.55

-1.90

-2.50

2006/07

14.05

13.55

15.35

10.75

10.25

11.80

5 year compound average p.a.

3.47

3.23

3.62

3.74

3.51

4.02

10 year compound average p.a.

5.66

5.30

5.89

6.37

6.04

6.87^

A policy of maintaining a benchmark currency hedge of 50% applies to overseas shares.
A policy of maintaining a benchmark currency hedge of 100% applies to overseas fixed interest.
High yield securities, corporate debt securities and similar financial instruments which may fluctuate in value.
These returns represent the return since inception (July 2003) to 30 June 2011.
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^

^

Conservative
(formerly Income Plus)

Cash Plus
(this option was closed on 31 May 2011)

Accumulation Plan and
Beneficiary Account

To provide a return of 2.0% (after fees and taxes)
above the rate of inflation over the long term.

To provide a return of 1.0% (after fees and taxes)
above the rate of inflation over the long term.

Income Streams

To provide a return of 2.5% (after fees) above the
rate of inflation over the long term.

To provide a return of 1.5% (after fees) above the
rate of inflation over the long term.

Level of risk

Low to medium

Low

Risk of a negative return

One in every twenty years

One in every fifty years

Objective

Strategic asset allocation
Actual as at 30 June 2011

‘At 30 June 2011’ shows actual asset
allocations at that date. ‘Target at
1 July 2011’ represents the interim
target which is transitioning to the
‘Long Term Target’.

At
30 June 2011

Target at
1 July 2011

Long Term
Target

Australian shares

6.5%

7.5%

6.0%

Overseas shares

8.5%

9.0%

9.0%

7.5%

7.5%

7.5%

Alternative assets – growth

12.5%

11.0%

12.5%

Diversified fixed interest

22.0%

22.0%

22.0%

3.0%

3.0%

3.0%

-

13.0%

20.0%

40.0%

27.0%

20.0%

1

Property

2

Alternative assets – defensive
Cash (enhanced)

3

Cash
Performance

Crediting rate %
Period

Accumulation
Plan

Beneficiary
Account

Crediting rate %
Income
Streams

Accumulation
Plan

Beneficiary
Account

Income
Streams

2010/11

6.94

6.94

8.12

4.65#

4.65#

5.49#

2009/10

7.09

7.09

8.33

4.44

4.44

5.25

2008/09

-1.21

-1.52

-1.71

3.19

2.89

3.30

2007/08

1.10

0.75

0.65

4.65

4.30

4.90

2006/07

9.00

8.50

9.80

5.45

4.95

5.70

5 year compound average p.a.

4.51

4.28

4.02

4.55

4.32

5.01

10 year compound average p.a.

6.02

5.69

6.87

4.49*

4.15*

4.75*

# As the Cash Plus option closed on 31 May 2011, these figures represent the 11 month period from 1 July 2010 to 31 May 2011.
* These returns represent the return since inception (July 2003) to 30 June 2011.
From 1 July 2009 in respect of the Beneficiary Account and Income Streams, the crediting rates do not include administration fees as these are now deducted directly from
the account balance. This change has also been reflected in the 5 and 10 year compound average rates, i.e. the long term rates show 2 years without administration fees
and the previous years with administration fees included.
Please note that past performance is not an indication of future performance.
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Defensive

Cash

Accumulation Plan and
Beneficiary Account

To provide a return of 1.5% (after fees and taxes)
above the rate of inflation over the long term.

To provide a return of 1.0% (after fees and taxes)
above the rate of inflation over the long term.

Income Streams

To provide a return of 2.0% (after fees) above the
rate of inflation over the long term.

To provide a return of 1.5% (after fees) above the
rate of inflation over the long term.

Level of risk

Low

Low

Risk of a negative return

One in twenty years

Zero in twenty years

Objective

Strategic asset allocation
Actual as at 30 June 2011

‘At 30 June 2011’ shows actual asset
allocations at that date. ‘Target at
1 July 2011’ represents the interim
target which is transitioning to the
‘Long Term Target’.

At
30 June 2011

Target at
1 July 2011

Long Term
Target

At
30 June 2011

Target at
1 July 2011

Long Term
Target

Australian shares

3.0%

3.0%

3.0%

-

-

-

Overseas shares

4.0%

4.0%

4.0%

-

-

-

Property

3.0%

3.0%

3.0%

-

-

-

Infrastructure

3.0%

3.0%

3.0%

-

-

-

2.0%

2.0%

2.0%

-

-

-

15.0%

15.0%

15.0%

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

70.0%

70.0%

70.0%

100%

100%

100%

1

Structured Beta
Diversified fixed interest
Cash (enhanced)
Cash

3

2

Performance
Crediting rate %
Period
2010/11

Accumulation
Plan

Beneficiary
Account

Income
Streams
1.23*

Accumulation
Plan

Beneficiary
Account

Income
Streams

4.12

4.12

4.86

2009/10

3.09

3.09

3.64

2008/09

2.84**

2.61**

3.08**

1.06*

1.06*

Crediting rate %

1. A policy of maintaining a benchmark currency hedge of 50% applies to overseas shares.
2. A policy of maintaining a benchmark currency hedge of 100% applies to overseas fixed interest.
3. High yield securities, corporate debt securities and similar financial instruments which may fluctuate in value.
* The Defensive option was introduced in 1 April 2011. These returns represent the 3 month year to date return.
** The Cash option was introduced in 1 October 2008. These returns represent the 9 month year to date return for the period 1 October 2008 to 30 June 2009.
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Protected Growth
(This option was closed on 31 May 2011)
Objective
Accumulation Plan and
Beneficiary Account
Income Streams

This option was closed on 31 May 2011.
The Protected Growth option has been closed
to new deposits and transfers since 1 July 2003.
Actual net rates of interest credited for this
option are shown below.

Performance
Crediting rate %
Period

Accumulation Plan

Beneficiary Account

2010/11

7.78#

7.78#

2009/10

7.46

7.46

2008/09

0.00

0.00

2007/08

0.00

0.00

2006/07

11.30

10.80

5 year compound average p.a.

5.30

5.20

10 year compound average p.a.

6.17

5.93

# As the Protected Growth option closed on 31 May 2011, these figures represent the 11 month period from 1 July 2010 to 31 May 2011.
From 1 July 2009 in respect of the Beneficiary Account and Income Streams, the crediting rates do not include administration fees as these are now deducted directly from
the account balance. This change has also been reflected in the 5 and 10 year compound average rates, i.e. the long term rates show 2 years without administration fees
and the previous years with administration fees included.
Please note that past performance is not an indication of future performance.
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Investment managers and asset class performance
Emergency services members’ defined benefit investments
Asset class and investment manager
AUSTRALIAN EQUITIES
Acorn Capital Limited
Arnhem Investment Management Pty Ltd
AllianceBernstein Australia Limited
BT Financial Group Ltd
Cooper Investors
Greencape Capital Pty Ltd
JF Capital Partners LTD
Lazard Asset Management Pacific Co
Resolution Capital Limited
Victorian Funds Management Corporation ^*
Victorian Funds Management Corporation ^*
Victorian Funds Management Corporation ^*
Victorian Funds Management Corporation ^*
Victorian Funds Management Corporation ^*
Victorian Funds Management Corporation ^*
Victorian Funds Management Corporation ^*
Total: Australian Equities
INTERNATIONAL EQUITIES
AllianceBernstein Australia Limited
Epoch Investment Partners, Inc
Lazard Asset Management Pacific Co
Marathon Asset Management
MFS Investment Management
Orbis Investment Management Limited
Schroder Investment Management Australia Limited
Schroder Investment Management Australia Limited
Victorian Funds Management Corporation ^*
Turner Investment Partners, Inc
Victorian Funds Management Corporation ^*
Victorian Funds Management Corporation ^*
Victorian Funds Management Corporation ^*
Victorian Funds Management Corporation ^*
State Street Global Advisors, Australia, Limited
Victorian Funds Management Corporation ^*
Total: International Equities
PRIVATE EQUITY
Allen & Buckeridge
Victorian Funds Management Corporation ^*
Total: Private Equity
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Management style

Asset value
($ million)
30/6/10 30/6/11

%
Asset class Benchmark
of assets
performance performance
30/6/10 30/6/11 (1 year % p.a.) (1 year % p.a.)

Active Microcap
Active “Growth”
Active “Value”
Active “Small Cap”
Active “Growth”
Active “Growth”
Active “Long Short”
Active “Value”
Active “Listed Property”
Active
Passive Enhanced
Transition
Transition
LPT/Infrastructure
Swaps
Futures
1,312.80 1,341.21

26.70

24.37

13.15

11.901

1,325.60 1,362.54

26.96

24.76

15.81

14.122

2.68

2.53

14.99

11.901

Active “Value”
Active “Value”
Active “Thematic”
Active “Contrarian”
Active “Large Cap GARP”
Active “Contrarian”
Active “Value”
Active “Value - Extension”
Swaps
Active “Growth”
Derivatives
Global Small Cap M/Mgr Trust
Emerging Markets M/Mgr Trust
Swaps
Passive Currency Overlay
Futures

Venture Capital
Private Equity Program
131.70

139.00

Asset class and investment manager
INFRASTRUCTURE
AMP Capital Investors
Other
Macquarie Group Limited
Utilities Trust of Australia/
Hastings Funds Management
Utilities Trust of Australia/
Hastings Funds Management
Victorian Funds Management Corporation ^*
Westpac Funds Management Limited
Total: Infrastructure
PROPERTY
AMP Capital Investors
AMP Capital Investors
AMP Capital Investors
Arcadia Funds Management Limited
Franklin Templeton Investments Australia Limited
The GPT Group
Investa Property Group
ISPT Pty Ltd
Lend Lease Investment Management
Lend Lease Investment Management
Lend Lease Investment Management
Lend Lease Investment Management
Macquarie Global Property Advisors
Macquarie Global Property Advisors
Macquarie Global Property Advisors
Macquarie Global Property Advisors
Queensland Investment Corporation
Valad Property Group
Total: Property
INFLATION LINKED BONDS
Victorian Funds Management Corporation ^*
Total: Inflation Linked Bonds
DIVERSIFIED FIXED INTEREST
Aberdeen Asset Management Limited
Victorian Funds Management Corporation ^*
Pacific Investment Management Company LLC
UBS Global Asset Management (Australia) Ltd
Victorian Funds Management Corporation ^*
Total: Diversified Fixed Interest

Management style

Asset value
($ million)
30/6/10 30/6/11

%
Asset class Benchmark
of assets
performance performance
30/6/10 30/6/11 (1 year % p.a.) (1 year % p.a.)

Infrastructure
Asian Infrastructure
Global Infrastructure
Airport Trust
Infrastructure
Infrastructure
Infrastructure
386.50

396.54

7.86

7.20

14.15

8.463

377.50

428.83

7.68

7.79

15.89

10.674

610.10

640.64

12.41

11.63

8.74

7.285

486.50

535.87

9.89

9.74

8.86

5.556

Core Property
Property Income Fund
Wholesale Property
Diversified Property
International Real Estate
Shopping Centre Trust
Commercial Property
Core Property
Commercial Property
Industrial Property
Retail Property
Asian Property
Asian Property Fund II
European Property Fund II
Asian Property Fund III
European Property Fund III
Shopping Centre Trust
Core Property

Active

Active
Active
Active
Active
Futures
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Asset class and investment manager
NON TRADITIONAL STRATEGIES
AQR Capital Management
Bridgewater Associates, LP
Silver Creek Capital Management LLC
Citadel Group LLC
Fortress Investment Group LLC
Silver Creek Capital Management LLC
Stone Tower Capital LLC
Victorian Funds Management Corporation ^*
Fermat Capital Management Ltd
Life Settlements Trust
Total: Non Traditional Strategies
CASH
Victorian Funds Management Corporation ^*
Total: Cash
Victorian Funds Management Corporation ^*
TOTAL FUND

Management style

Asset value
($ million)
30/6/10 30/6/11

%
Asset class Benchmark
of assets
performance performance
30/6/10 30/6/11 (1 year % p.a.) (1 year % p.a.)

Hedge Fund
Hedge Fund
Hedge Fund
Specialist Credit
Specialist Credit
Hedge Fund - Fund III
Hedge Fund
Passive Currency Overlay
Insurance Strategies
Insurance Strategies
127.40

290.85

2.59

5.28

5.63

7.087

159.10

368.50

3.24

6.70

4.97

4.988

4,917.20 5,503.98

100.00

100.00

12.05

10.999

Active
Overlay

Data is based on audited accounting data, and uses Net Market Values.

Investment managers

Changes to managers

Over the year, Victorian Funds Management Corporation^* assumed control
of the Wilshire Australia Pty Ltd Private Equity Trusts 1 through 3.

Over the course of the financial year, the following changes were made to
the Fund’s investment managers:

^

T hese managers control more than 5% of the assets of the ESSS Defined
Benefit Fund.

*

T hese managers control more than 5% of the total assets of the Board Amalgamation of all VFMC accounts and mandates.

Additions
■■

Citadel LLC - Specialist Credit

■■

Fortress Group LLC - Specialist Credit

■■

Fermat Capital Management Ltd - Insurance Strategies

Benchmarks

■■

Orbis Investment Management Australia Limited - International Equities

1. S&P/ASX 300 Accumulation Index

Schroder Investment Management Australia Limited
- International Equities

2. MSCI All Country World Investable Market Index Net AUD (50% Hedged)

■■

SilverCreek Capital Management LLC - Hedge Fund

4. Mercer/IPD Australian PPFI

■■

Stone Tower Capital LLC - Hedge Fund

5. UBS Government Inflation Linked 0+ Yr

■■

Victorian Funds Management Corporation - Fixed Income, Infrastructure

■■

^*

Terminations

3. CPI + 5% p.a.

6. UBSA Composite Bond Index
7. UBSA Bank Bill Index + 2% p.a.

■■

AMP Capital Investors - Infrastructure

8. UBSA Bank Bill Index

■■

Ankura Capital - Australian Equities

9. Composite Benchmark

■■

Blackrock Australia Limited - International Equities

■■

Colonial First State Global Asset Management - Property (Retail)

■■

Jacobs Levy Equity Management - International Equities

■■

Pacific Investment Management Company LLC - Diversified
Fixed Income

■■

Semperian PPP Investment Partners Group Ltd - Infrastructure

■■

Vanguard Investments Australia Ltd - Australian Equities
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State super members’ defined benefit investments
Asset class and investment manager
AUSTRALIAN EQUITIES
Acorn Capital Limited
Arnhem Investment Management Pty Ltd
AllianceBernstein Australia Limited
BT Financial Group Ltd
Cooper Investors
Greencape Capital Pty Ltd
JF Capital Partners LTD
Lazard Asset Management Pacific Co
Resolution Capital Limited
Victorian Funds Management Corporation ^*
Victorian Funds Management Corporation ^*
Victorian Funds Management Corporation ^*
Victorian Funds Management Corporation ^*
Victorian Funds Management Corporation ^*
Victorian Funds Management Corporation ^*
Victorian Funds Management Corporation ^*
Total: Australian Equities
INTERNATIONAL EQUITIES
AllianceBernstein Australia Limited
Epoch Investment Partners, Inc
Lazard Asset Management Pacific Co
MFS Investment Management
Orbis Investment Management Limited
Schroder Investment Management Australia Limited
Schroder Investment Management Australia Limited
Victorian Funds Management Corporation ^*
Turner Investment Partners, Inc
Victorian Funds Management Corporation ^*
Victorian Funds Management Corporation ^*
Victorian Funds Management Corporation ^*
Victorian Funds Management Corporation ^*
State Street Global Advisors, Australia, Limited
Victorian Funds Management Corporation ^*
Total: International Equities
PRIVATE EQUITY
Victorian Funds Management Corporation ^*
Total: Private Equity
INFRASTRUCTURE
Victorian Funds Management Corporation ^*
Total: Infrastructure

Management style

Asset value
($ million)
30/6/10 30/6/11

%
Asset class Benchmark
of assets
performance Performance
30/6/10 30/6/11 (1 year % p.a.) (1 year % p.a.)

Active Microcap
Active “Growth”
Active “Value”
Active “Small Cap”
Active “Growth”
Active “Growth”
Active “Long Short”
Active “Value”
Active “Listed Property”
Active
Active “ASX 50”
Passive Enhanced
Transition Account
LPT/Infrastructure
Futures
Swaps
2,682.10 2,472.74

28.65

25.80

13.51

11.901

2,798.60 2,825.43

29.89

29.47

15.16

14.122

Active “Value”
Active “Value”
Active “Thematic”
Active “Large Cap GARP”
Active “Contrarian”
Active “Value”
Active “Value - Extension”
Swaps
Active “Growth”
Derivatives
Emerging Markets M/Mgr Trust
Global Small Cap M/Mgr Trust
Swaps
Passive Currency Overlay
Futures

Private Equity
410.50

615.13

4.38

6.42

22.67

11.901

550.20

416.44

5.88

4.35

12.56

8.463

Infrastructure
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Asset class and investment manager
PROPERTY
AMP Capital Investors
AMP Capital Investors
Colonial First State Global Asset Management
Dexus Property Group
Eureka Funds Management
The GPT Group
Investa Property Group
ISPT Pty Ltd
Lend Lease Investment Management
Lend Lease Investment Management
Lend Lease Investment Management
Lend Lease Investment Management
Macquarie Global Property Advisors
Macquarie Global Property Advisors
Queensland Investment Corporation
Valad Property Group
Total: Property
INFLATION LINKED BONDS
Victorian Funds Management Corporation ^*
Total: Inflation Linked Bonds
DIVERSIFIED FIXED INTEREST
Aberdeen Asset Management Limited
Victorian Funds Management Corporation ^*
Pacific Investment Management Company LLC
UBS Global Asset Management (Australia) Ltd
Victorian Funds Management Corporation ^*
Total: Diversified Fixed Interest
NON TRADITIONAL STRATEGIES
AQR Capital Management
Bridgewater Associates, LP
Silver Creek Capital Management LLC
Citadel Group LLC
Fortress Investment Group LLC
Silver Creek Capital Management LLC
Silver Creek Capital Management LLC
Stone Tower Capital LLC
Victorian Funds Management Corporation ^*
Fermat Capital Management Ltd
Life Settlements Trust
Total: Non Traditional Strategies
CASH
Victorian Funds Management Corporation ^*
Total: Cash
Victorian Funds Management Corporation ^*
TOTAL FUND
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Management style

Asset value
($ million)
30/6/10 30/6/11

%
Asset class Benchmark
of assets
performance Performance
30/6/10 30/6/11 (1 year % p.a.) (1 year % p.a.)

Property Income Fund
Wholesale Property
Industrial Property
Diversified Property
Wholesale Property
Shopping Centre Trust
Commercial Property
Core Property
Commercial Property
Industrial Property
Retail Property
Asian Property
Asian Property Fund III
European Property Fund III
Shopping Centre Trust
Core Property
851.50

746.15

9.10

7.79

10.47

10.674

937.30

816.43

10.01

8.52

8.62

7.285

672.30

647.08

7.18

6.75

9.45

5.556

291.20

616.06

3.11

6.43

6.13

7.081

428.04
-0.03
9,362.20 9,583.48

1.80

4.47

5.14

4.988

100.00

100.00

12.05

11.299

Active

Active
Active
Active
Active Composite
Futures

Hedge Fund
Hedge Fund
Hedge Fund
Specialist Credit
Specialist Credit
Hedge Fund - Fund II
Hedge Fund - Fund III
Hedge Fund
Passive Currency Overlay
Insurance Strategies
Insurance Strategies

Active
168.50

Overlay

Data is based on audited accounting data, and uses Net Market Values.

Investment managers

Changes to managers

^

T hese managers control more than 5% of the assets of the state super
members’ defined benefit assets.

*

T hese managers control more than 5% of the total assets of the Board Amalgamation of all VFMC accounts and mandates.

Over the course of the financial year, the following changes were made to
the Fund’s investment managers:
Additions
■■

Citadel LLC - Specialist Credit

Benchmarks

■■

Cooper Investors - Australian Equities

1. S&P/ASX 300 Accumulation Index

■■

Fermat Capital Management Ltd - Insurance Strategies

2. MSCI All Country World Investable Market Index Net AUD (50% Hedged)

■■

Fortress Group LLC - Specialist Credit

3. CPI + 5% p.a.

■■

Orbis Investment Management Australia Limited - International Equities

4. Mercer /IPD Australian PPFI

■■

Schroder Investment Management Australia Limited - International Equities

5. UBS Government Inflation Linked 0+ Yr

■■

SilverCreek Capital Management LLC - Hedge Fund

6. UBSA Composite Bond Index

■■

Stone Tower Capital LLC - Hedge Fund

7. UBSA Bank Bill Index + 2% p.a.

■■

Victorian Funds Management Corporation - Australian Equities, Fixed
Income, Infrastructure
^*

8. UBSA Bank Bill Index
9. Composite Benchmark

Terminations
■■

AMP Capital Investors - Property (Core)

■■

Ankura Capital - Australian Equities

■■

Blackrock Australia Limited - International Equities

■■

Colonial First State Global Asset Management - Property (Retail)

■■

Jacobs Levy Equity Management - International Equities

■■

Semperian PPP Investment Partners Group Ltd - Infrastructure

■■

Vanguard Investments Australia Ltd - Australian Equities
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Accumulation products investments
Asset class and investment manager
CASH & ENHANCED CASH
ING Investment Management Limited
Treasury Corporation of Victoria ^
Total: Cash
SOVEREIGN BONDS
Aberdeen Asset Management Limited ^
Queensland Investment Corporation ^
Total: Sovereign Bonds
DIVERSIFIED FIXED INTEREST
Abderdeen Asset Management
Victorian Funds Management Corporation *
Apostle Asset Management
Total: Diversified Fixed Interest
ABSOLUTE RETURN FUNDS
Treasury Corporation of Victoria ^
Blackrock Australia Limited
Total: Absolute Return Funds
INVESTMENT GRADE CREDIT
Apostle Asset Management ^
Total: Investment Grade Credit
AUSTRALIAN EQUITIES
BT Financial Group Ltd
Cooper Investors
Dimensional Fund Advisors
Hyperion Asset Management
Merlon Capital Partners
Schroder Investment Management Australia Limited ^
Goldman Sachs & Partners Australia Pty Ltd
Total: Australian Equities
INTERNATIONAL EQUITIES
Epoch Investment Partners, Inc
Independent Franchise Partners, LLP
Lazard Asset Management Pacific Co ^
MFS Investment Management
Schroder Investment Management Australia Limited ^
Veritas Asset Management (UK) Limited
Colonial First State Global Asset Management
Victorian Funds Management Corporation *
State Street Global Advisors, Australia, Limited
Goldman Sachs & Partners Australia Pty Ltd
Total: International Equities
PROPERTY
AMP Capital Investors
AMP Capital Investors
Franklin Templeton Investments Australia Limited
Lend Lease Investment Management
Lend Lease Investment Management
Lend Lease Investment Management
Queensland Investment Corporation ^
Victorian Funds Management Corporation *
Total: Property
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Management style

Asset value
($ million)
30/6/10 30/6/11

%
Asset class Benchmark
of assets
performance performance
30/6/10 30/6/11 (1 year % p.a.) (1 year % p.a.)

Enhanced
Passive
350.40

423.52

27.75

24.33

5.56

4.981

N/A

217.31

N/A

12.48

4.40

5.022

221.40

N/A

17.53

N/A

N/A

N/A

41.10

N/A

3.25

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

92.60

N/A

5.32

10.05

9.473

190.00

257.89

15.05

14.81

12.97

11.904

248.40

326.72

19.67

18.77

12.13

13.875

83.40

114.48

6.60

6.58

11.73

10.496

Active
Active Inflation Linked

Active “Domestic Sovereign”
Futures
Active “Global Credit”

Cash
Hedge Fund

Active “Global - Credit”

Active “Small Cap”
Active “Growth”
Active “Value”
Active “Quality Growth”
Active “Value”
Active “Quality Growth”
Futures

Active “Value”
Active “Quality”
Active “Thematic”
Active “Large Cap GARP”
Active “Value”
Active “Quality Valuation Biased”
Active “Emerging Markets”
Emerging Markets M/Mgr Trust
Passive Currency Overlay
Futures

Core Property
Wholesale Property
International Real Estate
Commercial Property
Industrial Property
Retail Property
Shopping Centre Trust
Active “Listed Property
Quality - Valuation Biased”

Asset class and investment manager
PRIVATE EQUITY
Victorian Funds Management Corporation *
Total: Private Equity
INFRASTRUCTURE
AMP Capital Investors
Antin Infrastructure Partners, S.A.S.
Lazard Asset Management Pacific Co ^
Hastings Funds Management
Total: Infrastructure
HEDGE FUNDS
AQR Capital Management
Bridgewater Associates, LP
Silver Creek Capital Management LLC
K2 Advisors LLC
Total: Hedge Funds
STRUCTURED BETA
Bridgewater Associates, LP
Schroder Investment Management Australia Limited ^
Total: Structured Beta
SPECIALIST CREDIT
Sankaty Advisors, LLC
Stone Harbor Investment Partners LP
Total: Specialist Credit
TOTAL FUND

Management style

Asset value
($ million)
30/6/10 30/6/11

%
Asset class Benchmark
of assets
performance performance
30/6/10 30/6/11 (1 year % p.a.) (1 year % p.a.)

Private Equity
29.50

34.46

2.34

1.98

9.99

11.904

51.00

82.33

4.04

4.73

15.84

9.877

47.60

87.98

3.77

5.05

18.25

11.268

N/A

58.69

N/A

3.37

N/A

N/A**

N/A
44.84
1,262.80 1,740.83

N/A
100.00

2.58
100.00

N/A
9.98

N/A**
9.169

Infrastructure
Infrastructure
Global Listed Infrastructure
Infrastructure

Hedge Fund
Hedge Fund
Hedge Fund
Hedge Fund

Absolute Return
Absolute Return

Specialist Credit
Specialist Credit

Data is based on audited accounting data, and uses Net Market Values.

Terminations

Changes to classifications

■■

AllianceBernstein Australia Limited - International Equities

■■

Blackrock Australia Limited - Absolute Return Funds

■■

Lazard Asset Management Pacific Co^ - Australian Equities

■■

Victorian Funds Management Corporation* - Futures, Global Small Cap

■■

Other Changes

Over the year, the classifications of Diversified Fixed Interest and Absolute
Return Funds were discontinued following a review of the underlying asset
class characteristics. The Investments were moved to classifications more
accurately reflecting the investment characters - i.e. to Structured Beta,
Investment Grade Credit and Sovereign Bonds.

■■

Changes to managers
Over the course of the financial year, the following changes were made to
the Fund’s investment managers:

Over the year, Victorian Funds Management Corporation assumed
control of the Wilshire Australia Pty Ltd Private Equity Trusts - 1 through 3.

Investment managers
^

T hese managers control more than 5% of the assets of the Accumulation
products.

*

T hese managers control more than 5% of the total assets of the Board Amalgamation of all VFMC accounts and mandates.

Additions
■■

Antin Infrastructure Partners, S.A.S. - Infrastructure

■■

Bridgewater Associates, LP - Structured Beta

■■

Dimensional Fund Advisors - Australian Equities

Benchmarks

■■

Goldman Sachs & Partners Australia Pty Ltd - Futures, Transitions

1. UBSA Bank Bill

■■

Hyperion Asset Management - Australian Equities

2. UBS Government Index

■■

Independent Franchise Partners, LLP - International Equities

3. Barclays Capital Global Aggregate Index and Hedged in AUD

■■

K2 Advisors LLC - Hedge Funds

4. S&P/ASX300 Accumulation Index

■■

Merlon Capital Partners - Australian Equities

5. MSCI All Country World AUD and Hedged 50%

■■

Queensland Investment Corporation - Inflation Linked

6. Mercer/IPD Australian PPFI

■■

Sankaty Advisors, LLC - Specialist Credit

7. UBS Government 10 Year Bond Yield + 4.5% p.a.

Schroder Investment Management Australia Limited
- Australian Equities, Structured Beta

8. UBS Bank Bill Index Plus 6% p.a.

■■

■■

Stone Harbor Investment Partners LP - Specialist Credit

■■

Veritas Asset Management (UK) Limited - International Equities

9. Composite Benchmark
**

Introduced after 1 July 2010
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Investment process

The investment responsibilities for the defined benefit
assets transferred to VFMC on 1 July 2006. However, the
Board remains responsible for the setting of investment
objectives for the defined benefit assets, as well as retaining
responsibility for the investment of the accumulation assets.
All investments are made in accordance with the Board’s
investment strategy, the requirements of the Borrowing and
Investment Powers Act 1987 and the investment guidelines
contained in the Prudential Statement issued by the
Victorian Treasurer.

Our accumulation asset investment principles
Our aim is to help every member achieve a comfortable and
financially secure life in retirement. We achieve this through
consistent performance that delivers above average returns
over the long term. In achieving solid investment returns,
our approach is guided by four investment principles:
■■

■■

The Board has adopted a framework for managing the
investment process that involves the use of an external
adviser and implementation manager, VFMC. ESSSuper’s
internal investment team is responsible for managing this
relationship and reporting to the Board throughout the year.
For the accumulation assets the Board appointed an
external investment adviser, Towers Watson, to provide
both strategic, portfolio construction and manager specific
advice to the Board for decision. These decisions are then
implemented and monitored by the Board’s internal
investment team. This framework, which involves both
internal and external parties, provides a high level of
checks and balances.
External specialist investment managers (inclusive of VFMC)
are used to manage all the assets of ESSSuper. These
managers are selected on the basis of their skills in investing
within specific markets and asset classes.
All managers are engaged on a contractual basis and have
target performance objectives. Each manager reports its
performance on a monthly basis and at the end of each
calendar quarter.
For the defined benefit assets, VFMC presents to the
Board on a quarterly basis on the progress of each manager’s
performance against agreed objectives, whilst Towers
Watson and our internal investment team undertake
the same reporting for the accumulation assets.
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■■

■■

Balance: Our investment style protects against short term
volatility and focuses on achieving superior results over
medium to long term.
Value: We make investment structures as simple as
possible without compromising returns, and we provide
value for money, only incurring higher costs when returns
can be maximised.
Sustainable: We consider the opportunities and risks that
environmental, social and governance factors present in
our investment decisions.
Flexible: We offer you a range of flexible options to
ensure members can choose an investment solution to
suit their needs.

Use of derivatives
The Board allows mandated investment managers to
use derivatives only for the purposes of managing assets
efficiently and not to increase risk or leverage the underlying
portfolios for speculative purposes.
The Board does invest in certain pooled investment vehicles
where leverage is allowed within controlled parameters.

Environmental, social and ethical considerations
Environmental, social (including ethical) and governance
(ESG) considerations have the potential to impact the
real returns to our members, especially over the long
term. ESSSuper therefore looks to systematically consider,
understand and manage the ESG issues that have the
potential to impact financial performance.

The objective of ACSI and Regnan GAS is to protect and
enhance shareholder value through active communication
with (domestic public) companies in regard to
environmental, social and corporate governance risks.
Examples of Regnan’s engagement include:
■■
■■

The way in which ESSSuper manages this is through:
■■

■■

■■

being a signatory to the United Nations Principles for
Responsible Investment (UNPRI)
proxy voting at Annual (or Extraordinary) General
Meetings of Australian companies
subscribing to Regnan’s Governance Advisory Service
(GAS) via VFMC (who are also a cornerstone investor
in Regnan), and

■■

■■

■■

workplace health & safety, ethics and culture
board diversity in terms of skills, gender and capacity
of directors
environmental risk management, climate change and the
associated risks
executive remuneration hurdles skills shortages –
executive retention, and
continuous disclosure.

being a Foundation Member of Australian Council of
Superannuation Investors (ACSI).

By carefully considering and assessing how these future risk
and opportunity factors may affect financial performance of
the investments, the Fund is aiming to maximise the long
term return to members.

The UNPRI provides the framework for both ESSSuper and
VFMC to consider ESG issues, including actively engaging
with the Fund’s investment managers on the integration of
ESG issues into their investment process.

Neither ESSSuper nor VFMC screen nor exclude investment
types or individual investments through this process, but
attempt to analyse the underlying risks (and therefore
investment opportunities).

■■

The Board takes an active stance on Corporate Governance
by voting on all resolutions for (domestic public) companies
in which the Fund’s assets are invested (delegated to
VFMC for the defined benefit assets and implemented by
ESSSuper’s internal investment team for accumulation
assets). The goal is to ensure that company resolutions
are made in the best interest of shareholders.
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What’s new in super?

Flood levy for 2011/12 financial year

In the past year, the Federal Government conducted a
number of reviews of the superannuation system, and
announced a range of recommendations and changes
that impact ESSSuper members’ super and pension
arrangements. Here is an overview of these changes
and what they may mean for our members.

The Government has introduced a Flood Levy to assist
affected communities recover from the recent floods and
rebuild essential infrastructure. It applies to tax payers with
taxable incomes over $50,000 as follows:
Taxable income

Flood Levy on this income

Continuation of minimum drawdown
for Income Streams

$0 to $50,000

Nil

$50,001 to $100,000

Half a cent for each $1 over $50,000

During the global financial crisis the Government temporarily
halved the minimum amount that Income Stream members
had to take as an income each financial year. This relief
has now been in place for the last three years. Effective
from 1 July 2011, the Government has announced that
the minimum income payment will be increased to three
quarters of the standard level.

Over $100,000

$250 plus 1c for each $1 over $100,000

Member’s super is only affected by the Flood Levy if they
receive a lump sum payment or a pension/income stream
payment for the 2011/12 financial year.

The following table shows the minimum income payment
percentages for the 2011/12 year.

At the time the payment is made ESSSuper will calculate
the amount of Flood Levy that is payable based on the table
shown above.

Standard
minimum
payment
amount
% per
annum

Reduced
minimum
up to
2010/11
% per
annum

Reduced
minimum
for 2011/12
% per
annum

Under 65

4%

2.0%

3.00%

65-74

5%

2.5%

3.75%

75-79

6%

3.0%

4.50%

80-84

7%

3.5%

5.25%

85-89

9%

4.5%

6.75%

90-94

11%

5.5%

8.25%

95 or more

14%

7.0%

10.50%

The minimum annual payment rule is designed so that
retirees draw down on their super capital over their
retirement. This rule recognises that super is designed as a
retirement savings vehicle with substantial tax concessions.
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How will the levy be collected from lump sum payments?

Please note, for the purpose of the Flood Levy, the $165,000
which is usually ‘tax free’ is counted as taxable income.
How will the levy be collected from pension/income
stream payments?
For members receiving pension or income stream payments,
only the taxable portion of their payment will count towards
the calculation of the Flood Levy. This generally only applies
to members under 60 years of age.
The amount of tax deducted from regular income stream
payments will be adjusted to include the Flood Levy.
Exemptions from the Flood Levy
Members may be exempt from the Flood Levy if they have
been affected by a natural disaster.

Government reviews
Stronger super
The Government has initiated a number of reviews
impacting the superannuation system. The findings of the
reviews resulted in the formation of Government policy
collectively called ‘Stronger Super’. This policy includes:
■■

■■

■■

a low cost default superannuation option known
as ‘MySuper’
electronic transaction reforms known as ‘Super Stream’,
and
board and investment governance reforms.

The outcomes of the reforms are currently subject to
policy discussion between Government and the
superannuation industry.

Superannuation Guarantee
Government has also announced an intention to increase
the Superannuation Guarantee to 12% over the coming
years. The table below reflects these increases.
Year

Rate
(%)

2013-14

9.25

2014-15

9.5

2015-16

10.0

2016-17

10.5

2017-18

11.0

2018-19

11.5

2019-20

12.0

Other initiatives
Whilst not directly impacting ESSSuper, the Government
has also announced a policy known as ‘Future of Financial
Advice’. Government intends to reform the Financial
Planning industry to provide greater protection for members
of the public seeking advice.
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The Board report

About the Board
The Emergency Services Superannuation Board (the Board) was
established under the Emergency Services Superannuation Act
1986 (Vic) (the ESS Act). It is the Board’s responsibility to act in
the best interest of the Fund and its members and to ensure
the Fund complies with all relevant legislation.
The Board comprises six Members elected by ESSSuper
members and contributors and six Members nominated
by the Government.

Appointment of Board Members
The procedures for the appointment and removal of Board
Members are governed by the provisions in the ESS Act.

Please note that the ESS Act provides that matters affecting the
benefit entitlements of state super members can only be resolved
by at least two of the three Board Members elected by state
super members voting in favour. Similarly, matters affecting the
benefit entitlements of emergency services members can only be
resolved by at least two of the three Board Members elected by
emergency services members voting in favour.
All Board Members have completed a Declaration of Private
Interests and a Disqualified Persons Declaration. The Board is
covered by Trustee Liability Insurance, which, subject to limited
exceptions, indemnifies Board Members and staff against
financial loss, should any claims be made against them.

Board Members

A Member of the Board is appointed for a term not exceeding
five years as specified in the instrument of appointment. Each
member elected Board Member has an elected deputy, and
there is a pool of three persons appointed to act as deputies
for the Government appointed Board Members.

Government appointed Board Members

The member elected Board Members and deputies are
elected as follows:
■■

■■

■■

■■

one Member and his/her deputy is elected by members
employed under the Police Regulation Act 1958 or by
employee organisations representing those members
one Member and his/her deputy is elected by members
who are officers or employees of the Metropolitan Fire &
Emergency Services Board or persons appointed by the
Country Fire Authority under section 17 of the Country
Fire Authority Act 1958 or by employees of the unions
representing those members
one Member and his/her deputy is elected by members
who are employees appointed by Ambulance Victoria
under the Ambulance Services Act 1986 or by any other
ambulance service specified by the Minister and by
members who are not employees referred to above, and
three Members and their deputies are elected by state
super members.

Frank King (President)

Current term expires in August 2012.

Pam Mitchell

Current term expires in May 2013.

Chris Dalton

Current term expires in May 2012.

Liberty Sanger

Current term expires in February 2013.

Bob Herbert AM

Current term expires in June 2013.

One vacancy exists for a Government appointed Board Member.
State super member elected Board Members
Dean Glare

Current term expires in December 2011.

Alexander Gagachef

Current term expires December 2011.

Angela Stringer

Current term expires December 2011.

Emergency services member elected Board Members
Philip Jones

Elected by members who are
employees of the Metropolitan Fire
& Emergency Services Board and
Country Fire Authority.
Current term expires in December 2012.

Phillip Wilson

Elected by members who are
employees of the Victoria Police
and the Police Association.
Current term expires in December 2012.

Michael Stephenson

Elected by members who are
employees of Ambulance Victoria,
Department of Sustainability &
Environment, ESSSuper and other
participating employers.
Current term expires in December 2012.
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The Board operations

Board Committees
To assist in fulfilling its duties, the Board delegates specialist
responsibilities to individual Committees. The Committees
give additional focus to significant functions, monitor
and evaluate the effectiveness and performance of these
functions and make recommendations to the Board in areas
for which they have delegated responsibility. During the
year, the Product & Investment Committee was restructured
to remove Product matters from the scope of the
Committee. The Product matters are now addressed by the
Benefits & Service Committee. The Committees comprise:
■■

Benefits & Service Committee

■■

Audit, Risk Management & Finance Committee

■■

Investment Committee

■■

Governance & Remuneration Committee.

Benefits & Service Committee
The role of the Benefits & Service Committee includes
determining member appeals, reviewing decisions, resolving
disputes that may arise in relation to member benefits, and
reviewing policies to address trends in the provision of member
benefits for consideration by the full Board. The Committee’s
role was broadened to include high level product design from
an accumulation product and ancillary services perspective.
The Committee is comprised of two Government appointed
Board Members and two member elected Board Members.
If the matter being considered relates to the emergency
services membership only, the two emergency services
member elected Board Members can approve the decision.
If the matter being considered relates to the state super
membership, only the two state super member elected
Board Members can approve the decision.
The Committee is scheduled to meet quarterly, but will meet
more frequently if required.
A Nominated Board Member has been delegated authority
to determine death or disability benefit applications from
emergency services members by accepting Management’s
recommendation. The Committee has the power to decide
such benefit matters where the Nominated Board Member
has not accepted Management’s recommendation.

The Committee may refer any matter to the full Board in the
event it is unable to reach a decision.

Audit, Risk Management & Finance Committee
The Audit, Risk Management & Finance Committee assist
the Board in fulfilling its financial management and risk
management responsibilities. The role of the Committee is
to oversee and make recommendations to the Board on the
organisation’s development and implementation of policies
and systems relating to audit, internal control, financial
reporting, risk management and compliance.
The Committee is comprised of three Government appointed
Board Members and three member elected Board Members.
The Committee monitors the performance of the internal
and external auditor, reviews external audit findings and
reports to the Board on all material findings, reviews
the financial management and reporting processes of
ESSSuper and reviews the operation and implementation
by Management of risk management programs designed to
meet the risk management strategy as agreed by the Board.
The Committee may seek independent, expert advice to
assist it in undertaking its responsibilities.

Investment Committee
The Investment Committee meets quarterly and consists of
six Board members. The Committee makes recommendations
to the Board with regard to the Funds’ investment objectives.
Under delegated authority, the Committee is also responsible
for investment decisions regarding the accumulation assets,
monitoring investment performance and overseeing the
investment compliance process and internal controls. The
Committee also oversees the implementation of the Fund’s
investment governance obligations as a signatory to the UN
Principles of Responsible Investment.
During the year, the committee appointed an independent
advisor to the Investment Committee for an initial 12 month
period. The Committee seeks advice from external advisors
as required.
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Governance & Remuneration Committee

2.

The primary objectives of the Governance & Remuneration
Committee are to assist the Board in pursuing its statutory
duties relating to governance, the remuneration of the
Chief Executive Officer and succession strategies.

(a) establish policies for the administration of the
Superannuation Acts and to adopt strategies for the
achievement of those policies

In performing its governance functions, the Committee
ensures that related Victorian Government requirements
are being met while adopting best practice in governance
processes and policies. This includes ensuring that
governance matters outlined in the Prudential
Superannuation Standard are adhered to.
In regards to remuneration, the Committee ensures that
ESSSuper’s remuneration policy and practices demonstrate
the relationship between performance and pay and
ultimately help retain and motivate ESSSuper employees.

Operations
Objectives and duties of the Board
The objectives and duties of the Emergency Services
Superannuation Board are set out in Section 6 of the
Emergency Services Superannuation Act 1986 (the ESS Act).
1.

The following are the objectives of the Board:

It is the duty of the Board to:

(b) determine, authorise or approve programs for the
administration of the Superannuation Acts
(c) determine objectives, and establish and implement
strategies for the investment of money in the funds
(d) ensure that the funds are administered in accordance
with the Commonwealth Superannuation Contributions
Tax (Assessment and Collection) Act 1997 and the
Commonwealth Superannuation Contributions Tax
Imposition Act 1997 and any regulations under those Acts
(e) ensure that the provisions of Part VIIIB and Part VIIIAB
of the Commonwealth Family Law Act 1975 and any
regulations made under that Act for the purposes of that
Part are complied with
(f) ensure that the provisions of Subdivision B of Division 3
of Part VI of the Commonwealth Bankruptcy Act 1966 and
regulations made under that Act for the purposes of that
Subdivision are complied with
(g) to administer Part III of the Police Regulation Act 1958
and perform the duties and powers of the Board under
that Act

(a) to collect contributions and other assets due to the
Emergency Services Superannuation Scheme or another
administered fund (the funds)

(h) ensure that the Funds’ assets are administered
in accordance with the ESS Act or other relevant
Superannuation Acts

(b) to manage and determine investment objectives for
the assets of the funds so as to achieve optimal risk and
return outcomes, having regard to:

(i) ensure that the decisions and operations of the Board
are directed towards achieving its objectives

––
––

the need to provide for payments out of the funds

(j) ensure that the Board has, or has access to, the skills,
facilities and resources required to achieve its objectives

the need to exercise reasonable care and prudence so
as to maintain the integrity of the funds

(k) have regard to the interests of persons entitled to benefits
under the funds and relevant Superannuation Acts

(c) to administer the payment of benefits under the
ESS Act or any other Act or governing instrument
(Superannuation Acts).
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(l) have regard to the interests of contributing employers
under the funds and relevant Superannuation Acts
(m) subject to paragraph 3 below, inform contributors about
their rights and the benefits under the funds and about
the management and investment of the funds, including
making available to contributors at least once in each
year a summary of information about the management
and investment of the funds

(n) subject to paragraph 3 below, liaise with relevant
industrial organisations about the interests of
contributors and inform those organisations about the
management and investment of the funds
(o) ensure that the Board conducts its operations in an
efficient manner.
3.

4.

5.

The Board must, in performing its duties under
paragraphs (m) and (n) above, consider the need to
protect information, the disclosure of which could
adversely affect the financial position or the commercial
or other operations of the Board.
If the Minister at any time gives the President a
statement of Government policy on any matter that is
relevant to the performance of the duties of the Board,
together with a request that the Board consider that
policy in the performance of its duties, the Board must
ensure that consideration is given to that policy.
If the Minister gives a statement to the President
under paragraph 4 above, the Board must publish that
statement in its next annual report. No statements were
provided during the 2010/11 financial year.

Common Law Deed Agreement
Following the integration of the Emergency Services
Superannuation Scheme and the State Superannuation
Fund on 1 December 2005, a Common Law Deed of
Agreement was signed by the State Government and unions
representing the interests of the members of the now closed
State Superannuation Fund. A separate Common Law Deed
of Agreement was signed by the State Government and the
emergency services unions.

Administration of other funds
In addition to administering the Emergency Services
Superannuation Scheme and those funds formerly of the
State Superannuation Fund, the Board administers the
Parliamentary Contributory Superannuation Fund and acts as
paying agent for the following pensions and allowances paid
by the Government:
■■

the Royal Mint

■■

Casual Fire Fighters Compensation Fund

■■

Section 9(2) of the Ombudsman Act 1973 – Ombudsman

■■

the Supreme Court Act 1986 – Master of Supreme Court

■■

■■

the Constitution Act 1975 – Judges, Solicitor-General and
the Governor
the County Court Act 1958 – County Court Judges, Chief
and Senior Chief Prosecutor, Chief Magistrate, Master of
County Court.

Risk Management Framework
ESSSuper recognises that risk management is an essential
element of good corporate governance and has established
an effective risk framework that will enable the organisation
to balance opportunities for gain while minimising its losses.
In managing its risks, ESSSuper has established an enterprise
wide Risk Management Framework, which complies with
the Victorian Government Risk Management Framework
requirements.
In respect of the 2010/11 financial year, the President of
the Board signed an attestation on behalf of the Board
and Management on the effectiveness of ESSSuper’s
Risk Management Framework and its alignment with
the Australian/New Zealand Standard ISO 31000:2009.

As these Deeds are considered a Statement of Government
policy issued by the Victorian Minister for Finance, the Board
is obligated to consider these Deeds in the performance of
its duties.

Proudly serving our members | 37

To support this attestation, ESSSuper has in place:
■■

■■

■■

■■
■■

■■

a combined Risk Management Strategy and Risk
Management Plan
a risk assessment process for the purpose of identifying,
analysing, determining mitigating strategies, monitoring
and reporting of risks
a risk register incorporating the material risks of the
business, as reviewed from time to time
a compliance program to support the risk management plan
an internal control system enabling the understanding,
management and control of risk exposures, and
an internal audit plan providing assurance that ESSSuper
possesses an adequate system of risk management,
internal controls and procedures.

ESSSuper also recognises that for risk management to
be effective, it requires a strong risk culture. The Board
and Management have taken a leading role in driving
risk awareness throughout the business.

Statement of compliance
ESSSuper is an exempt public sector superannuation
scheme under the Commonwealth’s Superannuation Industry
(Supervision) Act 1993 (SIS). The SIS legislation treats exempt
public sector superannuation schemes as complying for
concessional taxation and superannuation guarantee purposes.
The Heads of Government Agreement (the Agreement)
signed in May 1996 between the Commonwealth and
Victorian Governments sets out the principles of the
Commonwealth’s retirement income policy that the
Victorian Government is required to comply with to ensure
consistency with national superannuation standards. These
principles include (but are not limited to), such matters
as preservation standards, vesting, benefit reporting to
members, member representation, regular audit and
actuarial reviews and ensuring that members’ accrued
benefits are fully protected.

The Victorian Government has agreed to conform to the
principles of the Commonwealth’s retirement income
policy as reflected in the Agreement and from time to time
in Commonwealth superannuation and taxation legislation.
On an annual basis, the Victorian Government is required
to provide the Commonwealth Government with a copy of
ESSSuper’s Annual Report and confirm that there has been
no legislative change in the governing rules of its exempt
public sector superannuation schemes that would lead to
a breach of the Agreement.
ESSSuper has a detailed compliance program in place that
assesses its compliance with internal policies/procedures,
Victorian Acts of Parliament and with Commonwealth
superannuation and taxation legislation. The results of
this program are reported regularly to the Audit, Risk
Management & Finance Committee.

Prudential Superannuation Standard for ESSSuper
From 1 January 2010, the Minister for Finance introduced a
Prudential Superannuation Standard for the management of
Victoria’s public sector superannuation schemes (Prudential
Superannuation Standard for Victorian Government
Superannuation Agencies). This Standard imposes reporting
and compliance requirements on ESSSuper that are similar
to those that exist for APRA regulated superannuation funds.
For the 2010/11 financial year, the President and CEO have
provided an attestation to the Department of Treasury
& Finance stating that appropriate governance, risk
management and prudential management arrangements
are in place.

Whistleblowers Protection Act 2001
ESSSuper is committed to the aims and objectives of the
Whistleblowers Protection Act 2001. ESSSuper does not
tolerate improper conduct by its employees and Board
Members, nor the taking of reprisals against those who
come forward to disclose such conduct. A copy of our
policy is available on request.
There were no matters brought to the attention of
Management during the year to 30 June 2011.
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Occupational health and safety

Freedom of Information Act 1982

We are committed to providing a safe and healthy
workplace, and to encouraging healthy work and lifestyle
practices. ESSSuper recognises that organisational health,
safety and risk management are both an individual and
shared responsibility of staff and management. As such, we
regularly monitor health and safety issues to ensure that we
meet the requirements of the Occupational Health and Safety
Act 2004 and the Equal Opportunity Act 1995.

ESSSuper complies with the provisions of the Freedom
of Information Act 1982, being an ‘agency’ for the purposes
of that Act.

Building Act 1993
ESSSuper requires the issue of Building Permits and seeks
the issue of Certificates of Occupancy for all building works,
as required by the Building Act 1993. We maintain our
buildings in accordance with the provisions of the Building
Regulations 1994.

Competition policy
In so far as the State and Territory legislation applies to
ESSSuper and its Board as an independent Government
entity established by statute, or as a State Government
business activity in public sector superannuation, ESSSuper
is subject to and compliant with the anti-competitive
conduct provisions of Part IV of the Trade Practices Act 1974
(Commonwealth) and Victorian Government Competitive
Neutrality Policy assessment procedures as reviewed or
amended from time to time.

The Board received 27 Freedom of Information (FOI) requests
of a general nature during the year. All of these requests
were from the general public. Of the total requests, the
majority was acceded to. At the time of publication of this
report, none had progressed to the appeal stage. The time
for processing requests was between 3 and 31 days.
Requests for documents under FOI should be referred to
the Freedom of Information Officer.

Information privacy
The staff at ESSSuper treat the privacy and confidentiality
of our members’ personal information seriously. We are
committed to complying with the Information Privacy
Principles contained in the Information Privacy Act 2000 (Vic)
and the requirements of the Health Records Act 2001 (Vic).
We hold members’ personal information securely and use
it only for the purposes described in ESSSuper’s Privacy
Statement available from www.esssuper.com.au

Consultants
In 2010/11, ESSSuper employed 29 consultants at a total cost
of $1.213 million.
Projects over $100,000 in value included:
■■

■■

■■

■■

strategic business and information technology
implementation (at a cost of $348,182)
‘Shaping Our Future’ project focused on staff
development (at a cost of $221,000)
industry benchmarking and research into member needs
(at a cost of $190,730), and
enhancements to improve efficiency in calculating
crediting rates (at a cost of $154,182).
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Important information about the funds

Lost members

Eligible Rollover Fund

It is important that members let ESSSuper know if they
change address, otherwise they may become a ‘lost
member’. They will be classified as a lost member when two
items of written communication from ESSSuper have been
sent to their last known address and are returned unclaimed.

AUSfund has been appointed as ESSSuper’s eligible rollover
fund. Funds may be transferred to AUSfund where benefits
are payable but the beneficiary is not entitled to be a
member, such as benefits payable as a result of a family law
split. AUSfund’s contact details:

ESSSuper participates in the Lost Members Register, or
SuperSeeker, held by the Australian Taxation Office (ATO). If
a member believes they have become a lost member from
any previous super funds, they can check online through
SuperSeeker at www.ato.gov.au or call the ATO on 13 28 65.

Mail:

PO Box 2468, Kent Town SA 5071

Phone:

1300 361 798

When a member locates any ‘lost’ super, they can transfer it to
ESSSuper’s Accumulation Plan (excluding pension entitlements).

Unclaimed monies (lump sums only)
If a member is age 65 or over, or their account balance is
less than $200, and the benefit remains unclaimed after all
reasonable efforts to find them have been made, the member’s
account will be closed and the benefit will be transferred to the
relevant Government unclaimed monies body.
Before transferring the benefit, we will write to advise the
member that the benefit will be transferred unless the
member advises us within 28 days that he/she wants the
benefit to be rolled over to another complying super fund.
If members have a query relating to unclaimed monies, they
can call our Member Contact Centre on 1300 655 476 for
state super members or 1300 650 161 for emergency services
members or contact the relevant Government unclaimed
monies body directly (see details below).
Prior to 1 July 2007, ESSSuper reported and paid unclaimed
super moneys to the relevant state authority, the State
Revenue Office. You can write to them at:
Mail:	Manager, Unclaimed Moneys
GPO Box 1461, Melbourne Vic 3001
Website: www.sro.vic.gov.au
From 1 July 2007, ESSSuper has reported and paid
unclaimed super moneys to the Australian Taxation Office.
Members can contact the ATO’s Super Info Line on 13 10 20
or visit the website at www.ato.gov.au
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Complaints
Complaint handling procedures have been established to
ensure that all complaints are properly investigated and
professionally dealt with.
If a person wishes to make a complaint about any aspect of
our service, or feels that they may have been treated unfairly or
disadvantaged by a decision of ESSSuper, they are encouraged
to initially raise the issue by calling us to see whether we
can help resolve it. In the event that the complainant is not
satisfied, the matter will be referred to the Complaints Officer.
Complaints are accepted in any form: in person, by phone,
fax, email or in writing. Complaints can be directed to:
Mail:

Complaints Officer
ESSSuper
GPO Box 1974, Melbourne Vic 3001

Phone:

1300 650 161 (emergency services members)
1300 655 476 (state super members)

Fax:

1300 766 757

Email:

info@esssuper.com.au

A complainant may be asked to document the complaint
in writing (either by fax, email or letter) if the complaint is
sufficiently complex and/or the initial complaint was raised
by a third party (non member).
ESSSuper has a formal complaints handling process comprising
an internal and external avenue of appeal. If a complainant
is dissatisfied with the resolution offered in response to their
complaint, within 30 days of receiving the response, they may
request in writing to have the matter reviewed. Their request
should provide reasons why they are dissatisfied with the
previous response and the resolution they seek.

Decisions affecting benefit entitlements

Advisors and service providers

If a member’s complaint relates to an ESSSuper decision
concerning their entitlements under the Fund’s governing
rules, the matter may be referred to the Benefits & Service
Committee (the Committee). The Committee has the
delegated authority of the Board to determine disputes
and/or appeals of this nature.

Actuary

The member will be notified in writing of the Board’s
decision. If the member still disputes the Board’s decision
following its reconsideration of the matter, the member may
make application to the Victorian Civil and Administrative
Tribunal (VCAT). VCAT, established under the Victorian Civil
& Administrative Tribunal Act 1998, is a body that deals with a
range of disputes in an efficient and cost effective manner.
VCAT has the power to review decisions made by the Board
that relate to a member’s benefit entitlements. VCAT can
affirm, vary or set aside a decision, or refer back to ESSSuper
for reconsideration.

■■

Auditor (external)
■■
■■

ESSSuper does not come under the jurisdiction of the
Superannuation Complaints Tribunal.

Information available on request
This Annual Report covers the highlights of ESSSuper’s
activities during the year, but further information is available
to members.
Members can call our office for access to:
■■

ESSSuper’s governing legislation

■■

the latest audited financial statements and auditor’s report

■■

■■

rules for the appointment and removal of trustee
directors, and
extracts from the latest Actuary’s report.

The website at www.esssuper.com.au also has a wealth
of information including the latest on super and the Fund’s
developments as well as investment performance details.

The Auditor-General to the State of Victoria
Deloitte as agent for the Auditor-General to the State
of Victoria

Audit (internal)
■■

Ernst & Young

Banker
■■

Westpac Banking Corporation

Custodian
■■

NAB Asset Servicing

Fund Insurer
■■

Any complaints must be lodged with VCAT within certain
time limits. For more information about requirements and
time limits, please call VCAT on 03 9628 9700.

PricewaterhouseCoopers

CommInsure (ESSSuper Accumulation Plan)

Trustee Liability and Crime
■■

Chubb Insurance Co of Australia

■■

QBE Insurance (Australia) Limited

■■

Liberty International Underwriters

Investment Advisor and Implementation Manager
■■

■■

Victorian Funds Management Corporation
(defined benefit funds)
Towers Watson / ESSSuper’s Investments Team
(accumulation products)

Legal Advisers
ESSSuper panel comprising:
■■

Holding Redlich

■■

DLA Piper

■■

Maddocks Lawyers

■■

Victorian Government Solicitor’s Office

■■

Mercer Legal

■■

Blake Dawson

Taxation
■■

PricewaterhouseCoopers
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Summary financial results

Table 1: Summary Operating Statement for the year ended 30 June
2011
$ mill

2010
$ mill

2009
$ mill

2008
$ mill

2007
$ mill

1,773

1,673

(2,503)

(1,538)

2,824

656

530

322

359

295

Employer contributions

1,301

1,250

1,114

1,416

669

Total revenues

3,730

3,453

(1,067)

237

3,788

Benefits expense

3,313

3,239

4,296

3,611

2,492

Administration costs

28

25

24

23

23

Tax expense / (benefit)

(11)

30

(63)

(31)

(19)

3,330

3,294

4,257

3,603

2,496

400

159

(5,324)

(3,366)

1,292

Revenue
Net investment revenue
Member contributions

Total expenses
Total change in net assets

Table 2: Summary Statement of Financial Position for the year ended 30 June
2011
$ mill

2010
$ mill

2009
$ mill

2008
$ mill

2007
$ mill

2,069

1,964

1,220

1,523

908

Investments

17,332

14,535

14,083

15,977

18,414

Other assets

389

150

214

140

270

Total assets

19,790

16,649

15,517

17,640

19,592

2,898

1,106

1,212

268

354

6

1

16

78

109

2,904

1,107

1,228

346

463

16,886

15,542

14,289

17,294

19,129

30,762

30,269

29,540

27,259

25,767

1,730

1,278

914

875

836

32,492

31,547

30,454

28,134

26,603

(15,606)

(16,005)

(16,165)

(10,840)

(7,474)

Assets
Cash

Less liabilities
Payables
Tax liabilities
Total liabilities
Net assets available to pay benefits
Less:
Liability for accrued benefits
Defined benefits
Accumulation
Unfunded liability

1. Table 2 above discloses all accrued liabilities of the fund, covering both members in the defined benefit funds and in the accumulation fund.
2. Table 3 on page 43 analyses the accrued benefit liabilities of both the emergency services and state super members.
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The $16,886 million in net assets available to pay members’ benefits at 30 June 2011 was allocated as follows:
State super members

$9,809 million

ESSS Defined Benefit Fund members

$5,347 million

Accumulation Plan members

$848 million

Beneficiary Account / Income Stream

$882 million
$16,886 million

Table 3: Valuation of accrued benefits using different accounting standards

Net market
value of assets
AAS 25
(The ESS
Scheme Basis)
AASB 119
(The employer’s
perspective)

Accrued
benefit liability
Surplus / (Deficit)
Accrued
benefit liability
Surplus / (Deficit)

State super
members
funds

2011
$ mill

Emergency
services
members
funds
2010
$ mill

2010
$ mill

Total
2010
$ mill

9,808.8

15,155.8

4,864.0

9,399.9

14,263.9

5,109.4

25,652.7

30,762.1

4,721.2

25,548.4

30,269.6

237.6

(15,843.9)

(15,606.3)

142.8

(16,148.5)

(16,005.7)

5,441.2

29,203.5

34,644.7

5,007.0

28,306.3

33,313.3

(94.2)

(19,394.7)

(19,488.9)

(143.0)

(18,906.4)

(19,049.4)

Emergency
services
members
funds
2011
$ mill

State super
members
funds

Total

2011
$ mill

5,347.0

Table 3 above reflects the valuation of accrued benefit liabilities using two different Accounting Standards. ESSSuper uses
AAS 25 ‘Financial Reporting by Superannuation Plans’ while its sponsoring employers are obliged to use AASB 119 ‘Employer
Benefits’ as they are employers, not superannuation entities.
The major difference in the value of the accrued liabilities under AAS 25 and AASB 119 is the use of the discount rate for valuing
liabilities. For AAS 25 purposes the long term rate of investment returns of 8.0% p.a. for assets supporting pension liabilities and
7.0% p.a. for all other assets is assumed. These assumed investment rates are the actuary’s best estimates for the long term and
these assumptions are not expected to change significantly on a year-to-year basis.
This contrasts with the AASB discount rate at 30 June of 5.28% p.a. which is based on the long term Government bond rate and
varies with the markets. The use of this approach is prescribed in the relevant accounting standard. A lower discount rate leads
to a higher liability as shown in Table 3.
Table 3 also discloses the different funding positions of the two major components of ESSSuper. The ESSS Defined Benefit Fund
is in surplus ($238 million at 30 June 2011 using AAS 25) while the state super members’ funds are in a deficit position ($15,844
million at 30 June 2011 using AAS 25). These liabilities and the comparative positions of the two elements of the total scheme
continue to be separately accounted for, but financial reporting conventions require them to be consolidated in the Scheme’s
audited ‘Statement of Financial Position’.
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Emergency Services Superannuation Scheme
Financial Report

Statement of Financial Position as at 30 June 2011
2011
$’000

Restated*
2010
$’000

2,068,550

1,964,477

31,179

6,741

293,714

109,335

3

17,332,334

14,534,599

Income tax receivable

6(c)

37,081

12,264

Deferred tax assets

6(d)

26,818

21,602

19,789,676

16,649,018

5

118,258

199,833

6(d)

5,559

1,461

15,020

146,608

2,764,890

759,428

2,903,727

1,107,330

7(a)

16,885,949

15,541,688

Liability for accrued benefits

7(b)

32,492,127

31,547,439

Unfunded liability

7(a)

(15,606,178)

(16,005,751)

Assets

Note

Cash and cash equivalents
Contributions receivable
Other receivables
Investments

Total assets
Less liabilities
Payables
Deferred tax liabilities
Forward foreign exchange contracts
Swaps
Total liabilities
Net assets available to pay benefits
Less:

The Statement of Financial Position is to be read in conjunction with the notes to the financial statements.
* Refer to note 7(c).
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Operating Statement for the year ended 30 June 2011
Note

2011
$’000

2010
$’000

12

214,106

91,893

Dividends

346,070

109,630

Distributions

263,192

387,501

9

1,002,797

1,135,479

10

(52,879)

(51,568)

1,773,286

1,672,935

Employer

1,301,129

1,250,060

Members

655,691

530,277

1,956,820

1,780,337

3,730,106

3,453,272

11

28,255

26,338

2(k)

(141)

(857)

2(h),7(c)

3,313,037

3,238,492

3,341,151

3,263,973

388,955

189,299

10,618

(30,364)

399,573

158,935

Balance at the beginning of the year

(16,005,751)

(16,164,686)

Balance at the end of the year

(15,606,178)

(16,005,751)

Net investment revenue
Interest

Changes in net market value of investments
Less: Direct investment expenses
Contributions revenue

Total revenue
Less:
Operating expenses
Administration expenses
Superannuation contributions surcharge / (refund)
Benefits paid and payable
Total expenses
Changes in net assets for the year before income tax
Income tax benefit / (expense)

2(f),6(a)

Changes in net assets for the year after income tax
Unfunded liability

The Operating Statement is to be read in conjunction with the notes to the financial statements.
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Emergency Services Superannuation Scheme
Financial Report (continued)

Statement of Cash Flows for the year ended 30 June 2011
2011
$’000

2010
$’000

Employer contributions received - consolidated fund

544,000

535,000

Employer contributions received - other

733,311

728,784

Member contributions received

667,009

534,525

Interest received

149,650

80,395

Dividends received

308,444

108,087

Distributions received

318,311

403,471

Investment expenses paid

(58,633)

(47,920)

General administration expenses paid

(55,174)

(23,781)

Benefits paid to members - Pensions

(1,145,298)

(1,086,154)

Benefits paid to members - Lump sums

(1,233,355)

(1,050,509)

Surcharge assessments paid

(1,161)

(874)

Income tax paid

5,472

(8,903)

232,576

172,121

Proceeds from sale of investments

10,717,972

9,971,960

Payments for investments

(11,490,420)

(9,923,918)

643,945

523,863

(128,503)

571,905

104,073

744,026

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year

1,964,477

1,220,451

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year

2,068,550

1,964,477

Note
Cash flows from operating activities

Net cash flows from operating activities

13

Cash flows from investing activities

Net receipts on hedging instruments and exchange movements in settlements
in overseas currencies
Net cash flows (used in) / provided for investing activities
Net increase in cash held

The Statement of Cash Flows is to be read in conjunction with the notes to the financial statements.
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Emergency Services Superannuation Scheme
Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 30 June 2011

1. Operations of the Scheme
The Emergency Services Superannuation Scheme (the Scheme)
was established under the Emergency Services Superannuation
Act 1986 (ESS Act) for the purpose of providing superannuation
benefits for Victorian emergency services employees. It is a
superannuation scheme domiciled in Australia. The principal
place of business of the Scheme is Melbourne.
The Trustee and Administrator of the Scheme is the
Emergency Services Superannuation Board (the Board).
The Board operates under its business name of ESSSuper
(Emergency Services & State Super).
The Superannuation Legislation (Governance Reform) Act 2005
(the Act) effected on 1 December 2005, the integration of
the State Superannuation Fund (SSF) and the Scheme, by
closing the SSF and transferring the assets and liabilities of
the SSF to the Scheme.
The Scheme encompasses the following defined benefit funds:
■■

■■

the ESSS Defined Benefit Fund, which is open to new
members and is a fully funded fund;
the State Superannuation Funds are closed funds that
are partially funded and are made up of the following
membership categories:
––

––

––

––

––

––

––

the Original Scheme closed to new members on
30 June 1975;
the Revised Scheme closed to new members on
1 July 1988;
the State Employees Retirement Benefits Scheme
(SERB) closed to new members on 1 July 1988;
the New Scheme closed to new members on
1 January 1994;
the Transport Scheme closed to new members on
1 January 1994;
certain members of the Melbourne Water Corporation
Employees’ Superannuation Scheme (MWCESS); and
Port of Melbourne Authority Superannuation Scheme
that transferred to the SSF during the year ended
30 June 1997.

In addition, the Scheme includes the following accumulation
products which are open to all state super members:
■■

■■

■■

the Beneficiary Account - In accordance with Section 21J
of the ESS Act, former contributors may elect to transfer
their lump sum benefit into the Beneficiary Account;
the Income Streams - In accordance with Sections 21J(3)
and 21K(3) of the ESS Act, the balance of a Beneficiary
Account may be paid to a former contributor in the form
of an Income Stream; and
Accumulation Plan - In accordance with Section 21B
of the ESS Act, employees of participating employers
may become members of the Accumulation Plan. A
member may elect to contribute to the Accumulation
Plan. Employers contribute for non-operational members
under the Commonwealth Superannuation Guarantee
(Administration) Act 1992.

Employer contributions are made at rates recommended by
the Actuary and the Board to ensure that current benefits
are fully funded. Employee contributions are made in
accordance with the provision of the ESS Act. Benefits of
defined benefit members are calculated by way of formula as
defined in the Act. Benefits of members in the Accumulation
Plan are equal to members account balances which are
credited/debited each year with contributions and their
proportional share of the net investment income, expenses
and income tax expense or benefit of the Scheme.

2. Summary of significant accounting policies
(a) Basis of preparation, statement of compliance
and use of judgements and estimates
The financial statements are general purpose financial
reports which have been prepared in accordance with
Australian Accounting Standards, in particular Australian
Accounting Standard AAS 25 ‘Financial Reporting by
Superannuation Plans’ as amended by AASB 2005-13
‘Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards’
(AAS25), Australian Accounting Interpretations, Standing
Directions 4.2 of the Financial Management Act 1994 and
relevant Financial Reporting Directions (FRDs) issued by the
Department of Treasury and Finance (DTF).
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Emergency Services Superannuation Scheme
Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 30 June 2011 (continued)

2. Summary of significant accounting policies
(a) Basis of preparation, statement of
compliance and use of judgements
and estimates (continued)
The financial statements were authorised for issue by the
directors on 25 August 2011. The financial statements have
been prepared on the basis required by AAS 25, which
provides specific measurement requirements for assets,
liabilities and accrued benefits. To the extent that they
do not conflict with AAS 25, other Australian Accounting
Standards have been applied in the preparation of the
financial statements.
The preparation of financial statements, in conformity with
Australian Accounting Standards, requires the use of certain
critical accounting estimates. It also requires management
to exercise its judgement in the process of applying the
Scheme’s accounting policies. The areas needing a higher
degree of judgement or complexity, or areas where
assumptions and estimates are significant to the financial
statements, are disclosed in the relevant notes to the
financial statements.
Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on
an on-going basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if
the revision affects only that period, or in the period of the
revision and future periods if the revision affects both current
and future periods.
The key estimates and assumptions that have significant risk
of causing a material adjustment to the value of assets and
liabilities are:
■■

Valuation of Accrued Benefits
––

■■

The amount of accrued benefits has been actuarially
determined (refer Note 7(c) and 17).

Valuation of Investments and Derivatives (refer Note 16(i))
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(b) Accounting standards and interpretations
issued, but not yet effective
At the date of authorisation of the financial report, the following
standards which are expected to be relevant to the Scheme
were in issue but not yet effective. The Board anticipates the
adoption of these standards will have no material financial
impact on the financial statements of the Scheme.
AASB
Amendment
/ Standard

Title

Application
date of
standard

Application
date for the
Scheme

AASB
124

Related Parties
Disclosures
(2009)

1 January 2011

1 July 2011

AASB
2009-12

Amendments
to Australian
Accounting
Standards
arising from
the Annual
Improvements
Project

1 January 2011

1 July 2011

AASB 9

Financial
Instruments
which
introduces
new
requirements
for classifying
and measuring
financial assets

1 January 2013
(on a modified
retrospective
basis)

1 July 2013

AASB
2009-11

Amendments
to Australian
Accounting
Standards
arising from
AASB 9

1 January 2013

1 July 2013

AASB
2010-4

Further
amendments
to Australian
Accounting
Standards
arising from
the Annual
Improvements
Project

1 January 2011

1 July 2011

(c) Investments and derivatives
Investments are recognised and derecognised on trade
date where the purchase or sale of an investment is under
a contract whose terms require delivery of the investment
within the timeframe established by the market concerned
and are initially measured at net market value. Investments
and derivatives are included in the Statement of Financial
Position at net market value as at the reporting date with
gains and losses arising from changes in net market value
recorded in the Operating Statement in the periods in which
they occur. Derivatives are measured at net market value in
accordance with AAS 25.

■■

Derivative financial instruments, including financial
futures and forward exchange contracts, interest rate
swaps, exchange traded options and other options
and forward rate agreements: by reference to the most
verifiable source of market prices at balance date less an
appropriate allowance for costs expected to be incurred
in realising the investment.

Relevant estimated costs of realisation have been deducted
in determining net market value.
Net market value is considered a reasonable approximation
of fair value as disposal costs are generally immaterial (refer
to note 2(m)).

Net market values have been determined as follows:
■■

■■
■■

■■

■■

Short term deposits: at the lower of cost and net
realisable value inclusive of accrued interest.
Mortgage loans: using the amortised cost method.
Shares and units in listed entities (including listed
unit trusts), government and other fixed interest
and index-linked securities: by reference to the most
verifiable source of market prices at balance date less an
appropriate allowance for costs expected to be incurred
in realising the investments.
Shares and units in unlisted entities – using:
observable market inputs (either directly or indirectly);
valuations of other investments substantially the same in
nature; or discounted cash flows less estimated realisation
costs. Where other valuation models are used inputs
will be based on a range of observable market data and
unobservable inputs. In some instances these inputs
are based on assumptions and information that can be
subject to considerable estimation and variability thus
the resulting investment valuations of the impacted
investments are subject to significant estimation
uncertainty. Refer to Note 16(i).
Investments in Life Insurance Company Statutory
Funds: at surrender value at balance date as advised
by the insurer.

(d) Revenue recognition
Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable that
the economic benefits will flow to the Scheme and the
revenue can be reliably measured. The following specific
recognition criteria must also be met before revenue
is recognised:
■■

■■

■■

■■

Changes in net market values (realised and
unrealised): recognised in the Operating Statement in
the periods in which they occur. The changes in market
value are measured by reference to the market price as
at the prior balance date, the purchase price where the
investment was purchased during the year, the sale value
where the investment was sold during the year, and, if
held at year end, the net market value at balance date.
Interest: control of a right to receive the interest
payment. Interest is recognised as it accrues, using the
original effective interest rate of the instrument calculated
at the acquisition or origination date.
Dividends and distributions: control of a right to receive
the dividend or distribution payment is the date the
shares/units are quoted ex-dividend/ex-distribution.
Employer and member contributions: control of the
right to receive the contributions in the period to which
they relate to and are recognised gross of any taxes.
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies
(continued)
(e) Administration expenses
Administration expenses are incurred and recovered by the
Board in administering the Scheme and are recognised by
the Scheme on an accrual basis.

(f) Income tax
The Scheme is an exempt public sector superannuation
scheme and as such is deemed to be a complying fund
within the provisions of the Income Tax Assessment Act 1936
(Cth). Accordingly, the concessional rate of 15% is applicable.
Current tax
Current tax is calculated by reference to the amount of
income taxes payable or recoverable in respect of the
taxable profit or tax loss for the period. Current tax for current
and prior periods is recognised as a liability (or asset) to the
extent that it is unpaid (or refundable).
Deferred tax
Deferred tax is accounted for using the balance sheet liability
method. Temporary differences are differences between the
tax base of an asset or liability and its carrying amount in the
Statement of Financial Position. The tax base of an asset or
liability is the amount attributed to that asset or liability for
tax purposes.
In principle, deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all
taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are
recognised to the extent that it is probable that sufficient
taxable amounts will be available against which deductible
temporary differences or unused tax losses and tax offsets
can be utilised. However, deferred tax assets and liabilities
are not recognised if the temporary differences giving rise to
them arise from the initial recognition of assets and liabilities
which affects neither taxable income nor accounting profit.
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Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply to the period(s) when
the asset and liability giving rise to them are realised or
settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by reporting date. The
measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects
the tax consequences that would follow from the manner in
which the Scheme expects, at the reporting date, to recover
or settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

(g) Foreign currency
The financial statements are presented in Australian dollars,
which is also the functional currency of the Scheme.
Investments at balance date denominated in foreign
currencies have been converted to Australian dollars using
the last quoted rates of exchange at the end of the financial
year. Transactions in foreign currencies are translated at the
foreign exchange rate ruling at the date of the transaction.
Resulting exchange differences are included in the operating
result for the year.

(h) Benefits paid and payable
Benefits paid and payable included pensions, lump sums and
the movement in actuarially determined accrued benefits for
the year ending 30 June 2011 (refer note 7(c)).
Pensions and lump sums are accounted for on an accrual
basis. Benefits payable includes the entitlements of members
who ceased employment prior to year-end but had not been
paid at that time.

(i) Receivables and payables
Receivables are carried at nominal amounts due which
approximate net market value. Receivables are normally
settled within 30 days. An allowance for uncollectible
amounts is only made where there is objective evidence
that the debt may not be collected. Interest receivables are
accrued interest from cash and cash equivalents and fixed
interest securities.

Amounts payable are recognised for amounts to be paid in
the future for goods and services received, whether or not
billed to the Scheme and are carried at nominal amounts
which approximate net market value. Payables are normally
settled within 30 days.

(j) Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand and at bank,
money market deposits, exchange traded futures margin
accounts and non-investment at-call funds which are readily
convertible to cash and which are subject to insignificant risk
of changes in value.

(k) Superannuation contributions surcharge
Superannuation contribution surcharge (the surcharge)
is levied on surchargeable contributions on the basis of
individual members’ adjusted taxable incomes. The liability
for the surcharge is recognised when the assessment is
received. Assessments for fully-funded members are paid on
receipt, to be recovered from members on exit. Assessments
for partially funded members are paid on exit with members
having the option to pay the surcharge on assessment from
their own resources.
The Superannuation Laws Amendment (abolition of surcharge)
Act 2005 abolished both the surcharge and the termination
payments surcharge in respect of superannuation
contributions and certain termination payments made or
received on or after 1 July 2005. Assessments for surcharge
in respect of contributions and payments for the year ended
30 June 2005 and prior years will continue to be issued and
remain payable.

(l) Goods and Services Tax (GST)
Revenues, expenses and assets are stated net of any
applicable GST. Where applicable, GST incurred that is not
recoverable from the Australian Taxation Office (ATO), has
been recognised as part of the expense or asset to which
it applies. Receivables and payables are stated with any
applicable GST included in the values.

The amount of GST recoverable from, and payable to
the ATO, is included as a receivable and payable in the
Statement of Financial Position, the net of which is the GST
liability amount payable to the ATO.
Cash flows are presented on a gross basis in the Statement of
Cash Flows. The GST components of cash flows arising from
investing activities which are recoverable from or payable to
the ATO are presented as cash flows from operating activities.

(m) Net market value
Net market value is the amount which could be expected
to be received from the disposal of an asset in an orderly
market after deducting costs expected to be incurred in
realising the proceeds of such a disposal.

(n) Liability for accrued benefits
The liability for accrued benefits, which is mainly of a longterm nature, is actuarially measured on a triennial basis, with
yearly updates, and represents the value of the Scheme’s
present obligation to pay benefits to members and other
beneficiaries at the date of the actuarial review. The liability
is determined on the basis of the present value of expected
future payments, which arise from membership of the Scheme
up to the date of the actuarial review. The amount reported
has been determined by reference to expected future salary
levels and by application of a current market-based, riskadjusted discount rate and appropriate actuarial assumptions.
The report on the latest full actuarial investigations of the
Scheme, as at 30 June 2009, contains details of the accrued
benefit liability at that date. The report also gives details of the
basis used to calculate the accrued benefit liability. The liability
at 30 June 2011 has been actuarially calculated as an update
of the balance of the liability calculated as at 30 June 2009.
The next triennial review will be conducted as at 30 June
2012 and must be completed by 31 December 2012.

(o) Rounding off of amounts
Amounts in the financial statements have been rounded off
to the nearest thousand dollars unless otherwise stated.
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3. Investments
As required by a Victorian Order in Council and Section 20
of the Borrowing and Investment Powers Act 1987, investment
responsibilities for the defined benefit pools transferred to
the Victorian Funds Management Corporation (VFMC) on
1 July 2006. However, the Board remains responsible for
setting investment objectives for the defined benefit pools.
Towers Watson provides investment advice and
implementation is undertaken internally by the Fund’s
investment team for the accumulation asset pool. This
function was undertaken by VFMC in the prior year. The
Board retains full responsibility for the investment of
accumulation plan assets.
At 30 June 2011, the investments of the Scheme were held
in three pools:
■■

■■

■■

investments relating to the ESSS Defined Benefit Fund
(governed by the ESS Act);
investments relating to the ESSS Accumulation Fund
(governed by the ESS Act); and
investments relating to the State Superannuation Fund
(governed by the State Superannuation Act 1988).

ESSS Accumulation members’ funds
The Board determines the investment objectives and
strategy for the accumulation funds.
Towers Watson is the investment advisor and provides
contracted services to the accumulation assets including
advice on investment objectives, strategy, advisory services
and high level portfolio construction.
Each investment manager is required to invest the assets
under its management in accordance with the terms of a
written investment mandate.
The implementation activities for the accumulation assets are
now undertaken internally by the Board’s investment team.
The internal investment team obtains regular reports from
each investment manager on the nature of the investments
made on behalf of the accumulation funds, on the associated
risks and the performance against an agreed benchmark.

52 | Annual Report 2011

Such reports include receipt of formal Risk Management
Statements as required under the Board’s contracts with
each investment manager as part of its control procedures.
In turn both Towers Watson and the internal management
team reports to the Investment Committee at its quarterly
meeting on all relevant and material investment matters.

ESSS Defined Benefit members’ funds
The Board determines the investment objectives for the
defined benefit funds.
VFMC is the appointed fund manager and is responsible for
determining and implementing the investment strategy
for the defined benefit funds. VFMC evaluates and selects
a panel of investment managers to invest the assets of the
defined benefit funds across various asset classes.
Each investment manager is required to invest the assets
under its management in accordance with the terms of a
written investment mandate.
VFMC obtains regular reports from each investment manager
on the nature of the investments made on behalf of the
Scheme’s funds, on the associated risks and the performance
against an agreed benchmark. Such reports include
receipt of formal Risk Management Statements as required
under VFMC’s contracts with each investment manager
as part of its control procedures. In turn VFMC reports to
the Investment Committee at its quarterly meeting on all
relevant and material investment matters.

State superannuation members’ funds
The defined benefit investments of the state superannuation
funds are managed in a manner consistent with the policies
adopted for the ESSS Defined Benefit Fund.

Master Custodian
NAB Asset Servicing (NAS) is the master custodian of the
majority of the investment assets of the Scheme.

Investments
Investments are represented by the following categories at balance date:
2011
$’000

2010
$’000

Short term deposits - Australia

56,645

89,460

Enhanced cash trusts - Australia

12,081

5,673

Enhanced cash trusts - offshore

38,422

41,382

Fixed interest - Australia

2,311,909

1,958,631

Fixed interest - offshore

299,651

318,499

Equity investments - Australia

4,676,162

3,722,032

Equity investments - offshore

4,015,893

5,295,011

Property trusts - listed

650,101

205,325

Property trusts - unlisted

808,459

962,326

Property funds (life insurance statutory funds)

222,305

131,293

1,404,058

1,046,367

69,345

35,750

2,767,303

722,850

17,332,334

14,534,599

17,332,334

14,534,599

2,068,550

1,964,477

57,089

41,108

208,341

44,995

Payable outstanding investment settlements

58,107

137,017

Forward foreign exchange contracts

15,020

146,608

2,764,890

759,428

16,828,297

15,542,126

Infrastructure and development capital - Australia
Forward foreign exchange contracts
Swaps

Reconciliation of net assets attributable to members
Investments
Cash and cash equivalents
Investment income receivable
Receivable outstanding investment settlements
Less:

Swaps

This note is to be read in conjunction with note 16.
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4. Receivables
There are no significant terms or conditions applicable to the receivables. All amounts are expected to be recoverable in whole
within the next 12 months. No interest is charged on these receivables.
No receivables are either past due or impaired and no allowances have been made for the recoverability of these assets.

5. Payables
2011
$’000

2010
$’000

30,075

26,786

887

7,164

2,131

3,931

Accounts payable

23,223

19,712

Outstanding investment settlements

58,107

137,017

3,835

5,223

118,258

199,833

Benefits payable - Pensions
Benefits payable - Lump sums
Amount owing to the Board

Superannuation contribution surcharge

Due to the short term nature of these payables, their carrying value is assumed to approximate their net market value.

6. Income tax
Pursuant to Section 45(6) of the Superannuation Industry (Supervision) Act 1993 (SIS), if at all times during an income year, the
Scheme was an “exempt public sector superannuation scheme”, the Scheme is deemed to be a complying superannuation
fund for tax purposes. Section 10 of SIS defines an exempt public sector superannuation scheme as a public sector
superannuation scheme that is specified in the regulations made for the purposes of the definition under SIS. Regulation 1.04
(4A) of SIS has listed the Scheme as an exempt public sector superannuation scheme. Accordingly, for the year ended 30 June
2011, pursuant to Part IX of the Income Tax Assessment Act 1936 (ITAA 1936), as a deemed complying superannuation fund, the
Scheme is eligible to be taxed at the concessional rate of 15%.
Employer contributions are excluded from assessable income under specific tax provisions which permit employer
contributions to be offset against pre-1 July 1988 funding credits (PJFCs).
PJFCs amounting to $0.2 billion (2010: $0.8 billion) are available to offset against employer contributions at 30 June 2011.
The future benefit of PJFCs has not been reflected as an asset. However the Actuary to the Scheme, in determining the Liability
for Accrued Benefits, provides for the impact of tax on contributions, the value of which is discounted by the tax-effected value
of the PJFCs.
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(a) Income tax expense
The aggregate amount of tax expense attributable to the financial year is as follows:
2011
$’000

2010
$’000

(32,415)

3,095

Deferred tax liabilities

4,098

(2,728)

Deferred tax assets

(5,216)

37,269

22,915

(7,272)

(10,618)

30,364

(10,618)

30,364

(10,618)

30,364

(Increase)/decrease in deferred tax assets

(5,216)

37,269

Decrease/(Increase) in deferred tax liabilities

4,098

(2,728)

(1,118)

34,541

388,955

189,299

388,955

189,299

58,343

28,395

Employee contributions

(98,354)

(79,542)

Untaxed contributions

(67,692)

(94,762)

-

(15,033)

496,955

485,774

54,439

(103,614)

Unrealised capital gain/(losses) recognised

(150,420)

37,269

Current pension exemption

(195,464)

(150,459)

Notional death and disability

(11,650)

(11,186)

Anti-detriment deduction

(1,327)

(1,067)

Non deductible expenses

9,462

8,565

(127,825)

(66,704)

(33,533)

37,636

22,915

(7,272)

(10,618)

30,364

Notes
Current tax

Under/(Over) provided in prior years

6(c)

Total income tax (benefit)/expense
Income tax (benefit)/expense is attributed to:
Profit/(Loss) from continuing operations
Aggregate income tax expense/(benefit)
Deferred income tax (revenue)/expense included in income tax expense comprises:

(b) Reconciliation of income tax (benefit)/expense to prima facie tax payable
Change in net assets before income tax
Tax at the Australian tax rate of 15% (2010-15%)
Tax effect of amounts which are not deductible (taxable) in calculating taxable income:

Unfunded liability transferred in
Benefits paid
Difference between accounting and tax gains

Imputation and foreign tax credits
Under/(Over) provision in prior years
Income tax (benefit)/expense
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6. Income tax (continued)
(c) Income tax receivable/(payable)
2011
$’000

2010
$’000

Opening balance 1 July

12,264

(1,259)

Refunds net of income tax paid

15,317

9,346

Current year‘s income tax expense

32,415

(3,095)

(Under)/Over provision from previous year

(22,915)

7,272

Closing balance at 30 June

37,081

12,264

Unrealised capital losses

26,818

21,602

Contributions receivable

(4,677)

(1,011)

(882)

(450)

21,259

20,141

Deferred tax assets

26,818

21,602

Deferred tax liabilities

(5,559)

(1,461)

21,259

20,141

20,141

54,683

1,118

(34,542)

21,259

20,141

Movements:

(d) Deferred tax assets and liabilities
The balance comprises temporary differences attributable to:

Accrued income
Net deferred tax assets
Presented in the Statement of Financial Position as follows:

Net deferred tax assets
Movements:
Opening balance at 1 July
(Charged)/credited to the Operating Statement
Closing balance at 30 June

Net potential taxable income receivable and unrealised gains are determined in accordance with the year‘s current pension
exemption actuarial certificate.
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7. Net assets to pay benefits and accrued benefits
(a) Net assets available to pay benefits
Restated
opening
balance*
2011
$‘000
Accumulation funds

Benefits
$‘000

Closing
balance
2011
$‘000

Accrued
benefit
liability
$‘000

Surplus /
(Deficit)
2011
$‘000

110,870

(301,356)

1,730,103

(1,730,103)

-

244,792

508,963

(270,685)

5,347,031

(5,109,354)

237,677

9,399,859

1,069,307

1,135,956

(1,796,307)

9,808,815

(25,652,670)

(15,843,855)

15,541,688

1,956,820

1,755,789

(2,368,348)

16,885,949

(32,492,127)

(15,606,178)

Opening
balance
2010
$‘000

Contributions
$‘000

Net
additions
to assets
$‘000

Benefits
$‘000

Closing
balance
2010
$‘000

Accrued
benefit
liability
$‘000

Surplus /
(Deficit)
2010
$‘000

914,290

492,034

74,757

(203,213)

1,277,868

(1,277,868)

-

Defined benefit funds

4,400,136

210,708

491,415

(238,298)

4,863,961

(4,721,162)

142,799

State Super members’ funds

8,974,868

1,077,595

1,049,565

(1,702,169)

9,399,859

(25,548,409)

(16,148,550)

4,053

-

1,353

-

5,406

(5,406)

-

14,293,347

1,780,337

1,617,090

(2,143,680) 15,547,094

(31,552,845)

(16,005,751)

(4,053)

-

(1,353)

-

(5,406)

5,406

-

14,289,294

1,780,337

1,615,737

(2,143,680)

15,541,688

(31,547,439)

(16,005,751)

2011
$’000

Restated*
2010
$’000

32,492,127

31,547,439

2,368,349

2,145,033

944,688

1,093,459

Benefits expense (per Operating Statement)

3,313,037

3,238,492

Accrued benefits at the beginning of the year

31,547,439

30,453,980

944,688

1,093,459

32,492,127

31,547,439

Contributions
$‘000

Net
additions
to assets
$‘000

1,277,868

642,721

Defined benefit funds

4,863,961

State Super members‘ funds
Scheme total

Accumulation funds

Operating Reserve

*

Scheme total
Reverse Operating Reserve
Restated balances*

Refer Note 7(c).

(b) The liability determined by the Actuary in respect of benefits, which have accrued to members
and beneficiaries on the basis of the present value of expected future payments which arise from
membership of the schemes up to 30 June 2011.
(c) Changes in accrued benefits
Benefits expense
Movement in accrued benefits

Movement in accrued benefits - current year
Accrued benefits at the end of the year
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7. Net assets to pay benefits and accrued benefits (continued)
Financial assumptions
The following financial assumptions were used in estimating the accrued benefit liability for the defined benefit funds:
2011
%

2010
%

Investment return - pension assets

8.00

8.00

Investment return - other assets

7.00

7.00

Salary growth due to inflation

4.00

4.00

- 2011/2012

2.50

2.50

- long term

2.50

2.50

Price inflation

The Actuary has adopted two different investment return assumptions. One rate is used in respect of assets backing pension
liabilities (untaxed) and the second rate relates to assets backing other benefits (taxed). The rationale underlying this approach
is that the unfunded liability represents the immediate contribution that would need to be made on the valuation date to put
the Scheme in a fully funded position. In order to calculate the amount of this contribution, it is necessary to consider what
would occur if such a contribution were made and, in particular, what investment return could be achieved on the Scheme’s
assets following this contribution. It is this investment return which is used to discount the liabilities to arrive at the unfunded
liability amount.

*Prior year adjustment
The prior year adjustment results from the change in the accounting treatment for fund reserves maintained by the Board.
Previously the Scheme recognised a receivable from the Board for the value of fund reserves maintained in the Board accounts.
The Board has reviewed this treatment and believes that this amount does not satisfy the criteria for the recognition of an
asset and accordingly such amounts will no longer be accounted for as a receivable. The impact of this change is to reduce
the value of Net Assets as at 30 June 2010 by $5.4m and to reduce the liability for accrued benefits as at 30 June 2010 by an
equivalent amount.
The changes in accrued benefits in Note 7(c) pertaining to the State Superannuation Schemes have been restated to include
this adjustment.

Impact of prior year adjustment to financial statements
This table sets out the impact of the prior year adjustment to the financial statements:
Original
2010
$’000

Adjustment
2010
$’000

Restated*
2010
$’000

114,741

(5,406)

109,335

(31,552,845)

5,406

(31,547,439)

30,458,033

(4,053)

30,453,980

Statement of Financial Position
Other receivables
Liability of accrued benefits
Changes in accrued benefits
Accrued benefits at the beginning of the year
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8. Vested benefits
Vested benefits are benefits which are not conditional upon continued membership of the Scheme (or any factor other
than resignation from the Scheme) and include benefits which members were entitled to receive had they terminated their
membership as at the reporting date (refer Note 16(e)).
2011
$’000

Restated*
2010
$’000

Vested benefits as at 30 June

29,321,905

28,929,923

Net assets as at 30 June

16,885,949

15,541,688

Unfunded liability as at 30 June

15,606,178

16,005,751

2011
$’000

2010
$’000

(2,717)

(2,727)

Short term deposits - Australia

275

306

Enhanced cash trusts - Australia

(11)

-

Enhanced cash trusts - offshore

5,774

10,132

* Refer to note 7(c).

9. Change in net market value of investments

Investments held at the reporting date (unrealised):
Money market deposits

Fixed interest - Australia

57,648

39,234

Fixed interest - offshore

(240,436)

(100,873)

Equity investments - Australia

36,812

26,861

Equity investments - offshore

329,893

290,089

1,082

29,831

Property trusts - unlisted

35,283

(77,262)

Property funds (life insurance statutory funds)

(85,052)

4,718

Infrastructure and development capital

50,752

17,731

189,303

238,040

Property trusts - listed

Investments sold during the year (realised):
Short term deposits - Australia

2,347

4,351

Enhanced cash trusts - Australia

92

18,350

Enhanced cash trusts - offshore

-

7,803

Fixed interest - Australia

35,246

24,509

Fixed interest - offshore

398,793

305,239

Equity investments - Australia

50,121

291,426

Equity investments - offshore

101,820

240,729

Property trusts - listed

6,781

6,524

Property trusts - unlisted

7,663

-

Property funds (life insurance statutory funds)
Infrastructure and development capital
Total

9,623

-

201,008

(1,492)

813,494

897,439

1,002,797

1,135,479
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10. Direct investments expenses
2011
$’000

2010
$’000

47,980

47,115

3,849

3,425

51,829

50,540

1,050

1,028

52,879

51,568

2011
$’000

2010
$’000

28,255

26,338

238

231

2011
$’000

2010
$’000

6,297

5,129

207,809

86,764

214,106

91,893

Fees paid for:
External fund managers’ fees
Custodian fees
Reimbursement of investment expenditure to the Board

11. Administration expenses

Reimbursement of administration expenditure incurred by the Board
Administration expenditure incurred by the Board includes:
Fees for the audit of Financial Statements, paid and / or payable to the Victorian Auditor General

12. Interest revenue

Bank deposits
Investments carried at net market value

13. Statement of cash flows
Reconciliation of change in net assets after income tax for the year to net cash inflow from operating activities:
2011
$’000

2010
$’000

399,574

158,935

(1,037,611)

(1,135,479)

Increase in accrued benefits

944,688

1,094,812

Increase/(decrease) in accounts payable

(13,650)

12,404

(4,332)

1,556

Decrease/(increase) in contributions receivable

(27,013)

12,949

Decrease/(increase) in investment income receivable

(15,981)

3,390

Increase/(decrease) in benefits payable

(2,991)

7,890

Increase/(decrease) in income tax provisions

(8,720)

21,019

Decrease in surcharge provision

(1,388)

(5,355)

232,576

172,121

Change in net assets after income tax for the year
Increase in net market value of investments

Decrease in sundry debtors

Net cash inflow from operating activities
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14. Commitments for expenditure
Calls on unlisted part-paid equity investments

Contracted but not provided for or payable

2011
$’000

2010
$’000

465,938

609,601

Operating lease commitments
At 30 June 2011 the Scheme had no operating lease commitments.

15. Related entity information
(a) Responsible persons
The names of persons who were responsible during the year and up to the date of signing the financial report were:
The Honourable Gordon Rich-Phillips, Assistant Treasurer MLC (8 December 2010). The remuneration details of the responsible
minister are detailed in the financial statements of the Department of Premier and Cabinet. The previous responsible minister
was the Honourable Tim Holding.
The Trustee of the Scheme is the Board. The Board Members and their Deputies are:
Board Members:

Deputy Members:

Government Appointed

Government Appointed

■■

Mr Frank King, President

■■

Ms Sylvia Falzon (resignation announced 11 July 2011)

■■

Ms Deborah Beale (resigned 31 May 2011)

■■

Mr Ian Gaudion

■■

Mr Christopher Dalton

■■

Mr Douglas Kearsley

■■

Mr Bob Herbert AM (appointed 1 July 2010)

■■

Ms Pamela Mitchell

■■

Ms Liberty Sanger

Member Elected
■■
■■

Member Elected
■■

Mr Dean Glare

■■

Mr Philip Jones

■■

Mr Alex Gagachef (appointed 22 March 2011)

■■

■■

Mr Michael Stephenson

■■

■■

Mr Phil Wilson (appointed 22 March 2011)

■■

Ms Angela Stringer (appointed 14 September 2010)

■■

Mr Graeme Larkin (resigned 31 January 2011)

■■

Mr William Lyons (resigned 25 February 2011)

■■

■■

■■

Mr Russell Walsh, Deputy for Philip Jones
Mr Philip Wilson (ceased 21 March 2011),
Deputy for Graeme Larkin
Mr Alexander Gagachef (ceased 21 March 2011),
Deputy for William Lyons
Mr John Taplin, Deputy for Michael Stephenson
Ms Carolyn Joy Clancy (appointed 14 September 2010),
Deputy for Dean Glare
Mr Roger Schranz (appointed 22 March 2011),
Deputy for Phil Wilson
Ms John Banjanin (appointed 14 September 2010),
Deputy for Angela Stringer

Chief Executive Officer
■■

Mr Michael Dundon (resigned 23 May 2011)

■■

Mr Mark Puli, Acting CEO (appointed 24 May 2011)
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15. Related entity information (continued)
(b) Remuneration
No remuneration was paid by the Scheme to Board Members or Board Executive Officers. However, the Board, a related entity,
remunerates the Board Members. The remuneration details are disclosed in the financial report of the Board.
The following Board Members and Deputy Members are members of the Scheme:
Government Appointed
■■

Mr Frank King

■■

Mr Chris Dalton

Deputy - Government Appointed
■■

Mr Douglas Kearsey

Deputy - Member Elected

Member Elected

■■

Mr Russell Walsh

■■

Mr Philip Jones

■■

Mr Philip Wilson (ceased 21 March 2011)

■■

Mr Dean Glare

■■

Mr Alexander Gagachef (ceased 21 March 2011)

■■

Mr Graeme Larkin (resigned 31 January 2011)

■■

Mr John Taplin

■■

Mr William Lyons (resigned 25 February 2011)

■■

Mr Carolyn Joy Clancy (appointed 14 September 2011)

■■

Mr Michael Stephenson

■■

Mr John Banjanin (appointed 14 September 2011)

■■

Ms Angela Stringer (14 September 2010)

■■

Mr Roger Schranz (appointed 22 March 2011)

■■

Mr Alex Gagachef (appointed 22 March 2011)

■■

Mr Phillip Wilson (appointed 22 March 2011)

All contributions and benefits accruing to the above are determined in accordance with normal terms and conditions
of membership.

(c) Retirement benefits
No retirement benefits were paid by the Scheme to Board Members in their capacity as Board Members.

(d) Loans
No loans were provided by the Scheme to Board Members.

(e) Transactions with responsible persons and related entities
The aggregate amounts brought to account in respect of the following types of transactions and each class of related entity were:
Transaction Type

Nature and terms
and conditions

Other related entity

2011
$’000

2010
$’000

Fund administration fees

On a cost recovery basis

The Board

28,255

26,338

Investment management fees

On a cost recovery basis

The Board

1,050

1,028

29,305

27,366
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(f) Amounts payable to other related entities

Emergency Services
Superannuation Board

2011
$’000

2010
$’000

2,131

3,931

Amounts payable to related entities at balance date
are disclosed in note 5. This represents the outstanding
reimbursement payable to the Board for administration
expenditure.

(g) Other transactions
Other related transactions and loans requiring disclosure
under the Directions of the Minister for Finance have been
considered and there are no matters to report.

16. Financial risk management
(a) Objectives, strategies, policies and processes
The assets of the Scheme principally consist of financial
instruments which comprise listed and unlisted equities,
fixed term deposits, cash, listed and unlisted property and
infrastructure trusts, derivative contracts and other unitised
investments. VFMC in consultation with the Board has
determined that these types of investments are appropriate
for the Scheme and are in accordance with the requirements
of the Borrowing and Investment Powers Act 1987 and the
investment guidelines contained in the Prudential Statement
issued by the Victorian Treasurer.
For the Defined Benefit funds, the Board has adopted a
framework for managing the investment process that
involves the use of an external adviser and implementation
manager, VFMC. The Scheme‘s internal investment team
(as employees of the Board) are responsible for managing
this relationship and reporting to the Board throughout
the year. This framework which involves both internal and
external parties provides a high level of risk management
and governance.

VFMC is responsible for determining the allocation of assets
between the various types of investments described above
in accordance with the investment strategy to achieve each
of the Scheme’s investment objectives.
With regard to Accumulation assets, the Board‘s investment
team are responsible for implementation activities.
Towers Watson support the Board‘s investment team by
providing contracted services to the accumulation assets
which include Product Design, Asset Allocation, Portfolio
Construction and Manager Selection.
External specialist investment managers (including VFMC)
are used to manage all of the Scheme’s assets. These
managers are selected on the basis of their skills in investing
within specific markets and assets. All managers are engaged
on a contractual basis and have performance objectives to
achieve which are monitored.
The Board has established an Investment Committee,
consisting of Board Members with appropriate investment
experience. The Investment Committee receives quarterly
risk management reports from VFMC and Towers Watson
in relation to Defined Benefit assets and accumulation
assets respectively, as well as internal management reports.
The Investment Committee reports to the Board on its
activities. Divergence from target asset allocations and the
composition of the portfolio is monitored by the Scheme’s
investment managers on a daily basis. Reports from VFMC
include the following:
■■

Details of the controls it has in place to monitor
compliance with the Scheme’s investment strategy;

■■

Current asset allocations against target positions;

■■

Investment performance against benchmarks; and

■■

Fund manager compliance reporting.
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16. Financial risk management (continued)

(b) Market risk

The Board’s Audit, Risk Management & Finance Committee
oversees the process used by management to monitor
compliance with the Scheme’s risk management policies and
procedures and review the adequacy of the risk management
framework in relation to the risks faced by the Scheme. The
Audit, Risk Management & Finance Committee is assisted in
its oversight role by Internal Audit. Internal Audit undertakes
both regular and ad hoc reviews of risk management controls
and procedures, the results of which are reported to the
Audit, Risk Management & Finance Committee.

Market risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows
of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes
in market prices. Market risk comprises three types of risk:
price risk, foreign currency risk and interest rate risk. Market
risk is managed and monitored using sensitivity analysis, and
minimised through ensuring that all investment activities
are undertaken in accordance with established mandates
and investment strategies. This includes managing and
controlling risk exposures, within acceptable parameters
while optimising investment returns.

The Scheme’s investing activities expose it to the following
risks from its use of financial instruments:

(i) Price risk

■■

Market risk;

■■

Credit risk; and

■■

Liquidity risk.

The Scheme uses different methods to measure different
types of risk to which it is exposed. These methods include
sensitivity analysis in the case of interest rate, foreign exchange
and other price risks, and ratings analysis for credit risk.
As part of its risk management strategy, the Scheme uses
derivatives and other investments, including share price
and bond futures, swaps and forward currency contracts, to
manage exposures resulting from changes in interest rates,
foreign currencies, equity price risks, and exposures arising
from forecast transactions.
NAB Asset Servicing (NAS) acts as the master custodian on
behalf of the Board and as such provides services including
physical custody and safekeeping of assets, settlement
of trades, collection of dividends and accounting for
investment transactions.
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Equity price risk is the risk that the fair value of equities will
fluctuate because of changes in market prices, whether
those changes are caused by factors specific to the individual
financial instrument or its issuer, or factors affecting all similar
financial instruments traded in the market.
Equity price risk exposure arises from the Scheme’s
investment portfolio. All securities investments present a risk
of loss of capital. Except for equities sold short, the maximum
risk resulting from financial instruments is determined by the
fair value of the financial instruments. Possible losses from
equities sold short can be unlimited.
The Investment Manager VFMC and the internal investment
team mitigate this price risk through diversification and a
careful selection of securities and other financial instruments
within specified limits set by the Board.
The Scheme’s overall market positions are monitored on a
daily basis by VFMC and the internal investment team and
are reviewed on a quarterly basis by the Board.
Compliance with the Scheme’s Product Disclosure
Statement is reported to the Board on a monthly basis.

(ii) Foreign exchange risk

Net assets attributable to members include investments in
debt and equity securities and related derivatives. As at
30 June 2011, the overall market exposures were as follows:

The foreign exchange risk is the risk that the fair value or
future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate
because of changes in foreign exchange rates.

As at
30 June
2011
$’000

30 June
2010
$’000

Securities held for trading

-

-

Derivatives assets held
for trading

-

-

Derivatives liabilities
held for trading

-

-

16,828,297

15,542,126

-

-

Securities designated
at fair value through
profit or loss
Securities short sold

Short sales made by the Scheme involve certain risks and
special considerations. Possible losses from short sales differ
from losses that could be incurred from a purchase of a
security, because losses from short sales may be unlimited,
whereas losses from purchases cannot exceed the total
amount invested.
At 30 June 2011, if the equity prices had increased by 10%
(2010: 10%) with all other variables held constant, this
would have increased net assets attributable to members
by approximately $869.2m (2010: $901.7m). Conversely, if
the equity prices had decreased by 10% (2010: 10%), this
would have decreased net assets attributable to members by
approximately $869.2m (2010: $901.7m).

The Scheme holds assets denominated in currencies other
than the Australian dollar, its functional currency. It is
therefore exposed to foreign exchange risk, as the value of
the securities denominated in other currencies will fluctuate
due to changes in exchange rates. The risk is measured using
sensitivity analysis.
In accordance with the Scheme’s policy, VFMC and the
internal investment team monitor the Scheme’s currency
position on a daily basis, and the Board reviews it on a
quarterly basis. Compliance with the Scheme’s policy is
reported to the Board on a monthly basis.
The foreign exchange risk disclosures have been prepared on
the basis of the Scheme’s direct investment and not on a lookthrough basis for investments held indirectly through unit
trusts. Consequently the disclosure of currency risk in the note
may not represent the true currency risk profile of the Scheme
where the unit trust has significant investments in other trusts
which also have exposure to the currency markets.
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16. Financial risk management (continued)
The table below summarises the Scheme’s exposure to foreign exchange risk:

30 June 2011

Australian
Dollars
A$’000

US Dollars
A$’000

Euro
A$’000

Japanese
Yen
A$’000

British
Pounds
A$’000

Other
currencies
A$’000

Total
A$’000

793,322

231,149

104,787

191,379

295,596

4,537,505

Assets
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Designated at fair value through profit or loss
Listed equities

2,921,272

Listed unit trusts

113,783

5,273

-

-

-

311

119,367

Listed property trusts

260,172

1,921

-

-

932

-

263,025

Unlisted equities

136,163

184,164

-

-

5,016

33,434

358,777

836

275,417

82,946

-

-

-

359,199

5,297,019

730,089

2,725

-

-

-

6,029,833

-

-

-

-

-

4,069

4,069

Unlisted unit trusts
Unlisted managed investment schemes
Preference share redeemable
Perpetual securities

389

-

-

-

-

-

389

Convertible notes

226

281

-

-

-

-

507

Fixed interest bonds

941,734

97,918

27,555

-

5,789

1,298

1,074,294

Indexed annuities

452,038

-

-

-

-

-

452,038

Indexed bonds

725,961

-

-

-

-

-

725,961

Floating rate notes

247,785

-

864

-

271

-

248,920

98,888

1,581

-

-

-

-

100,469

3,215

191

-

-

-

-

3,406

Mortgage backed securities
Asset backed securities
Discounted securities
Swaps
Futures
Warrants
Life insurance policies
Venture capital limited partnership
Cash and deposits
Outstanding settlements
Forward foreign exchange contracts
Accrued expenses
Total assets

77,223

-

-

-

-

-

77,223

2,621,041

5,780

124,048

-

-

16,434

2,767,303

56,645

-

-

-

-

-

56,645

4,444

9,750

869

1,238

751

641

17,693

42,966

-

-

-

-

-

42,966

30,557

-

-

-

-

-

30,557

2,018,663

57,140

707

751

820

2,411

2,080,492

80,934

177,416

1,113

66

1,964

1,057

262,550

1,563

44,846

4,886

729

13,988

3,333

69,345

6,000

20,755

-

-

-

-

26,755

16,139,517

2,405,844

476,862

107,571

220,910

358,584

19,709,288

(2,560,229)

(64,150)

(124,046)

-

-

(16,465)

(2,764,890)

Liabilities
Swaps

(1,171)

(21)

-

-

-

(75)

(1,267)

Cash and deposits

Futures

(16,224)

(2,888)

(619)

(571)

(208)

(1,558)

(22,068)

Outstanding settlements

(70,624)

(5,089)

(1,335)

(90)

(385)

(223)

(77,746)

Forward foreign exchange contracts

(5,530)

(5,249)

(1,201)

(450)

-

(2,590)

(15,020)

Total liabilities (excluding net assets
attributable to members)

(2,653,778)

(77,397)

(127,201)

(1,111)

(593)

(20,911)

(2,880,991)

Net assets attributable to members

13,485,739

2,328,447

349,661

106,460

220,317

337,673

16,828,297
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30 June 2010

Australian
Dollars
A$’000

US Dollars
A$’000

Euro
A$’000

Japanese
Yen
A$’000

British
Pounds
A$’000

Other
currencies
A$’000

Total
A$’000

Assets
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Designated at fair value through profit or loss
3,341,527

919,085

199,309

120,910

138,237

326,263

5,045,331

Listed unit trusts

Listed equities

137,479

5,800

-

-

-

239

143,518

Listed property trusts

210,264

3,959

-

-

992

673

215,888

61,403

121,514

-

-

11,561

22,845

217,323

-

227,509

59,402

-

-

-

286,911

4,473,933

826,749

-

-

-

-

5,300,682

Unlisted equities
Unlisted unit trusts
Unlisted managed investment schemes
Preference share redeemable
Perpetual securities
Convertible notes

-

-

-

-

-

3,695

3,695

373

-

-

-

-

-

373

226

307

-

-

-

-

533

Fixed interest bonds

660,302

55,612

23,392

-

5,535

1,175

746,016

Indexed annuities

501,219

-

-

-

-

-

501,219

Indexed bonds

637,174

-

-

-

-

-

637,174

Floating rate notes

175,500

4,280

617

-

-

-

180,397

Mortgage backed securities

143,247

10,666

-

-

-

-

153,913

58,106

-

-

-

-

-

58,106

Asset backed securities
Discounted securities
Swaps
Futures
Life insurance policies
Venture capital limited partnership
Cash and deposits

89,460

-

-

-

-

-

89,460

722,632

218

-

-

-

-

722,850

1,721

-

-

-

-

-

1,721

158,054

-

-

-

-

-

158,054

37,408

-

-

-

-

-

37,408

1,683,143

266,634

2,271

711

421

4,570

1,957,750

Outstanding settlements

68,265

22,720

1,228

2,666

945

3,008

98,832

Forward foreign exchange contracts

16,594

12,530

3,650

-

4

2,972

35,750

Accrued expenses
Total assets

136,061

-

-

-

-

-

136,061

13,314,091

2,477,583

289,869

124,287

157,695

365,440

16,728,965

-

(5)

-

-

-

-

(5)

(704,338)

(55,090)

-

-

-

-

(759,428)

Liabilities
Fixed interest bonds
Swaps
Futures

(22,590)

(12,965)

(800)

(318)

(695)

(542)

(37,910)

Cash and deposits

(13,237)

(3,539)

-

(1,108)

(1,023)

(443)

(19,350)

Outstanding settlements

(93,679)

(21,846)

(1,594)

(14)

(28)

(777)

(117,938)

(1,445)

(105,132)

(3,359)

(16,554)

(11,552)

(8,566)

(146,608)

(105,600)

-

-

-

-

-

(105,600)

(940,889)

(198,577)

(5,753)

(17,994)

(13,298)

(10,328)

(1,186,839)

12,373,202

2,279,006

284,116

106,293

144,397

355,112

15,542,126

Forward foreign exchange contracts
Accrued expenses
Total liabilities (excluding net assets
attributable to members)
Net assets attributable to members

Proudly serving our members | 67

Emergency Services Superannuation Scheme
Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 30 June 2011 (continued)

16. Financial risk management (continued)
At 30 June 2011, had the Australian dollar weakened/strengthened by 10% (2010: 10%) against other currencies to which the
Scheme is exposed to, with all other variables held constant, the increase/(decrease) respectively in net assets attributable to
members would amount to approximately $7m/($9m) (2010:$34m/($42m)), respectively.
(iii) Interest rate risk
Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in
market interest rates.
The Scheme’s interest-bearing financial assets and financial liabilities expose it to risks associated with the effects of fluctuations
in the prevailing levels of market interest rates on its financial position and cash flows. The Scheme has established limits on
investments in interest-bearing assets, which are monitored on a daily basis. The Scheme may use derivatives to hedge against
unexpected increases in interest rates. The risk is measured using sensitivity analysis.
In accordance with the Scheme’s policy, VFMC and the internal investment team monitor the Scheme’s overall interest
sensitivity on a daily basis, and the Board reviews it on a quarterly basis. Compliance with the Scheme’s policy is reported to the
Board on a monthly basis.
The table below summarises the Scheme’s exposure to interest rate risks. It includes the Scheme’s assets and liabilities at net
market values, categorised by the maturity dates:

30 June 2011

Weighted
average
interest
rate
%

Floating
interest
rate
$’000

3 months
or less
$’000

4 to 12
months
$’000

1 to 5
years
$’000

Over 5
years
$’000

Noninterest
bearing
$’000

Total
$’000

Assets
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Designated at fair value through profit or loss
Listed equities

-

-

-

-

-

-

4,537,505

4,537,505

Listed unit trusts

-

-

-

-

-

-

119,367

119,367

Listed property trusts

-

-

-

-

-

-

263,025

263,025

Unlisted equities

-

-

-

-

-

-

358,777

358,777

Unlisted unit trusts

-

-

-

-

-

-

359,199

359,199

 Unlisted managed
investment schemes

-

-

-

-

-

-

6,029,833

6,029,833

 Preference share
redeemable

-

-

-

-

-

-

4,069

4,069

Perpetual securities

2.14

-

-

-

-

389

-

389

Convertible notes

3.60

-

-

-

147

98

262

507

Fixed interest bonds

5.55

-

13,379

34,568

521,728

504,619

-

1,074,294

Indexed annuities

4.81

452,038

-

-

-

-

-

452,038

Indexed bonds

3.59

725,961

-

-

-

-

-

725,961
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Weighted
average
interest
rate
%

Floating
interest
rate
$’000

3 months
or less
$’000

4 to 12
months
$’000

1 to 5
years
$’000

Over 5
years
$’000

Noninterest
bearing
$’000

Total
$’000

3.11

248,920

-

-

-

-

-

248,920

5.11

100,469

-

-

-

-

-

100,469

Asset backed securities

5.06

3,406

-

-

-

-

-

3,406

Loans

2.46

77,223

-

-

-

-

-

77,223

Discounted securities

4.90

-

56,645

-

-

-

-

56,645

Swaps

5.01

2,767,303

-

-

-

-

-

2,767,303

Futures

-

1,334

-

-

-

-

16,359

17,693

Life insurance policies

-

-

-

-

-

-

42,966

42,966

 Venture capital limited
partnership

-

-

-

-

-

-

30,557

30,557

5.07

626,865

1,453,627

-

-

-

-

2,080,492

 Outstanding
settlements

-

-

-

-

-

-

262,550

262,550

 Forward foreign
exchange contracts

-

-

-

-

-

-

69,345

69,345

Accrued expenses

-

-

-

-

-

-

26,755

26,755

5,003,519

1,523,651

34,568

521,875

505,106

12,120,569

19,709,288

3.29

(2,764,890)

-

-

-

-

-

(2,764,890)

-

(1,192)

-

-

-

-

(75)

(1,267)

3.20

(44)

(22,024)

-

-

-

-

(22,068)

 Outstanding
settlements

-

-

-

-

-

-

(77,746)

(77,746)

 Forward foreign
exchange contracts

-

-

-

-

-

-

(15,020)

(15,020)

Total liabilities
(excluding net assets
attributable to members)

(2,766,126)

(22,024)

-

-

-

(92,841)

(2,880,991)

Net assets attributable
to members

2,237,393

1,501,627

34,568

521,875

505,106

12,027,728

16,828,297

30 June 2011
Floating rate notes
 Mortgage backed
securities

Cash and deposits

Total assets
Liabilities
Swaps
Futures
Cash and deposits
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16. Financial risk management (continued)

30 June 2010

Weighted
average
interest
rate
%

Floating
interest
rate
$’000

3 months
or less
$’000

4 to 12
months
$’000

1 to 5
years
$’000

Over 5
years
$’000

Noninterest
bearing
$’000

Total
$’000

Assets
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Designated at fair value through profit or loss
Listed equities

-

-

-

-

-

-

5,045,331

5,045,331

Listed unit trusts

-

-

-

-

-

-

143,518

143,518

Listed property trusts

-

-

-

-

-

-

215,888

215,888

Unlisted equities

-

-

-

-

-

-

217,323

217,323

Unlisted unit trusts

-

-

-

-

-

-

286,911

286,911

 Unlisted managed
investment schemes

-

-

-

-

-

-

5,300,682

5,300,682

 Preference share
redeemable

-

-

-

-

-

-

3,695

3,695

Perpetual securities

2.26

-

-

-

-

373

-

373

Convertible notes

3.68

-

-

-

144

119

270

533

Fixed interest bonds

5.74

-

5,846

27,648

357,842

354,680

-

746,016

Indexed annuities

5.05

501,219

-

-

-

-

-

501,219

Indexed bonds

3.70

637,174

-

-

-

-

-

637,174

Floating rate notes

3.16

180,397

-

-

-

-

-

180,397

5.64

153,913

-

-

-

-

-

153,913

16.95

58,106

-

-

-

-

-

58,106

Discounted securities

4.74

-

89,460

-

-

-

-

89,460

Swaps

5.08

722,850

-

-

-

-

-

722,850

Futures

-

1,721

-

-

-

-

-

1,721

Life insurance policies

-

-

-

-

-

-

158,054

158,054

 Venture capital limited
partnership

-

-

-

-

-

-

37,408

37,408

4.91

802,498

1,155,252

-

-

-

-

1,957,750

-

-

-

-

-

-

98,832

98,832

 Forward foreign
exchange contracts

-

-

-

-

-

-

35,750

35,750

Accrued expenses

-

-

-

-

-

-

136,061

136,061

3,057,878

1,250,558

27,648

357,986

355,172

11,679,723

16,728,965

 Mortgage backed
securities
Asset backed securities

Cash and deposits
Outstanding settlements

Total assets
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Weighted
average
interest
rate
%

Floating
interest
rate
$’000

3 months
or less
$’000

4 to 12
months
$’000

1 to 5
years
$’000

Over 5
years
$’000

Noninterest
bearing
$’000

Total
$’000

Fixed interest bonds

-

-

-

-

-

-

(5)

(5)

Swaps

-

(759,428)

-

-

-

-

-

(759,428)

Futures

-

(1,895)

-

-

-

-

(36,015)

(37,910)

9.00

(11)

(19,339)

-

-

-

-

(19,350)

 Outstanding
settlements

-

-

-

-

-

-

(117,938)

(117,938)

 Forward foreign
exchange contracts

-

-

-

-

-

-

(146,608)

(146,608)

Accrued expenses

-

-

-

-

-

-

(105,600)

(105,600)

Total liabilities
(excluding net assets
attributable to members)

(761,334)

(19,339)

-

-

-

(406,166)

(1,186,839)

Net assets attributable
to members

2,296,544

1,231,219

27,648

357,986

355,172

11,273,557

15,542,126

30 June 2010
Liabilities

Cash and deposits

At 30 June 2011, should interest rates have lowered by 50 basis points (2010: 50 basis points) with all other variables held
constant, the increase in net assets attributable to members for the year would amount to approximately $78.0m (2010:
$68.1m). If interest rates had risen by 50 basis points (2010: 50 basis points), the decrease in net assets attributable to members
would amount to approximately $77.0m (2010: $68.1m). These increases/decreases in net assets attributable to members are
calculated on an undiscounted basis.

(c) Credit risk
Credit risk represents the risk that a counterparty will default on its contract obligations resulting in financial loss to the Scheme.
Investment powers have been delegated to the Scheme’s appointed investment managers subject to the restrictions imposed
on the Board by the Borrowing and Investment Powers Act 1987. VFMC manages credit risk through dealing with creditworthy
counterparties. Credit risk is controlled through VFMC and the internal risk management policies which deal with credit
exposure limits, counterparty limits, dealing limits and broker limits. VFMC and the internal investment team monitor the
performance of the VFMC/Scheme appointed investment managers on an ongoing basis and reports periodically to the Board.
The net market value of financial assets, including derivatives included in the financial statements, represents the Scheme’s
exposure to credit risk related to those assets.
The Scheme does not have any significant exposure to any individual counterparty or industry. Its assets are invested by
individual investment managers and in specific investment trusts.
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16. Financial risk management (continued)
(d) Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that an entity will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations associated with financial liabilities and
the liability for member benefits as they arise. This risk is controlled through the Scheme’s investment in financial instruments,
which under normal market conditions are readily convertible to cash. In addition, the Scheme maintains sufficient cash and
cash equivalents to meet normal operating requirements.
The Scheme’s governing Act provides for the daily receipt of contributions and the payment of benefits and it is therefore
exposed to the liquidity risk of meeting members’ benefit payments requirements as they fall due. In accordance with the
Scheme’s policy, the Finance Division monitors the Scheme’s liquidity position on a daily basis making advances or recalls of
investment funds to/from VFMC or NAS as required, the Board reviews it on a quarterly basis and the Actuary reviews it annually.
Sufficient funds are maintained at call to meet anticipated short term requirements.
The Scheme may, from time to time, invest in derivative contracts traded over the counter, which are not traded in an organised
market and may be illiquid. As a result, the Scheme may not be able to liquidate quickly its investments in these instruments at
an amount close to their fair value to meet its liquidity requirements or to respond to specific events such as a deterioration in
the creditworthiness of any particular issuer. No such investments were held at the Statement of Financial Position date.
Maturity analysis for financial liabilities
The table below analyses the Scheme’s financial liabilities and net settled derivative financial liabilities into relevant maturity
groupings based on the remaining period at the Statement of Financial Position date to the contractual maturity date. The
amounts in the table are the contractual undiscounted cash flows.
Less than
1 month
$’000

1-3
months
$’000

3-12
months
$’000

12-60
months
$’000

60+ months
$’000

No stated
maturity
$’000

Financial liabilities at fair value
through profit or loss

-

-

-

-

-

2,880,991

Accrued benefits

-

-

-

-

-

-

Payables

-

118,258

-

-

-

-

Accrued expenses

-

-

-

-

-

-

Total financial liabilities

-

118,258

-

-

-

2,880,991

Financial liabilities at fair value
through profit or loss

-

-

-

-

-

1,186,839

Accrued benefits

-

(199,833)

-

-

-

-

Payables

-

-

-

-

-

-

Accrued expenses

-

-

-

-

-

-

Total financial liabilities

-

(199,833)

-

-

-

1,186,839

At 30 June 2011

At 30 June 2010
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The table below analyses the Scheme’s derivative financial instruments that will be settled on a gross basis into relevant
maturity groupings based on the remaining period to the contractual maturity date. The amounts disclosed in the table are the
contractual undiscounted cash flows.
Less than
1 month
$’000

1-3
months
$’000

3-12
months
$’000

12-60
months
$’000

60+
months
$’000

No stated
maturity
$’000

- Outflow

1,224,936

3,699,412

1,304,815

342,167

454,584

-

- Inflow

(1,253,895)

(3,724,190)

(1,319,422)

(343,410)

(458,159)

(2)

- Outflow

1,659,342

3,759,332

433,186

58,372

319,344

-

- Inflow

1,576,690

3,711,914

375,969

57,702

323,676

23

At 30 June 2011
Options

At 30 June 2010
Options

(e) Insolvency risk
The members’ vested benefit of $29,322 million (2010: $28,930 million) exceeds the net assets of the Scheme of $16,886 million
(2010: $15,542 million) (refer Note 8).
State-funded and self-funded employers make contributions on the basis of the accruing cost of benefits for active members.
Commonwealth funded employers contribute on a pay-as-you-go basis when member benefits are paid. This method of
funding is not sufficient to address the excess of liabilities over assets.
The members’ accrued benefit of $32,492 million (2010: $31,547 million) exceeds the net assets of the Scheme of $16,886
million (2010: $15,542 million), leaving an unfunded liability of $15,606 million (2010: $16,005 million).
The Scheme is largely dependent on the Victorian Government to fund the remaining unfunded liability. At the discretion of
the Treasurer, the Consolidated Fund contributes additional amounts. Within a funding framework announced in the Victorian
Government 2000-01 Budget Statement, the previous Victorian Government anticipated that the Scheme would become fully funded
for the State’s portion of the liability in 2035, with the balance being funded by Commonwealth agencies on a pay-as-you-go basis.
In its interim report released in April 2011, the Independent Review of State Finances recommended retention of the previous
Victorian Government’s 2035 full funding target date for superannuation liabilities. The Review Panel is due to provide its final
report to Government in early 2012, after which the Victorian Government will provide a formal response to all recommendations.
Subsequent to year end the Government has confirmed to the Board that it remains fully committed to funding the liabilities of
its public sector superannuation schemes.

(f) Fair value measurements recognised in the Statement of Financial Position
The following table provides an analysis of financial instruments that are measured subsequent to initial recognition at fair value,
grouped into Levels 1 to 3 based on the degree to which the fair value is observable.
■■
■■

■■

Level 1 fair value measurements are those derived from quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets and liabilities.
Level 2 fair value measurements are those derived from inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are
observable for the asset or liability, either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices).
Level 3 fair value measurements are those derived from valuation techniques that include inputs for the asset or liability that
are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs).
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16. Financial risk management (continued)
Level 1
$’000

Level 2
$’000

Level 3
$’000

Total
$’000

4,537,472

27

6

4,537,505

Listed unit trusts

119,367

-

-

119,367

Listed property trusts

263,025

-

-

263,025

554

333,756

24,467

358,777

Unlisted unit trusts

-

359,199

-

359,199

Unlisted managed investment schemes

-

5,670,945

358,888

6,029,833

4,069

-

-

4,069

Perpetual securities

-

389

-

389

Convertible notes

-

281

226

507

Fixed interest bonds

-

1,074,294

-

1,074,294

Indexed annuities

-

452,038

-

452,038

Indexed bonds

-

725,961

-

725,961

3,747

243,927

1,246

248,920

Mortgage backed securities

-

100,469

-

100,469

Discounted securities

-

56,645

-

56,645

Swaps

-

2,767,303

-

2,767,303

16,299

1,394

-

17,693

At 30 June 2011
Financial assets
Listed equities

Unlisted equities

Preference shares redeemable

Floating rate notes

Futures
Life insurance policies

-

42,966

-

42,966

2,080,492

-

-

2,080,492

262,550

-

-

262,550

-

69,345

-

69,345

26,755

-

-

26,755

Venture capital limited partnership

-

30,557

-

30,557

Asset-backed securities

-

3,406

-

3,406

Loans

-

75,636

1,587

77,223

7,314,330

12,008,538

386,420

19,709,288

(22,068)

-

-

(22,068)

-

(15,020)

-

(15,020)

(1,267)

-

-

(1,267)

(77,746)

-

-

(77,746)

-

(2,764,890)

-

(2,764,890)

(101,081)

(2,779,910)

-

(2,880,991)

7,213,249

9,228,628

386,420

16,828,297

Cash and deposits
Outstanding settlements
Forward foreign exchange contracts
Accrued expenses

Financial liabilities
Cash and deposits
Forward foreign exchange contracts
Futures
Outstanding settlements
Swaps

The fair values of financial assets equate to the market value determinations as set out in Note 2(c).
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Level 1
$‘000

Level 2
$‘000

Level 3
$‘000

Total
$‘000

5,042,627

2,699

-

5,045,326

Listed unit trusts

143,518

-

-

143,518

Listed property trusts

215,888

-

-

215,888

1,027

216,296

-

217,323

Unlisted unit trusts

-

5,358,786

-

5,358,786

Unlisted managed investment schemes

-

286,911

-

286,911

3,695

-

-

3,695

-

373

-

373

306

226

-

532

-

746,015

-

746,015

84,725

416,494

-

501,219

Indexed bonds

-

637,174

-

637,174

Floating rate notes

-

178,770

1,626

180,396

Mortgage backed securities

-

143,247

10,666

153,913

Discounted securities

-

89,460

-

89,460

Swaps

-

722,850

-

722,850

1,721

-

-

1,721

Life insurance policies

-

158,054

-

158,054

Unlisted partnerships

-

37,408

-

37,408

1,957,754

-

-

1,957,754

98,832

-

-

98,832

-

35,750

-

35,750

30,461

-

-

30,461

7,580,554

9,030,513

12,292

16,623,359

(19,350)

-

-

(19,350)

At 30 June 2010
Financial assets
Listed equities

Unlisted equities

Preference shares redeemable
Perpetual securities
Convertible notes
Fixed interest bonds
Indexed annuities

Futures

Cash and deposits
Outstanding settlements
Forward foreign exchange contracts
Accrued expenses
Financial liabilities
Cash and deposits
Forward foreign exchange contracts
Futures
Outstanding settlements
Swaps

-

(146,607)

-

(146,607)

(37,910)

-

-

(37,910)

(117,938)

-

-

(117,938)

-

(759,428)

-

(759,428)

(175,198)

(906,035)

-

(1,081,233)

7,405,356

8,124,478

12,292

15,542,126

The fair values of financial assets equate to the market value determinations are set out in Note 2(c).
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16. Financial risk management (continued)
(g) Level 3 Financial instrument transactions
The following table shows a reconciliation of the movement in the fair value of financial instruments categorised within Level 3
between the beginning and the end of the reporting period.

Floating
Rate Note
$‘000

Unlisted
Managed
Investment
Schemes
$‘000

Convertible
Notes
$‘000

Unlisted
Equities
$‘000

Listed
Equities
$‘000

Loans
$‘000

Total
$‘000

10,666

1,626

-

-

-

-

-

12,292

Total realised / unrealised
gains and losses

(3,075)

(380)

-

-

-

-

-

(3,455)

Purchases / applications

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

(7,591)

-

-

-

-

-

-

(7,591)

Issues

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

Settlements

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

Transfers into Level 3

-

-

358,888

226

24,467

6

1,587

385,174

Transfers out of Level 3

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

Closing balance

-

1,246

358,888

226

24,467

6

1,587

386,420

Opening balance

Sales / Redemptions

Mortgage
Backed
Securities
$‘000

Gains or losses recognised in the Operating Statement for Level 3 transactions are presented in the movement in net market
value of investments as follows:

Total gains/(losses)
recognised in the
Operating Statement
for the period
Total gains/(losses)
recognised in the
Operating Statement
for the period for assets
held at the end of the
reporting period

Floating
Rate Note
$‘000

Unlisted
Managed
Investment
Schemes
$‘000

Convertible
Notes
$‘000

Unlisted
Equities
$‘000

Listed
Equities
$‘000

Loans
$‘000

Total
$‘000

(3,075)

(380)

-

-

-

-

-

(3,455)

-

(60)

-

-

-

-

-

(60)

Mortgage
Backed
Securities
$‘000

Investment in Life Settlements ($263.1 million) and VFMC Finance Trust ($95.9 million) were reclassified from Level 2 to Level 3
due to valuation techniques for which significant inputs are not based on observable market data.
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(h) Transfers between hierarchy levels
There have been no significant transfers between Level 1
and Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy during the year.

(i) Estimation uncertainty
As described in Note 2(c), the value of certain investments
is subject to significant estimation uncertainty. These
investments are identified as follows:
■■

■■

all Level 3 investment which represent 2.31% of the
Scheme‘s total investments assets; and
Level 2 investment to the value of $519.4m representing
3.11% of the Scheme‘s total investments assets, being
classified as:
––

Unlisted managed investment schemes ($315.4 million)

––

Unlisted unit trusts ($135.6 million)

––

Unlisted equities ($38.4 million)

––

Life insurance policies ($30.0 million).

The Department of Treasury and Finance have advised
the Scheme that the Victorian Government’s Statement of
Financial Position as at 30 June 2011 reflects approximately
$17.8 billion (2010: $19.0 billion) unfunded superannuation
liability in respect of the Scheme. This unfunded liability is
approximately $2.2 billion (2010: $3.0 billion) greater than
the unfunded liability reflected in the Scheme’s Statement
of Financial Position. The Victorian Government does not
include the unfunded liabilities attached to Commonwealth
funded agencies administered by the Scheme.

18. Subsequent events
There has not been any matter or circumstance occurring
subsequent to the end of the financial year that has
significantly affected, or may significantly affect the
operations of the Scheme.

17. Valuation of accrued liability under A-IFRS
The accrued benefit liability of the ESSS Defined Benefit
Fund for the purposes of these financial statements was
calculated in accordance with AAS25 “Financial Reporting by
Superannuation Plans”.
The primary sponsor of the Scheme is the Victorian
Government which, as an employer, is required to use AASB
119 “Employee Benefits” to value its accrued benefit liabilities
in its financial reports. Furthermore, AASB 119 requires the
use of a government bond rate as the discount rate when
calculating the defined benefit fund’s accrued liabilities. This
rate is currently lower than the discount rate used for the
purposes of the Scheme’s financial reporting. As such, the
financial reports of sponsoring employers will, in total, reflect
a higher liability than that reported by the Scheme.
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Emergency Services Superannuation Scheme
Statement by Trustee

In the opinion of the Emergency Services Superannuation Board:
(a) The attached financial statements for the Emergency Services Superannuation Scheme have been prepared in accordance
with Standing Directions 4.2 of the Financial Management Act 1994, applicable Financial Reporting Directions, Australian
Accounting Standards including Interpretations, and other mandatory professional reporting requirements.
(b) We further state that, in our opinion, the information set out in the Statement of Financial Position, Operating Statement,
Statement of Cash Flows and accompanying notes, presents fairly the financial transactions during the year ended 2011
and financial position of the Scheme at 30 June 2011.
(c) At the time of signing, we are not aware of any circumstance which would render any particulars included in the Financial
Statements to be misleading or inaccurate.
Signed in accordance with a resolution of the Members of the Board of the Emergency Services Superannuation Board.
Dated at Melbourne this 25th day of August 2011.

Signed by the President

Signed by the CEO

Signed by the Chairperson

FRANK KING
President
ESSSuper

MARK PULI
Acting Chief Executive Officer
ESSSuper

MICHAEL STEPHENSON
Chairperson
Audit, Risk Management
& Finance Committee
ESSSuper
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Auditor General’s Report
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Actuarial Overview
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Emergency Services Superannuation Board
Financial Report

Statement of Financial Position as at 30 June 2011
Restated*
as at
1 July 2009
$’000

Note

2011
$’000

Restated*
2010
$’000

2(q), 11(a)

5,166

-

-

2(e), 4

3,335

4,815

3,474

8,501

4,815

3,474

Assets
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Receivables and prepayments
Total current assets
Non-current assets
Plant and equipment

2(m),5

3,435

4,024

4,514

Intangible assets

2(n), 6

1,404

1,434

1,312

4,839

5,458

5,826

13,340

10,273

9,300

Total non-current assets
Total assets
Liabilities
Current liabilities
Payables

2(f), 7

2,258

1,882

2,364

Employee benefits

2(i), 8

2,154

2,111

2,123

Provisions

2(j), 9

548

474

357

4,960

4,467

4,844

Total current liabilities
Non-current liabilities
Employee benefits

2(i), 8

211

238

251

Provisions

2(j), 9

172

162

152

383

400

403

Total liabilities

5,343

4,867

5,247

Net assets

7,997

5,406

4,053

7,997

5,406

4,053

7,997

5,406

4,053

Total non-current liabilities

Equity
Operating Reserve
Total equity

2(r), 10

The Statement of Financial Position is to be read in conjunction with the notes to the financial statements.
* Refer to note 10.
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Emergency Services Superannuation Board
Financial Report (continued)

Comprehensive Operating Statement for the year ended 30 June 2011

Note

2011
$’000

Restated*
2010
$’000

15(d)

28,255

26,338

Parliamentary Contributory Superannuation Fund

143

139

Other superannuation and pension funds

148

135

Sundry Income

351

36

28,897

26,648

26,073

25,295

26,073

25,295

2,824

1,353

Revenues from continuing operations
Fees and charges appropriated by the Board from:
Emergency Services and State Superannuation Funds

Total revenues

2(c)

Expenses
Expenses incurred in administering superannuation funds
Administration and Investment expenses
Total expenses
Net result

2(d)
3

The Comprehensive Operating Statement is to be read in conjunction with the notes to the financial statements.
* Refer to note 10.
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Statement of Cash Flows for the year ended 30 June 2011
2011
$’000

2010
$’000

30,055

25,298

Parliamentary Contributory Superannuation Fund

143

139

Other superannuation and pension funds

134

123

Sundry income

151

38

(24,263)

(24,355)

6,220

1,243

68

105

Purchase of plant, equipment and intangibles

(883)

(1,348)

Net cash flows used in investing activities

(815)

(1,243)

Distribution to the Scheme in accordance with Operating Reserve Policy

(233)

-

Net cash flows used in financing activities

(233)

-

5,172

-

7

(6)

(6)

11(a)

5,166

(6)

Note
Cash flows from operating activities
Recovery from:
Emergency Services and State Superannuation Funds

Administration and investment expenses paid
Net cash flows from operating activities

11 (b)

Cash flows from investing activities
Proceeds from sale of plant and equipment

Cash flows from financing activities

Net increase/(decrease) in cash held
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year

The Statement of Cash Flows is to be read in conjunction with the notes to the financial statements.
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Emergency Services Superannuation Board
Financial Report (continued)

Statement of Changes in Equity for the year ended 30 June 2011
Note
10

Operating
Reserve
$’000

Balance at 1 July 2009

4,053

Net result

1,353

Balance at 30 June 2010

5,406

Net result

2,824

Less distribution to the Scheme in accordance with Operating Reserve Policy
Balance at 30 June 2011

The Statement of Changes in Equity is to be read in conjunction with the notes to the financial statements.

88 | Annual Report 2011

(233)
7,997

Emergency Services Superannuation Board
Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 30 June 2011

1. Operations of the Board

2. Summary of significant accounting policies

The Emergency Services Superannuation Board (the Board)
and Emergency Services Superannuation Scheme (the
Scheme) were established under the Emergency Services
Superannuation Act 1986 (ESS Act). The Board serves as
Trustee and as Administrator of the Scheme.

The Financial Management Act 1994 requires the Board to
prepare a financial report in respect of each financial year.

The Superannuation Legislation (Governance Reform) Act
2005 (the Act), which came into operation on 1 December
2005, restructured the Board and broadened its objectives,
functions and powers to enable it to perform the role of
administrator of public sector superannuation funds and
administered funds.
Victorian Funds Management Corporation (VFMC) provide
investment advice and implementation services to the
Board for the investments of the Scheme. The Board
retains full responsibility for the management of Scheme’s
Accumulation investments.
From 1 July 2010, the implementation activities for the
Accumulation investments previously undertaken by
VFMC are now undertaken internally by the Board’s
Investment team.
Towers Watson is the investment advisor for the contracted
services of Accumulation investments including advice on
investment objectives, strategy, advisory services and high
level portfolio construction.
The Board also administers the Parliamentary Contributory
Superannuation Fund (PCSF) and processes the payment of
pensions in respect of a number of Victorian Government
related pension funds (Pension funds). Costs and expenses
incurred by the Board in administering the PCSF and
Pension funds are recovered from the PCSF and the Victorian
Government respectively.
This financial report includes the activities of the Board.

The following summary explains the significant accounting
policies that have been adopted in the preparation of the
financial statements that form part of this financial report.

(a) Basis of preparation
The financial statements are a general purpose financial
report, which have been prepared in accordance with
Standing Directions 4.2 of the Financial Management Act
1994, applicable Financial Reporting Directions, Australian
Accounting Standards (AAS) including Interpretations, and
other mandatory professional reporting requirements.
The financial statements have been prepared on the basis of
historical cost, except for the revaluation of certain non-current
assets and financial instruments. Cost is based on the fair values
of the consideration given in exchange for assets. All amounts
are presented in Australian dollars, unless otherwise noted.
In the application of AASs, management is required to make
judgements, estimates and assumptions about carrying values
of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other
sources. The estimates and associated assumptions are based
on historical experience and various other factors that are
believed to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results
of which form the basis of making the judgements. Actual
results may differ from these estimates.
The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed
on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised
if the revision affects only that period or in the period of
the revision, and future periods if the revision affects both
current and future periods.
Accounting policies are selected and applied in a manner
which ensures that the resulting financial information
satisfies the concepts of relevance and reliability, thereby
ensuring that the substance of the underlying transaction
or other events is reported.
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Emergency Services Superannuation Board
Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 30 June 2011 (continued)

2. Summary of significant accounting policies
(continued)
(b) Compliance with International Financial
Reporting Standards (IFRS)
The financial statements of the Board were authorised for
issue in accordance with a resolution of the Board members
on 25th August 2011.
As the Board is classified as a not-for-profit entity for financial
reporting purposes it has adopted and complied with the
“Aus” paragraphs included in AAS. Accordingly, it can not
make a statement of full compliance with IFRS.
The accounting policies adopted are consistent with those
applied in the previous financial year other than those
outlined in note 10.

(c) Revenue recognition
Revenue is recognised in accordance with AASB 118
Revenues and is recognised to the extent that it is earned.
Revenue earned by appropriating money from the Scheme,
PCSF and Pension funds is recognised as it is charged.

(d) Expenses incurred in administering
superannuation funds
Expenses (both direct and indirect) are incurred by the Board
relating to the administration of the Scheme, PCSF and Pension
funds and investment of the Scheme assets. Fees due to the
Victorian Funds Management Corporation (the implementation
manager of the Scheme and fund manager of the former State
Superannuation Fund (SSF) and PCSF), custodian and fund
managers’ fees are charged directly to the Scheme and PCSF
and not reflected in these financial statements.

(e) Receivables and prepayments
Receivables
Receivables, which generally have 30-60 day terms, are
recognised and carried at original invoice amounts less an
allowance for any uncollectible amounts. Collectability of
receivables is reviewed on an ongoing basis. Debts which
are known to be uncollectible are written off. A provision
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for impairment of receivables is established when there is
objective evidence that the Board will not be able to collect
all amounts according to the original terms of the receivables.
No such provision has been provided in the current year.
The amount of the provision is the difference between the
asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated
future cash flows, discounted at the original effective interest
rate. Cash flows relating to short term receivables are not
discounted if the effect of discounting is immaterial. The
amount of the provision is recognised in the Comprehensive
Operating Statement.
Prepayments
Where an amount is paid for the provision for goods and
services, and where the benefit arising from the expenditure
extends beyond the current accounting period, then such
expenditure is brought to account over the period to which
the benefit derives. In such circumstances, a prepayment will
exist at balance date representing the value of the economic
benefit that will be derived in the future.

(f) Payables
These amounts represent liabilities for goods and services
provided to the Board. The amounts are unsecured and are
normally paid within 30 days.

(g) Financial instrument disclosures
Financial assets and liabilities include cash and cash
equivalents, receivables and total creditors and other
payables. The carrying amount of these items approximates
net fair value. Refer to note 18 for further details.

(h) Operating leases
Leases where the lessor retains substantially all of the
risks and benefits of ownership of the asset are classified
as operating leases. Operating lease commitments are
recognised as an expense on a basis that reflects the pattern
in which economic benefits from the leased asset are
consumed by the lessee. Payments made are charged to the
Comprehensive Operating Statement on a straight line basis
for the period of the lease.

(i) Employee benefits

(j) Provisions

Wages, salaries and annual leave

Make-good provision

The provision for employee benefits in respect of wages,
salaries and annual leave represent the amount which
the Board has a present obligation to pay resulting from
employees’ services provided up to the balance date. The
provision has been calculated at nominal amounts based on
expected future wage and salary rates and includes related
on-costs, such as superannuation and payroll tax.

A provision for make-good obligations exists for the rental
of premises at 140 William Street, which specifically relates
to the internal staircase that connects the occupied office
floors. A provision is recognised when the Board has a
present legal or constructive obligation. As a result of past
events, it is probable that an outflow of resources will be
required to settle the obligation and the amount has been
reliably estimated.

Long service leave
The liability for employee benefits in respect of long service
leave represents the present value of the estimated future
cash outflows to be made by the Board resulting from
employees’ services provided up to the balance date.
The current portion of the nominal long service leave liability
reflected in the financial statements is based on staff with
benefits that have vested (such as a maximum of pro rata 7
years service history and staff with 10 years service history).
The non-current portion of long service leave liability is
a calculation of the arising liability using salary, number
of years service and probability of reaching long service
leave entitlement. This figure is discounted using the rates
attaching to national government guaranteed securities
at balance date, which most closely match the terms of
maturity of the related liabilities. In determining the liability
for employee benefits, consideration has been given to
future increases in wage and salary rates, and the Board’s
experience with staff turnover rates. Related on-costs have
also been included in the liability.

It is a specific requirement of the rental agreement that the
premises be returned to its original state with removal of
the staircase. There is no general ‘make good’ requirement
pertaining to the standard open space layout of the leased
premises, and it is management’s intention to continue
leasing the premises for a period greater than 10 years.
Such provisions are measured at the present value of
management’s best estimate of the expenditure required to
settle the present obligation at the balance sheet date. The
discount rate used to determine the present value reflects
current market assessments of the time value of money
and the risks specific to the liability. The increase in the
provision due to the passage of time is recognised as
an interest expense.
Rental expense provision
The provision arises as rental expenses are charged to the
Comprehensive Operating Statement on a straight line basis
taking into account the annual CPI indexation over the life
of the lease.

Superannuation

(k) Borrowing costs

The Board contributes on behalf of its employees to the
Scheme and other accumulation plans in order to satisfy
entitlements of employees. The amount charged to
the Comprehensive Operating Statement in respect of
superannuation represents the contributions made and
payable by the Board to superannuation funds.

Borrowing costs are expensed when incurred and are limited
to the increase in the make good provision due to the
unwinding of discounts to reflect the passing of time.

Superannuation contributions are made to the plans based on
the relevant rules of each plan. See note 13 for further details.
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Emergency Services Superannuation Board
Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 30 June 2011 (continued)

2. Summary of significant accounting policies
(continued)
(l) Impairment of assets
All of the Board’s assets are assessed annually for indications
of impairment.
If there is an indication of impairment the assets concerned
are tested as to whether their carrying value exceeds their
possible recoverable amount. Where an asset’s carrying value
exceeds its recoverable amount the difference is written off
by a charge to the Comprehensive Operating Statement
except to the extent that the write-down can be debited to
an asset revaluation reserve amount applicable to that class
of asset.
It is deemed that, in the event of the loss of an asset, the
future economic benefits arising from the use of the asset
will be replaced unless a specific decision to the contrary
has been made. The recoverable amount for most assets is
measured at the higher of depreciated replacement cost and
fair value less costs to sell. The recoverable amount for assets
held primarily to generate net cash inflows is measured at
the higher of the present value of future cash flows expected
to be obtained from the asset value less costs to sell.

(m) Plant and equipment
Items of furniture and fittings, equipment and motor
vehicles are recognised at fair value (cost less accumulated
depreciation and impairment). Depreciation is provided on
a straight-line basis over the asset’s estimated useful lives to
the Board. Depreciation rates are reviewed annually with a
view to adjusting them to reflect the most recent assessment
of the useful lives of the assets to the Board.
Useful life
2011

Useful life
2010

Office equipment

5 years

4 years

Computer equipment

4 years

3 years

Motor vehicles

5 years

5 years
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(n) Intangibles – Software costs
Intangible assets represent identifiable non-monetary assets
without physical substance. They are initially recognised at
cost; subsequently those with finite useful lives are carried
at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment
losses. Costs incurred subsequent to initial recognition
are capitalised when it is expected that additional future
economic benefits will flow to the Board.
Research costs are expensed as incurred. Expenditures
incurred in respect of software development are carried
forward when their future recoverability can reasonably be
regarded as assured and they will contribute to future period
revenue generation and/or cost reductions.
Any expenditures carried forward is amortised over the
period in which the Board expects to realise the benefits.
The useful life for each major class of intangible assets in
2011 and 2010 are:
Useful life
2011

Useful life
2010

Superannuation
administration software

5 years

5 years

Other computer software

4 years

3 years

The carrying value of development costs is reviewed for
impairment annually when the asset is not yet in use, or more
frequently when an indicator of impairment arises during the
reporting year indicating that the carrying value may not be
recoverable. Intangibles with a finite life are assessed annually
for impairment indicators. If there is an indication of impairment
it is tested as to whether the carrying amount exceeds its
recoverable amount. Any excess of the carrying asset over the
recoverable amount is recognised as an impairment loss.

(o) Goods and Services Tax (GST)
Revenues, expenses and assets are stated net of any
applicable GST. Where applicable, GST incurred that is not
recoverable from the Australian Taxation Office (ATO) has
been recognised as part of the expense or asset to which
it applies. Receivables and payables are stated with any

applicable GST included in the values. The net amount of GST
recoverable from, and payable to, the ATO is included as a
receivable and payable in the Statement of Financial Position.
Cash flows are stated in the Statement of Cash Flows
inclusive of any applicable GST.
Any commitments and contingencies are stated net of any
applicable GST.

AASB
Amendment
/ Standard

Related Parties
Disclosures
(2009)

1 January 2011

1 July 2011

AASB
2009-12

Amendments
to Australian
Accounting
Standards
arising from
the Annual
Improvements
Project

1 January 2011

1 July 2011

AASB 9

Financial
Instruments
which
introduces new
requirements
for classifying
and measuring
financial assets

1 January 2013

1 July 2013

AASB
2009-11

Amendments
to Australian
Accounting
Standards
arising from
AASB 9

1 January 2013

1 July 2013

AASB
2010-4

Further
Amendments
to Australian
Accounting
Standards from
the annual
improvements
projects

1 January 2011

1 July 2011

AASB 1053
AASB
2010-2

Application
of Tiers of
Australian
Accounting
Standards
Amendments
to Australian
Accounting
Standards
arising from
Reduced
Disclosure
Requirements

1 July 2013

1 July 2013

Amounts in the financial statements have been rounded off
to the nearest thousand dollars unless otherwise stated.

Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, at bank
and short term deposits.
The board of directors has approved the Board to maintain
its own cash and cash equivalents, which was held in the
Scheme in previous years.
This change came into effect from 6th January 2011.

(r) Operating Reserve
Expenses incurred by the Board are offset against revenue
appropriated from the Scheme at pre-determined rates. It
is possible for this revenue to exceed the actual expenses
incurred. The transfer to equity of $2,824,000 in 2011
($7,997,000 cumulative) and $1,353,000 in 2010 ($5,406,000
cumulative) are held in the Operating Reserve in note 10.

(s) Accounting standards and interpretations
issued, but not yet effective
Certain new accounting standards and interpretations have
been published that are not mandatory for the 30 June 2011
reporting period. The Board has not and does not intend
to early adopt these standards and set out below is the
Board’s assessment of those new accounting standards and
interpretations that are applicable to the Board. The Board
anticipates the adoption of these standards will have no
material financial impact on the financial report.

Application
date for the
Board

AASB
124

(p) Rounding off of amounts

(q) Cash and cash equivalents

Title

Application
date of
standard
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Emergency Services Superannuation Board
Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 30 June 2011 (continued)

2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
(t) Management estimates
Investment expenses are costs that are incurred directly by the Investment Division within the Board. Investment expenses
also includes costs that are directly or indirectly attributed to investment activity within the Board. The rates used to determine
the investment recoveries by the Board from the funds that it administers are based on the best available estimate of time and
resources spent on investment activities.

3. Expenses
2011
$’000

2010
$’000

15,351

15,326

1,479

1,127

33

44

Audit fees (Scheme) - Victorian Auditor General

237

231

Internal Audit fees

375

325

2,437

2,115

569

534

Premises expenditure

1,680

1,667

Information services expenditure

1,656

1,674

Depreciation and Amortisation expense

1,440

1,587

Disability related expenditure

823

640

(Gain)/Loss on asset disposals

(7)

25

26,073

25,295

2011
$’000

2010
$’000

2,131

3,931

162

149

1,042

735

3,335

4,815

Salaries and related on costs
Communication costs
Audit fees (Board) - Victorian Auditor General

Other professional fees
Office administration expenditure

Expenses incurred in administering the Scheme and other superannuation and pension funds

4. Receivables

Current
Revenue receivable - recovery of expenditure:
The Scheme – administration charge*
Department of Treasury & Finance (DTF)
Other debtors

* Receivable in 2010 included the cash and cash equivalents held in the Scheme on behalf of the Board, which is held directly for 2011 (refer Note 2(q) and 11).
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5. Plant and equipment

2011
$’000

Depreciation
expense
2011
$’000

Closing
carrying value
2011
$’000

-

-

(72)

451

-

-

-

(62)

14

2,476

-

-

10

(358)

2,128

Computer equipment

673

-

(4)

228

(358)

539

Motor vehicles

276

-

(58)

170

(85)

303

4,024

-

(62)

408

(935)

3,435

Opening
carrying value
2010
$’000

Transfers

Disposals

Additions

2010
$’000

2010
$’000

2010
$’000

Depreciation
expense
2010
$’000

Closing
carrying value
2010
$’000

Office furniture & fittings

575

5

-

28

(85)

523

Office equipment

102

83

-

14

(123)

76

2,894

(88)

-

-

(330)

2,476

Computer equipment

673

-

(31)

429

(398)

673

Motor vehicles

270

-

(98)

174

(70)

276

4,514

-

(129)

645

(1,006)

4,024

Opening
carrying value
2011
$’000

Transfers

Disposals

Additions

2011
$’000

2011
$’000

2011
$’000

Depreciation
expense
2011
$’000

Closing
carrying value
2011
$’000

Computer software

1,434

-

-

475

(505)

1,404

Total

1,434

-

-

475

(505)

1,404

Opening
carrying value
2010
$’000

Transfers

Disposals

Additions

2010
$’000

2010
$’000

2010
$’000

Depreciation
expense
2010
$’000

Closing
carrying value
2010
$’000

Computer software

1,312

-

-

703

(581)

1,434

Total

1,312

-

-

703

(581)

1,434

Asset class
Office furniture & fittings
Office equipment
Leasehold assets

Total

Asset class

Leasehold assets

Total

Opening
carrying value
2011
$’000

Transfers

Disposals

Additions

2011
$’000

2011
$’000

523

-

76

6. Intangible assets

Asset class

Asset class
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Emergency Services Superannuation Board
Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 30 June 2011 (continued)

7. Payables
2011
$’000

2010
$’000

-

6

2,258

1,876

2,258

1,882

2011
$’000

2010
$’000

1,251

1,240

903

871

2,154

2,111

211

238

2,365

2,349

Percent
%

Percent
%

Assumed rate of increase in wage and salary rates (%)

4.60

4.48

Discount rate (average %)

5.28

5.16

Years

Years

13

13

Current
Payments in transit **
Sundry creditors and accrued expenditure

** Payments in transit comprises unpresented cheques for 2010.

8. Employee benefits

Liability for aggregate long service leave and annual leave, including on-costs:
Current
Employee benefits
Long service leave
Annual leave
Non-current
Employee benefits
Long service leave

Settlement term (average years)
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9. Provisions
Make good provision
2011
$’000

2010
$’000

172

162

Non-current
Make good

Upon entering into its leased premises agreement, the Board had construction work completed to erect an internal staircase
joining the occupied floors. The Board is required, per a specific provision in the rental agreement, to return the leased office
premises to their original condition (prior to the construction of the internal staircase) at the end of the lease term. A provision
has been recognised for the present value of the estimated expenditures required to remove any leasehold improvements.
These costs have been capitalised as part of the cost of leasehold improvements and are amortised over the shorter of the
term of the lease or the useful life of the assets.

Rental expense provision
2011
$’000

2010
$’000

548

474

Current
Rental expense provision

The Board has a 10 year lease for premises located at 140 William Street, Melbourne. The lease commenced 1 July 2007 and
expires 30 June 2017. The contract included specific provision for rent expense increases of 3.5% each year of the contract. The
provision arises as rental expenses are charged to the Comprehensive Operating Statement on a straight line bases taking into
account the annual CPI indexation over the life of the lease.
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Emergency Services Superannuation Board
Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 30 June 2011 (continued)

9. Provisions (continued)
Movements in provisions
Movements in the class of provision during the financial year is set out below:

2011

Make good
provision
Non-current
$’000

Rental expense
provision
Current
$’000

162

474

10

74

-

-

172

548

152

357

10

117

-

-

162

474

Carrying amount at start of the year
Additional provision recognised – charged to plant and equipment
Charged/(credited) to the Comprehensive Operating Statement
- unwinding of discount
Carrying amount at the end of the year
2010
Carrying amount at start of the year
Additional provision recognised – charged to plant and equipment
Charged/(credited) to the Comprehensive Operating statement
- unwinding of discount
Carrying amount at the end of the year

10. Operating Reserve
The Operating Reserve has been created under the powers prescribed to the Board from the ESS Act.
The Operating Reserve within the Board has been created to be used for the following possible purposes to finance:
■■

appropriate action to address any adverse financial outcomes (excluding investment fluctuations) as a result of highly
unlikely and unanticipated events;

■■

significant capital projects that benefit both current and future scheme members;

■■

initiatives to educate scheme members; and

■■

the development and promotion of new products.

Administration expenses for the Scheme are incurred by the Board and offset against revenue appropriated from the Scheme
at predetermined rates. This revenue could result in either a surplus or deficit, represented by the Operating Reserve. At the
discretion of the Board, it could determine that the purpose for which the Operating Reserve was created no longer exists and
should it decide in the future to terminate the Operating Reserve it may also determine that any remaining balance be returned
to Scheme members.
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2011
$’000

2010
$’000

Opening balance

5,406

4,053

Net result

2,824

1,353

(233)

-

7,997

5,406

Distribution to the Scheme in accordance with Operating Reserve Policy
Closing balance

The prior year adjustment results from the change in the accounting treatment for fund reserves maintained by the Board.
Previously the Board recognised a payable to the Scheme for the value of fund reserves maintained in the Board accounts.
The Board has reviewed this treatment and believes that this amount does not satisfy the criteria for the recognition of a liability
and accordingly such amounts will no longer be accounted for as a payable. The impact of this change is to increase the value
of Net Assets and to increase Equity as at 30 June 2010 by $5,406,000 and report a net result of $1,353,000 (previously nil) for the
year ended 30 June 2010.

*Impact of prior year adjustment to financial statements
This table sets out the impact of the prior year adjustment to the financial statements:
Original
2010
$’000

Adjustment
2010
$’000

Restated*
2010
$’000

Management Account - Scheme

5,406

(5,406)

-

Total non-current liabilities

5,806

(5,406)

400

10,273

(5,406)

4,867

-

5,406

5,406

-

5,406

5,406

-

5,406

5,406

1,353

(1,353)

-

-

1,353

1,353

-

1,353

1,353

871

(1,353)

(482)

Net assets available to pay benefits

15,547,094

(5,406)

15,541,688

Liability for accrued benefits

(31,552,845)

5,406

(31,547,439)

Statement of Financial Position
Non-current liabilities

Total liabilities
Net assets
Equity
Operating Reserve
Total equity
Comprehensive Operating Statement
Transfer to Management Account - Scheme
Net result
Note 11 (b)

Reconciliation of net result to net cash flows from operating
activities
Net result
Increase/(decrease) in creditors and accruals

Note 12

The Board’s obligations
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11. Cash Flow reconciliation
2011
$’000

Restated*
2010
$’000

Statement of Cash Flow

5,166

(6)

Statement of Financial Position

5,166

(6)

-

-

2,591

1,353

16

(25)

383

(482)

1,479

(1,341)

Increase in provisions

84

126

(Gain)/Loss on sale of fixed assets

(7)

25

Depreciation

936

1,006

Amortisation

505

581

5,987

1,243

Reconciliation of cash and cash equivalents as per Statement of Financial Position
to Statement of Cash Flow
(a) Cash and cash equivalents as per:

Difference
Reconciliation of net result to net cash flows from operating activities
(b) Net result
(Decrease)/Increase in provisions for employee benefits
Increase/(Decrease) in creditors and accruals*
(Decrease)/Increase in receivables

Net cash flows from operating activities
* Creditors and accruals include payments in transit (comprising of unpresented cheques) for 2010.

(c) For the purpose of the Statement of Cash Flows, cash and cash equivalents includes cash on hand, cash at bank and
payments in transit.

12. The Board’s obligations
The Board may from time to time appropriate money from the Scheme to cover the operating expenses and other expenditures
necessary to administer the Scheme per the Act.
The Board’s financial statements do not include the assets and liabilities of the Scheme. However, a summary of the total assets
and liabilities of the Scheme (an administered fund), as reflected in its audited Statement of Financial Position as at 30 June 2011
and 2010, is as follows:
2011
$’000

Restated*
2010
$’000

Net assets available
to pay benefits

16,885,949

15,541,688

Liability for accrued benefits

(32,492,127)

(31,547,439)

(15,606,178)

(16,005,751)

Emergency Services Superannuation Scheme

Net liabilities
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The Board, State-funded and self-funded employing authorities make superannuation contributions on the basis of the accruing
cost of benefits for active members. Commonwealth-funded employing authorities contribute on a pay-as-you-go basis when
member benefits are paid.
At the discretion of the Treasurer, the Consolidated Fund contributes additional amounts. Within a funding framework
announced in the Victorian Government 2000-01 Budget Statement, the previous Victorian Government anticipated that
the Scheme would become fully funded for the State’s portion of the liability in 2035, with the balance being funded by
Commonwealth agencies on a pay-as-you-go basis.
In its interim report released in April 2011, the Independent Review of State Finances recommended retention of the previous
Victorian Government’s 2035 full funding target date for superannuation liabilities. The Review Panel is due to provide
its final report to Government in early 2012, after which the Victorian Government will provide a formal response to all
recommendations.
Subsequent to year end the Government has confirmed to the Board that it remains fully committed to funding the liabilities of
its public sector superannuation schemes.

13. Superannuation funds
The Board contributes on behalf of its employees to the Scheme, a public sector defined benefit fund and other accumulation
plans, in order to satisfy the superannuation guarantee entitlements of employees, there are no material outstanding
superannuation contributions as at 30 June 2011. In the case of the Scheme, employer contributions are based on the advice of the
Scheme’s Actuary. The Board has no unfunded liabilities for employee entitlements for the defined benefit fund under the Scheme.
For the year ended 30 June 2011, the Board made superannuation contributions to the Scheme of $664,000 (2010: $580,000),
and to other accumulation plans of $445,000 (2010: $481,000).

14. Commitments
Capital commitments
At 30 June 2011 the Board had no capital commitments.

Operating lease commitments
2011
$’000

2010
$’000

1,316

1,272

 Longer than one year and not longer than five years

5,743

5,549

 Longer than five years and not longer than ten years

1,564

3,074

Total lease expenditure contracted for at balance date

8,623

9,895

Contracted but not provided for and payable:
Not longer than one year

The leases place no restrictions upon the Board with regard to additional debt and/or further lease arrangements. The 2011
amounts relate to the commitment of the premises at 140 William Street, which commenced on 1 July 2007.
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15. Related entity information
(a) Responsible persons
The names of persons who were responsible during the year and up to the date of signing the financial report were:
The Honourable Gordon Rich-Phillips, Assistant Treasurer MLC (appointed 8 December 2010). The remuneration details of
the responsible minister are detailed in the financial statements of the Department of Premier and Cabinet. The previous
responsible minister was the Honourable Tim Holding.
The Trustee of the Scheme is the Board. The Board members and their deputies are:
Board Members:

Deputy Members:

Government Appointed

Government Appointed

■■

Mr Frank King, President

■■

Ms Sylvia Falzon (resignation announced 11 July 2011)

■■

Ms Deborah Beale (resigned 31 May 2011)

■■

Mr Ian Gaudion

■■

Mr Christopher Dalton

■■

Mr Douglas Kearsley

■■

Mr Bob Herbert AM (appointed 1 July 2010)

■■

Ms Pamela Mitchell

■■

Ms Liberty Sanger

Member Elected
■■
■■

Member Elected
■■

Mr Dean Glare

■■

Mr Philip Jones

■■

Mr Alex Gagachef (appointed 22 March 2011)

■■

■■

Mr Michael Stephenson

■■

■■

Mr Phil Wilson (appointed 22 March 2011)

■■

Ms Angela Stringer (appointed 14 September 2010)

■■

Mr Graeme Larkin (resigned 31 January 2011)

■■

Mr William Lyons (resigned 25 February 2011)

■■

■■

■■

Mr Russell Walsh, Deputy for Philip Jones
Mr Phil Wilson (ceased 21 March 2011),
Deputy for Graeme Larkin
Mr Alexander Gagachef (ceased 21 March 2011),
Deputy for William Lyons
Mr John Taplin, Deputy for Michael Stephenson
Mr Carolyn Joy Clancy (appointed 14 September 2010),
Deputy for Dean Glare
Mr Roger Schranz (appointed 22 March 2011),
Deputy for Phillip Wilson
Mr John Banjanin (appointed 14 September 2010),
Deputy for Angela Stringer

Chief Executive Officer
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■■

Mr Michael Dundon (resigned 23 May 2011)

■■

Mr Mark Puli, Acting CEO (appointed 24 May 2011)

(b) Remuneration received or receivable by responsible persons
Remuneration received or due to the Chief Executive Officer and Acting Chief Executive Officer during the reporting period was
in the range:
■■

$300,000 - $309,999 (2010: $280,000 - $289,999).

Remuneration for the Chief Executive Officer is inclusive of bonus payments, long service leave payments, retirement benefits
and non-cash benefits.

Members and their deputies from the Board

2011
$’000

2010
$’000

532

500

The number of Board members and their deputies (who acted during the year) are included in these figures and are shown in
their relevant income bands:
2011
Numbers

2010
Numbers

$0 - $9,999

2

1

$10,000 - $19,999

3

1

$20,000 - $29,999

3

1

$30,000 - $39,999

8

10

$100,000 - $109,999

1

1

Income band

In respect of three member elected members, part or all of their fees are paid or payable to the benefit of their primary employer.

(c) Loans to Board Members
The Board provides no loans to Board Members.

(d) Transactions with other responsible persons and related entities
The aggregate amounts brought to account in respect of the following types of transactions and each class of related entity are:
Transaction type

Nature of terms
and conditions

Investment management and
fund administration fees

On a fee recovery basis:

Other related entities

2011
$’000

2010
$’000

- The Scheme

28,255

26,338

143

139

28,398

26,477

On a cost recovery basis:
- Parliamentary Contributory
Superannuation Fund
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15. Related entity information (continued)
(e) Amounts due from related entities
Amounts due from related entities at balance date are disclosed in note 4. This represents the outstanding reimbursement from
the Scheme and DTF for administration expenditure incurred by the Board.
Transaction type

Nature of terms
and conditions

Fund administration fees

On a fee recovery basis:

Other related entities

2011
$’000

2010
$’000

- The Scheme

2,131

3,931

162

149

2,293

4,080

On a cost recovery basis:
- Department of Treasury
& Finance

(f) Other related party transactions
Other related transactions and loans requiring disclosure under the Directions of the Minister for Finance have been considered
and there are no matters to report.

16. Executive remuneration
The number of executive officers, excluding the Chief Executive Officer, and their base and total remuneration during the year,
are shown in the table below in their relevant income bands. Base remuneration is exclusive of bonus payments, long service
leave payments, redundancy payments and retirement benefits.
Factors affecting total remuneration payable to executives during both periods include bonus payments, depending on the
terms of individual employment contracts, and inclusion of annual leave, long service leave and other accrued entitlements.
Income band

Total remuneration

Base remuneration

2011
Numbers

2010
Numbers

2011
Numbers

2010
Numbers

$10,000 - $19,999

1

-

1

1

$90,000 - $99,999

-

-

-

1

$100,000 - $109,999

-

1

-

-

$110,000 - $119,999

-

1

-

-

$130,000 - $139,999

-

-

1

1

$140,000 - $149,999

-

1

-

2

$150,000 - $159,999

-

-

2

4

$160,000 - $169,999

1

-

4

-

$180,000 - $189,999

-

3

-

-

$190,000 - $199,999

5

3

-

-

$200,000 - $209,999

1

-

-

-

Total numbers

8

9

8

9

1,346

1,503

1,100

1,144

Total amounts ($’000)

104 | Annual Report 2011

17. Remuneration of auditors

Amounts received or due and receivable by the Victorian Auditor General for an audit of the
Scheme and Board financial statements.*

2011
$’000

2010
$’000

270

275

270

275

*	As administrator of the Scheme, the Board is responsible for costs attributable for the audit of the Scheme’s financial statements.

18. Financial risk management, objectives and policies
Risk management policies
This note presents information about the Board’s financial instrument risk management objectives, policies and processes for
measuring and managing risk and the management of capital.
The Board has responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the risk management framework to guide the Board to
identify and analyse the risks faced by the Board.
The Board’s principal financial instruments comprise cash and accounts receivable.
The Board’s activities do not expose it to the risks of changes in price risk and credit risk. Liquidity risk for the Board is managed
as part of the Scheme’s liquidity policy.
The Board does not enter into or trade financial instruments including derivative financial instruments for speculative purposes.
The Board frequently reviews its exposure to credit risk, price risk, interest risk and liquidity risk, and undertakes regular
monitoring of the performance of its financial assets and liabilities.
Significant accounting policies
Details of the significant accounting policies and methods adopted, including the criteria for recognition, the basis of
measurement and the basis on which income and expenses are recognised in respect of each class of financial asset and
financial liability are disclosed in note 2 to the financial statements.

(a) Interest rate risk exposure
Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in
market interest rates. As a result of the Board maintaining its own cash and cash equivalents since 6th January 2011, the Board is
now exposed to interest rate risk on its cash and deposits.
It is deemed that the sensitivity on interest rate risk is immaterial.

(b) Price risk management
The Board is not exposed to price risk.
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18. Financial risk management, objectives and policies (continued)
(c) Liquidity risk management
The Board has in place a framework to manage the Board’s short, medium and long term funding and liquidity.
Liquidity risk is managed with a Board-approved annual expense, capital acquisition and recovery budget. Performance against
budget is reported regularly to the Audit, Risk Management and Finance Committee and corrective action, if required, to keep
within set parameters is instigated. Funds to discharge all the Board’s obligations are drawn down on a daily basis from the
Board’s cash and cash equivalents. Formal invoices for recoveries are issued to the Scheme monthly.

(d) Credit risk exposures
Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on its contractual obligations resulting in financial loss to the Board.
The Board only deals with a limited number of government superannuation funds in its capacity as Trustee and administrator
and they are all creditworthy counterparties. This in turn mitigates the risk of financial loss from defaults. The Board’s exposure
is continuously monitored and the Board’s only significant credit risk exposure is to the Scheme.
Trade receivables are concentrated in Australia. The maximum exposure to credit risk, excluding the value of any collateral or
other security at balance date to recognised financial assets is the carrying amount of those assets, net of any provisions for
doubtful debts, as disclosed in the Statement of Financial Position and notes to the financial statements.
At balance date, 5% (2010: 3%) of receivables and prepayments are due from the Victorian Government for fees for the
administration of the Former Judges of the Constitutional Protected Schemes (Magistrates and Judges Pension Schemes).

(e) Net fair values
The Board considers that the carrying amount of financial assets and liabilities recorded in the financial statements approximates
their fair value.

19. Subsequent events
There has not been any matter or circumstance occurring subsequent to the end of the financial year that has significantly
affected, or may significantly affect, the operations of the Board.
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Emergency Services Superannuation Board
Accountable Officers’ Declaration

In accordance with a resolution of the members of the Emergency Services Superannuation Board we certify that:
(a) The attached financial statements for the Emergency Services Superannuation Board have been prepared in accordance
with Standing Directions 4.2 of the Financial Management Act 1994, applicable Financial Reporting Directions, Australian
Accounting Standards including Interpretations, and other mandatory professional reporting requirements.
(b) We further state that, in our opinion, the information set out in the Statement of Financial Position, Comprehensive
Operating Statement, Statement of Cash Flows, Statement of Changes in Equity and accompanying notes, presents fairly
the financial transactions during the year ended 2011 and financial position of the Board at 30 June 2011.
(c) At the time of signing, we are not aware of any circumstance which would render any particulars included in the financial
statements to be misleading or inaccurate.
Dated at Melbourne this 25th day of August 2011.

Signed by the President

Signed by the CEO

Signed by the Chairperson

FRANK KING
President
ESSSuper

MARK PULI
Acting Chief Executive Officer
ESSSuper

MICHAEL STEPHENSON
Chairperson
Audit, Risk Management
& Finance Committee
ESSSuper
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Disclosure index

Ministerial Directions
FRD 22B- Standard Disclosures in the Report of Operations
Page reference
Reference

Requirement

The Scheme

The Board

General information
FRD 22B

Manner of Establishment of the entity and relevant Minister.

FRD 22B

Objectives, functions , powers and duties of the entity.

FRD 22B

Nature and range of services provided.

FRD 22B

Organisational Structure, including members of the Board, Audit Committee, CEO,
senior officers and their responsibilities.

FRD 22B
FRD 22B

Workforce data for the current and previous period, including a statement on the
application of employment and conduct principles.
Statement of Occupational Health and Safety matters, including performance details.

34, 61

34, 102

47

35-37, 89

4-10

4-10

34-37

34-37

APPENDIX A

APPENDIX A

-

39

Financial information
FRD 22B

Summary of financial results, with comparatives for the preceding four periods.

42

-

FRD 22B

Summary of significant changes in financial position.

42

-

FRD 22B

Summary of operational and budgetary objectives, including performance against
the objectives and significant achievements.

45

86

Events occurring after balance date that may significantly effect subsequent
period’s operations.

77

106

FRD 22B
FRD 22B

Details of consultancies over $100,000.

-

39

FRD 22B

Details of consultancies under $100,000.

-

39

FRD 22B

Significant factors affecting the entity’s performance.

11

11

Other relevant information
FRD 22B

Application and operation of the Freedom of Information Act 1982.

39

39

FRD 22B

Statement on compliance with building and maintenance provisions of the Building Act 1993.

39

39

FRD 22B

Application and operation of the Whistleblowers Protection Act 2001 (the Act) and
disclosures required by the Act.

38

38

Statement on implementation and compliance with the National Competition Policy
(including compliance with the requirement of the policy statement Competitive
Neutrality Policy Victoria, and any subsequent reforms).

39

39

FRD 22B

Summary of an entity’s environmental performance.

31

31

FRD 14

List of funds managed, a statement specifying which members are covered by each
fund, the types of benefits provided and the basis of employer funding.

4-10

-

Terms and conditions of membership for each fund managed, including any changes
during the period.

4-10

-

FRD 22B

FRD 14
FRD 14

Report on investment performance.

11-29

-

FRD 14

Actuarial Overview.

81-84

-

FRD 15B

Executive Officer Disclosures.

-

102-104

FRD 29

Workforce Data Disclosures.

APPENDIX A

APPENDIX A

FRD 30A

Standard requirements for the design and print of annual reports.

ANNUAL
REPORT

ANNUAL
REPORT
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Other information (including compliance with legislation)
Page reference
Reference

Requirement

FRD 10

Disclosure Index identifying compliance with statutory disclosure and other requirements.

FRD 24C

Reporting of Officer-based environmental data by Government entities.

FRD 29

Workforce Data Disclosures in the Report of Operations-Public Service Employees
(including Appendix A- Example tables and associated note illustrating requirements.

SD 4.5.5

Risk Management Compliance Attestation.

SD 4.2 (g)

General and financial information of operations not in financial statements.

SD 4.2 (j)

Report of Operations to be signed and dated by member of entity.

The Scheme

The Board

110-111

110-111

31

31

-

APPENDIX A

37

37

42-43

-

-

2-3

Financial Statements
Financial Statements required under Standing Direction 4.2 in Part 7 of the Financial Management Act 1994
Page reference
Reference

Requirement

SD 4.2(a)

Financial Statements prepared in accordance with relevant standards.

SD 4.2(b)

The Scheme

The Board

42-84

85-109

Statements of Financial Performance (Income Statement).

45

86

SD 4.2(b)

Statements of Financial Position (Balance Sheet).

44

85

SD 4.2(b)

Statement of Cash Flows.

46

87

SD 4.2(b)

Notes to the financial statements.

47-77

89-106

SD 4.2(c)

Accountable Officers declaration (Compliance with Australian Standards, Other
Mandatory Professional Reporting Requirements and Ministerial Directions).

78

107

SD 4.2(d)

Rounding amounts.

51

93

SD 4.2(e)

Financial Statement review and recommendation by Audit Committee.

35

35

Other disclosures as required by FRDs in the notes to the Financial Statements
FRD 03A

Accounting for Dividends.

49

-

FRD 21A

Responsible Person and Executive Officer Disclosures.

61

102

FRD 100

Financial Reporting Directions-Framework.

47

89

FRD 101

Compliance with Australian equivalents to International Financial Reporting Standards.

48

89

FRD 104

Foreign Currency-presentation and functional currency.

50

-

FRD 110

Cash Flow Statements.

46

87

FRD 114A

Financial Instruments-general Government entities and public non-financial corporations.

49

90

FRD 120E

Accounting pronouncements applicable to 2010-11 reporting period.

48

93
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Appendix A

FRD 29 “Workforce Data disclosures in the Report of Operations”
Fixed term
and casual

Ongoing employees
Number
(Headcount)

Full time
(Headcount)

Part time
(Headcount)

FTE

FTE

June 2010

138

112

26

127.8

10.6

June 2011

145

121

24

136.0

8.7

June 2010

June 2011
Fixed term
and casual

Ongoing

Fixed term
and casual

Ongoing

Number

FTE

FTE

Number

FTE

FTE

Male

67

65.8

4.1

75

66.9

4.5

Female

71

62.0

6.5

70

69.1

4.2

5

4.0

0.1

4

4.0

0.4

25-34

43

39.5

4.0

41

39.7

2.0

35-44

39

34.3

3.3

46

39.9

2.4

45-54

30

29.1

1.8

34

32.6

3.0

55-64

19

19.0

1.2

18

18.0

0.8

2

1.8

0.0

2

1.8

0.1

ESSB 1

41

36.2

3.1

43

38.8

2.4

ESSB 2

44

41.3

2.2

47

44.3

1.0

ESSB 3

31

29.6

4.4

30

29.5

4.4

ESSB 4

14

12.7

0.0

17

15.5

0.1

Other

0

0.0

0.8

0.0

0.0

0.8

Exec

8

8.0

0.0

8

7.8

0.0

Gender

Age
Under 25

Over 64
Classification

All figures reflect employment levels during the last full pay period of June of each year.
Excluded are those on leave without pay or absent on secondment.
Staff listed as ‘Other’ are those employed on longer term (non-executive) contracts.
Casual staff that worked during the month of June were given an FTE figure for the month.
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This Report has been prepared by the Emergency
Services Superannuation Board ABN 28 161 296 741,
the Trustee of the Emergency Services Superannuation
Scheme (ESSSuper). The information contained in this
Report is of a general nature and is not intended to be a
complete or definitive statement of all matters outlined
in it. The information should not in any way be construed
as investment or financial advice.
While every care has been taken to ensure that the
information contained in this Report is accurate, the
Board reserves the right to correct any error or omission
and does not accept responsibility for any person acting
on this information. Where there is a discrepancy between
the information contained in the Report and the Emergency
Services Superannuation Act 1986 (the Act) or governing
legislation, the Act and the governing legislation will prevail.
The Board recommends that you carefully read and assess
whether the information is appropriate for you and consider
obtaining independent taxation, legal, financial and other
professional advice before making any investment decisions.

Proudly serving our members
Level 16, 140 William Street
Melbourne VIC 3000
GPO Box 1974 Melbourne VIC 3001
T 1300 650 161 (emergency services members)
T 1300 655 476 (state super members)
F 1300 766 757
www.esssuper.com.au

This Annual Report is printed on Precision, an Australian-made paper.
Precision is PEFC Certified and made from elemental chlorine free
bleached pulp sourced from sustainably managed forests and non
controversial sources. It is manufactured by an ISO 14001 certified
mill using renewable energy sources.

